# Exploring Mechanisms of Intestinal Microbiota Transplantation on Prevention of Invasive Disease in Patients with Intestinal Colonisation of Multidrug-resistant Organisms

Rohma Ghani

Division of Digestive Diseases,

Department of Metabolism, Digestion and Reproduction

Imperial College London

2023

Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

### Statement of Originality:

I certify that this thesis, and the research to which it refers, are the product of my own work. Any ideas or quotations from the work of other people, published or otherwise, are fully acknowledged in accordance with the standard referencing practices of the discipline.

All clinical and laboratory work was carried out by me, except for what was explicitly described in the text.

- MiSeq Illumina Sequencing, which was carried out by Dr Nathan Danckert, Imperial College London.
- Complex modelling on metabonomic which was carried out by Dr Pantelis Takis and Dr Jesús Miguens Blanco, Imperial College London.
- Metagenomic sequencing were provided by Sanger Institute, Cambridge
- Clinical samples were processed by Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust.

Rohma Ghani

London

## **Copyright Declaration:**

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author. Unless otherwise indicated, its contents are licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial b4.0 International Licence (CC BY-NC). Under this licence, you may copy and redistribute the material in any medium or format. You may also create and distribute modified versions of the work. This is on the condition that: you credit the author and do not use it, or any derivative works, for a commercial purpose. When reusing or sharing this work, ensure you make the licence terms clear to others by naming the licence and linking to the licence text. Where a work has been

adapted, you should indicate that the work has been changed and describe those changes. Please seek permission from the copyright holder for uses of this work that are not included in this licence or permitted under UK Copyright Law.

#### Abstract

#### Background

The intestinal microbiome has an important function in the defence against infectious diseases. Intestinal colonisation with multidrug-resistant organisms (MDROs) is a risk factor for invasive disease which leads to higher morbidity than drug-sensitive infections. Intestinal Microbiota Transplantation (IMT) is a modality to restore the gut microbiome. We utilised IMT in MDRO colonised patients and observed both clinical outcomes and effect on microbiota diversity, gene expression, metabolites expression and markers of gut barrier function.

#### Methods

A retrospective study was performed to identify at risk groups and a literature review was performed to refine the IMT process for MDRO colonised patients. IMT was performed on patients with risk factors for invasive disease who had known intestinal MDRO colonisation and clinical outcomes were assessed 6 months pre- and post-IMT. Metataxonomic profiles were performed on these patient stool samples. Additional stool from donor, pre-and post-IMT samples underwent metagenomic and metabonomic testing.

#### Results

Renal transplant and pre-hematopoietic cell transplant patients were identified as the highest risk of developing invasive MDRO disease with a worse outcome profile. Guidelines for the use of IMT for MDRO colonised patients were constructed with careful consideration of administration and donor stool preparation. Post-IMT patients had fever bloodstream infections, shorter hospital admissions and reduced antibiotic usage. IMT increased intestinal microbiota alpha diversity and reduced the burden of *Enterococci* but not Gramnegative pathobionts. *Blautia producta* and *Coprococcus catus*, two commensal bacteria, increased post-IMT. The short-chain fatty acid, valerate was higher in concentration in stool in patients who did not develop invasive infection post-IMT. Serum levels of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-8, proinflammatory cytokines associated with gut barrier permeability both reduced post-IMT.

#### Conclusion

The microbiome may play a role in protection against infection, and manipulation of the composition may be a key facet of preventing infection in at risk groups.

### Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisors, Professor Julian Marchesi and Dr Frances Davies for their wisdom, endless support, guidance, kindness, and patience during my PhD study. It's been such a privilege to work with you both and to have you as role models during this time. I am so grateful for the opportunity I was given, and the staunch enthusiasm and humour that got me through this.

I could not have asked for a better colleague that Dr Benjamin Mullish in whom I have found a dear friend. He has been essential to the project and is generous with his time and knowledge and unwavering patience.

I'd also like to express my gratitude to Professor Mark Thursz, Professor Grahame Cooke and Dr Horace Williams for their support and advice.

Dr Julie Macdonald, Dr Nathan Danckert, Dr Roberta Forlano and Dr Jesús Miguens Blanco all contributed greatly to this project and did so with approachability, friendliness, and endless time for which I thank them. Dr Panetelis Takis and Dr Alex Yip were both a great help with this complicated data set!

Dr Giovanni Satta has been a brilliant mentor and always championed me when I doubted myself which was very needed.

In the lab, Ms Lauren Roberts, Dr Charlotte Skinner, Dr Grace Barker, Dr Holly Jenkins, and Dr Pinelopi Manousou provided endless laughter and top lab and lifestyle tips and invaluable gossip for which I'll always treasure.

At Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust, I had immense support from Dr Anan Ghazy, Mr Sid Mookerjee, Dr Richard Corbett, Dr Neill Duncan, Dr Andrew Innes and Dr Jiří Pavlů all of whom were invaluable to the project, and who's insights are reflected in this thesis.

I was very lucky to have two collaborators, Dr Jarosław Biliński (University of Warsaw) and Dr Naama Geva-Zatorsky (Technion - Israel Institute of Technology) that have been a pleasure to work with and who I hope to work with (and finally meet) in the future. My parents have been a tremendous support throughout with their time, food, and enthusiasm. They encouraged me to work hard and pursue my passions through example, and I have enjoyed sharing my journey with them.

Irfan, my husband, has supported and endured me throughout, and never had a moment where he did not put my achievements before his needs. I could not have completed this thesis without his sacrifices and encouragement.

I dedicate this thesis to my daughters, Alayna and Safie, who were both born over the course of this PhD. Although to say they were anything but a hindrance to its completion would be a lie, I hope the memories we will share with them of their mum writing and researching while continuing to try to be by their side will go down in family folklore that they can share when they are on their own journey.

## Table of Contents

Statement of	f Originality:	2
Copyright De	claration:	2
Abstract		4
Acknowledge	ements	6
List of acrony	yms	18
List of figures	S	25
List of tables		28
Chapter 1: In	troduction	30
1.1 Ant	imicrobial Resistance	30
1.1.1 E	pidemiology of multidrug-resistant organisms (MDROs)	30
1.1.2 E	conomic impact	30
1.1.3 A	etiopathogenesis of multidrug-resistant organisms	31
1.1.4 Pi	redictive scores	31
1.1.5 N	1echanisms of resistance	32
1.1.5.1	Extended-spectrum beta lactamase (ESBL) producing Enterobacterales	32
1.1.5.2	Carbapenem-resistant Enterobacterales (CPE)	33
1.1.5.3	Vancomycin-resistant enterococci (VRE)	35
1.1.6 Pr	revention of MDRO acquisition and transmission	35
1.1.6.1	Infection Control	35
1.1.6.2	Antimicrobial Stewardship	36
1.1.6.3	Intestinal decolonisation of MDROs	36
1.1.6.3.1	Selective digestive tract or oropharyngeal decontamination	37

1.1.6.3.	2 Probiotics	37
1.1.6.3.	3 Phage therapy	37
1.2 lı	ntestinal microbiota	38
1.2.1	The Resistome	38
1.2.2	Colonisation Resistance and gut barrier function	38
1.2.3	Commensals recognised to play a role in MDRO colonisation and invasive	
infectio	n	40
1.2.4	Impact of antibiotics on the intestinal microbiota	48
1.2.5	Vulnerable populations	48
1.2.5.1	Renal transplant patients	48
1.2.5.2	Haematology patients	49
1.2.6	Methods of evaluating gut microbiome functionality	50
1.2.6.1	Metataxonomics	51
1.2.6.2	Metagenomics	52
1.2.6.3	Metabolomics and Metabonomics	52
1.2.6.4	Immunological assessment of gut barrier function and permeability	53
1.3 lı	ntestinal Microbiota Transplantation (IMT)	54
1.3.1	Overview of IMT	54
1.3.2	Clostridioides difficile studies	54
1.3.3	Administration	55
1.3.3.1	Donor stool and screening	55
1.3.3.2	Route of administration of IMT	57
1.3.3.3	Safety issues and tolerability	58

	1.3.3.4	Terminology	58
	1.3.4	Use of IMT in MDRO colonized or infected patients	59
	1.3.4.1	IMT as a modality to decolonise the intestine from MDROs	59
	1.3.4.2	Prevention of invasive infection	66
	1.4 H	ypothesis and Objectives	71
	1.4.1	Hypothesis	71
	1.4.2	Objectives	71
С	hapter 2:	Epidemiology of MDRO colonised and infected patients	73
	2.1 Ir	ntroduction	73
	2.2 A	ims	73
	2.3 N	1ethods	73
	2.3.1	Clinical setting	73
	2.3.2	Microbiology sampling and antimicrobial susceptibility testing	73
	2.3.3	Definitions	74
	2.3.4	Analysis	74
	2.3.4.1	Prevalence of CPE colonised patients in hospital inpatients	74
	2.3.4.2	Impact of CPE bloodstream infections	74
	2.3.4.3	Clinical outcomes of CPE positive patients undergoing hematopoietic cell	
	transpla	nt.75	
	2.3.4.4	Prevalence of MDRO urinary tract infections	75
	2.3.4.5	Description of urology patients with MDRO positive urinary isolates	75
	2.4 R	esults	75
	2.4.1.1	Prevalence of CPE colonised patients in hospital inpatients	75

2.4.1	2 Impact of CPE bloodstream infections	76
2.4.1	3 Clinical outcomes of CPE positive patients undergoing hematopoi	etic cell
trans	plant (HCT)	78
2.4.1	4 Prevalence of MDRO urinary tract infections	80
2.4.1	5 Description of patients under the Urology services with MDRO po	sitive urinary
isolat	es 82	
2.5	Discussion	83
2.5.1	Prevalence of CPE colonisation and infection	83
2.5.2	Prevalence of ESBL recurrent urinary tract infections	85
2.5.3	Study limitations	85
2.5.4	Future directions	86
Chapter	3: Development and adaptation of IMT Programme to target MDRO co	olonised
patients	5	87
3.1	Introduction	87
3.2	Aims	87
3.3	Methods	87
3.4	Results	88
3.4.1	Screening of donor stool	88
3.4.2	Choice of MDRO colonised recipient	89
3.4.3	Delivery and timing of IMT	90
3.4.4	Selective digestive decontamination with antibiotics	91
3.4.5	Measurable outcomes following IMT	91
3.5	Discussion	92
Chapter	4: Clinical outcomes of MDRO colonised patients undergoing IMT	93
		11

4.1	Introduction	93
4.2	Aims	94
4.3	Methods	94
4.3.1	Clinical Setting	94
4.3.2	Ethics	94
4.3.3	Definitions	94
4.3.4	Patient selection	95
4.3.5	Donor Selection and IMT Administration	95
4.3.6	Comparator Groups	96
4.3.6.	1 Comparator Group 1a/Haematology	97
4.3.6.2	2 Comparator Group 1b/HCT	97
4.3.6.3	3 Matched pair analysis of Haematology patients.	97
4.3.6.4	4 Comparator Group 2a/Recurrent UTIs	98
4.3.7	Outcome Metrics and Statistics	99
4.3.8	Statistical methods	99
4.4	Results	100
4.4.1	Baseline characteristics of Group 1 and Group 2 IMT recipients:	100
4.4.1.	1 Colonising MDRO of all IMT recipients (Group 1/Haematology and Gr	oup
2/Rec	urrent UTIs)	100
4.4.1.	2 Group 1/ Haematology Group Baseline Characteristics	102
4.4.1.3	3 Group 2/ Recurrent UTIs Baseline Characteristics	102
4.4.1.	3.1 Comparator arm Baseline Characteristics	103
4.4.1.	3.2 Comparison of Group 1b/HCT comparator group baseline characte	ristics.103

4.4.1.3	3 Comparison of baseline characteristics for the matched pair group analysis
of HCT	patients106
4.4.2	Clinical outcomes for Group 1/Haematology and Group 2/Recurrent UTIs (Both
IMT gro	oups)111
4.4.2.1	Group1/Haematology Clinical Outcomes112
4.4.2.2	Group2/Recurrent UTI Clinical Outcome116
4.4.2.3	Bloodstream infections119
4.4.2.4	Length of stay119
4.4.2.5	Antibiotic usage119
4.4.2.6	MDRO decolonisation119
4.4.3	Clinical outcomes for IMT patients versus comparator arms120
4.4.4	Clinical outcomes for Group 1/Haematology patients versus comparator groups
	121
4.4.4.1	Clinical outcomes for Group 1/Haematology patients compared with Group
1a/Hae	matology comparator group121
4.4.4.2	Clinical outcomes for Group1/HCT compared with Group 1b/HCT comparator
group.	122
4.4.4.3	Matched Pair Analysis Studies of Group1/HCT patients124
4.4.5	Group 2/ Recurrent UTI patient125
4.5 [	Discussion
4.5.1	Main findings126
4.5.2	Limitations
Chapter 5	: Analysis of the metataxonomic and metagenomic profile of the gut microbiota
pre and p	ost Intestinal Microbiota Transplantation129

5.1 Intro	duction	129
5.2 Samj	ple collection	129
5.2.1.1	Initial data set (United Kingdom)	129
5.2.1.2	Israeli data set	130
5.2.1.3	Polish data set	130
5.2.1.4	Clinical and demographic characteristics of entire sample cohort	130
5.2.2 M	etataxonomics Methods	135
5.2.2.1	Microbial DNA extraction and quantification	135
5.2.2.2	16S rRNA gene sequencing	136
5.2.2.2.1	16S rRNA gene sequencing data processing	137
5.2.3 M	etagenomics Methods	139
5.3 Resu	lts	140
5.3.1.1	Metataxonomic gut ecosystem indices results	140
5.3.1.1.1	Alpha diversity in all samples	140
5.3.1.2	Alpha diversity in matched paired samples	142
5.3.1.3	Beta Diversity	143
5.3.1.4	Comparison of relative abundances of the stool metataxonomic profiles	
between do	onors, pre-IMT and post-IMT samples	144
5.3.2 M	etagenomics Results	146
5.3.2.1	Metagenomic analysis of commensal bacteria	146
5.3.2.2	Metagenomic analysis of pathobionts	148
5.3.2.3	Metagenomic analysis of Antimicrobial resistance genes	149
5.4 Discu	ussion	150

	5.4.1 N	Aetataxonomics	150
	5.4.2 N	Aetagenomics	151
	5.4.3 L	imitations	152
6	Chapter	<sup>r</sup> 6 Analysis of the functionality of the gut microbiota via metabolomi	c studies
а	nd immunc	blogical assays	154
	6.1 Intr	roduction	154
	6.2 Aim	ns	154
	6.3 Eth	ics	154
	6.4 Me	thods	155
	6.4.1 S	ample collection	155
	6.4.1.1	Initial data set (United Kingdom)	155
	6.4.1.2	Israeli data set	155
	6.4.1.3	Polish data set	156
	6.4.2 N	Aetabolomic studies	156
	6.4.2.1	Sample preparation for Metabolomic studies	156
	6.4.2.2	<sup>1</sup> H-NMR spectroscopy	156
	6.4.2.3	Statistical analysis	158
	6.4.3 N	Methods for Immunological analysis of serum	159
	6.4.3.1	Sample collection	159
	6.4.3.2	Measurement of serum FABP-2	160
	6.4.3.3	Measurement of serum cytokines	160
	6.4.3.4	Statistical analysis	161
	6.5 Res	sults	161

	6.5.1	Metabolomic studies	161
	6.5.1.1	Comparison of selected faecal metabolites in post-IMT faecal samples	
	betwee	n patients who developed culture positive infection versus those who did not	162
	6.5.1.2	Comparison of selected faecal metabolites in pre-IMT faecal samples betw	ween
	patients	s who developed culture positive infection versus those who did not	163
	6.5.1.3	Reduction in invasive infection	164
	6.5.2	Immunological assay results	165
	6.5.2.1	FABP-2 levels pre and post IMT	165
	6.5.2.2	Serum cytokine levels pre and post IMT	165
	6.6 D	Discussion	167
	6.6.1	Metabolomic studies	167
	6.6.2	Makers of gut barrier function	168
	6.6.3	Limitations	169
	6.6.4	Future Directions	169
С	hapter 7:	: Conclusion	170
	7.1 Sum	nmary and key findings	170
	7.2 Clini	ical implications of this project and future directions	170
A	bstracts a	and Publications Arising from this Thesis.	172
	Journal	articles	172
	Confere	ence Papers	173
	Confere	ence Presentations	174
	Book Ch	nanter	
<b>P</b>	iblicant	h.,	
В	innograp	Пу	1/p

Appendices	215
Appendix 1: Permissions Table	215
Appendix 2: IMT stool donor selection for rCDI	216
Appendix 3: Preparation and administration of IMT	217
Preparation of donor faecal material	217
Preparation of the IMT	218
Administration of IMT	218

## List of acronyms

ALL	Acute lymphocytic leukemia
AML	Acute myeloid leukemia
AMP	Antimicrobial peptide
AMR	Antimicrobial resistance
AMS	Antimicrobial stewardship
ARG	Antibiotic resistance gene
АТР	Adenosine triphosphate
BC	Blood culture
BMI	Body Mass Index
BRAKEN	Bayesian Reestimation of Abundance with KrakEN software
BRAKEN BSI	Bayesian Reestimation of Abundance with KrakEN software Bloodstream Infection
BRAKEN BSI CARD	Bayesian Reestimation of Abundance with KrakEN software Bloodstream Infection Comprehensive Antibiotic Resistance Database
BRAKEN BSI CARD CDC	Bayesian Reestimation of Abundance with KrakEN software Bloodstream Infection Comprehensive Antibiotic Resistance Database Centers for Disease Control
BRAKEN BSI CARD CDC CDI	Bayesian Reestimation of Abundance with KrakEN software Bloodstream Infection Comprehensive Antibiotic Resistance Database Centers for Disease Control Clostridioides difficile infection
BRAKEN BSI CARD CDC CDI CFU	Bayesian Reestimation of Abundance with KrakEN software Bloodstream Infection Comprehensive Antibiotic Resistance Database Centers for Disease Control Clostridioides difficile infection
BRAKEN BSI CARD CDC CDI CFU CML	Bayesian Reestimation of Abundance with KrakEN software Bloodstream Infection Comprehensive Antibiotic Resistance Database Centers for Disease Control Clostridioides difficile infection Colony-forming unit
BRAKEN BSI CARD CDC CDI CFU CML	Bayesian Reestimation of Abundance with KrakEN softwareBloodstream InfectionComprehensive Antibiotic Resistance DatabaseCenters for Disease ControlClostridioides difficile infectionColony-forming unitChronic myeloid leukemiaCytomegalovirus

CPMG	Carr–Purcell Meiboom–Gill
CRE	Carbapenem resistant Enterobacteriaceae
CTX-M	Cefotaximase-Munich
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
EBMT	European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation
EBNA	Epstein Barr Virus Nuclear Antigen
EBV	Epstein-Barr Virus
EDTA	Ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunoassay
ESBL	Extended Spectrum Beta-Lactamase
ESKAPE	Enterococcus faecium, Staphylococcus aureus, Klebsiella pneumoniae, Acinetobacter baumannii, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, and Enterobacter species
FABP	Fatty Acid-Binding Protein
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
FDR	False Discovery Rate
FMT	Faecal Microbiota Transplantation
GES	Guiana extended-spectrum β-lactamase
GI	Gastro-intestinal
GNB	Gran-neagtive bacilli

GPR	Gram-negative	rods
GPR	Gram-negative	rod

- HCT Haematopoietic Cell Transplantation
- HIV Human Immunodeficiency Virus
- HPLC high performance liquid chromatography
- HSCT Haematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation
- IBD Inflammatory Bowel Disease
- IBS Irritable bowel syndrome
- ICHNT Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust
- ICU Intensive care unit
- ID Infectious diseases
- lg Immunoglobulin
- IL Interleukin
- IMI Imipenem-hydrolysing Carbapenemase
- IMP Imipenemase
- IMT Intestinal Microbiota Transplantation
- INF Interferon
- IQR Inter-quartile range
- IV intravenous
- KPC Klebsiella pneumoniae carbapenemase

KPS	Karnofsky Performance Status
LLOD	lower limit of detection
LoS	Length of stay
MAMP	Microbial-associated molecular patterns
MBL	Metallo-betalactamases
MDR	multidrug-resistant
MDRO	Multidrug-resistant Organism
MDS	Myelodysplastic syndrome
MGE	mobile genetic elements
MRSA	Methicillin Resistant Staphylococcus aureus
NDM	New Delhi metallo-beta-lactamase
NG	Naso-gastric
NHS	National Health service
NJ	Naso-jejunal
NMC	non-metalloenzyme carbapenemase
NMDS	Non-metric multidimensional scaling
NMR	Nuclear Magnetic Resonance
ΟΡΑΤ	Outpatient parenteral antibiotic therapy
OR	Odds ratio

ΟΤυ	Operational taxonomic unit
OXA	Oxacillin-hydrolysing
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
PD	Peritoneal dialysis
PE	Pulmonary embolism
PEG	Percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy
РК	Pharmacokinetics
PPI	Proton pump inhibitor
QR	Quartile range
rCDI	Recurrent Clostridiodes difficile infection
rUTI	Recurrent urinary tract infection
RCT	Randomised Control Trial
RNA	Ribonucleic Acid
SARS	Severe acute respiratory syndrome
SCFA	Short-chain Fatty Acid
SCT	Stem cell transplant
SD	Standard deviation
SDD	Selective Digestive Tract Decontamination

SHV	Sulfhydryl variant
SMolESY	Small Molecule Enhancement Spectroscopy
SOD	Selective Oropharyngeal Decontamination
SOP	Standard operation procedure
SOT	Solid organ transplantation
sp	Species
STAMP	Statistical Analysis of Metagenomic Profiles
STEC	Shiga Toxin-producing Escherichia coli
ТВ	Tuberculosis
TEM	Temorina Escherichia coli mutant
TJ	Tight junctions
TNF	Tumour Necrosis Factor
UK	United Kingdom
USA	United States of America
USD	US dollars
UTI	Urinary Tract Infection
VCA	Viral capsid antigen
VIM	Verona integron-mediated metallo-β-lactamase
VL	Viral load

VRE Verona integron-mediated metallo-β-lactamase

WHO World Health Organisation

## List of figures

Figure 1: Classification of $\beta$ -lactamases. Image reproduced with permission of the rights
holder(36)
Figure 2: Schematic representation of the impact of recurrent UTIs on renal transplants 49
Figure 3 Impact on the intestinal microbiota in haematological disease50
Figure 4: A schematic model for omics approaches to study the gut microbiome. Image
reproduced with permission of the rights holder, Springer(144)53
Figure 5: Aim of IMT to stop progression of intestinal pathobionts to invasive disease71
Figure 6: Flow chart of aims of the study to explore outcomes and mechanisms of IMT on MDRO colonised patients72
Figure 7: Pie chart displaying origin of CPE positive isolates identified on rectal screening of
inpatients at Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust between 2008 and 201876
Figure 8: Kaplan-Meier 30-day mortality of patients with a CPE bacteraemia compared with
those with a blood stream infection caused by a Gram-negative bacteraemia with no
ESBL/AMPC/CPE mechanism identified77
Figure 9: Comparison of length of hospital admission (days) post detection of bacteraemia
between those with a CPE bacteraemia and those with a bacteraemia caused by a Gram-
negative organism with no ESBL/AMPC/CPE mechanism identified77
Figure 10: Comparison in the Percentage change in creatinine at day 14 between those with
a CPE bacteraemia and those with a bacteraemia caused by a Gram-negative organism with
no ESBL/AMPC/CPE mechanism identified, excluding those who underwent renal
replacement therapy78
Figure 11: Comparison of duration of antibiotic length between CPE colonised HCT patients
compared with HCT patients with negative rectal screening for CPE79

Figure 12: Comparison of length of stay (measured in days) between CPE colonised HCT
patients compared with HCT patients with negative rectal screening for CPE80
Figure 13: CONSORT diagram of case-cohort analysis of Group1/HCT patients pre and post
IMT
Figure 14: Ladder plots demonstrating clinical outcomes for patients pre and post IMT120
Figure 15: MDRO colonised comparator group (no IMT): outcomes compared between the
first and second 6 months from the first identified MDRO121
Figure 16: Kaplan-Meier curve of overall survival in MDRO-colonised HCT patients who
underwent IMT (n=8) and those who did not (n=11)122
Figure 17: Comparison of days of fever in MDRO colonised HCT patients who underwent IMT
(IMT/MDRO) vs those who did not (No IMT/MDRO)123
Figure 18: Kaplan-Meier curve of overall survival in patients colonised with MDROs in
comparison to matched controls who were not colonised124
Figure 19: Kaplan-Meier curve of overall survival in patients colonised with MDROs who
underwent IMT in comparison to matched controls who were not MDRO colonised125
Figure 20: Number of MDRO UTIS 6 months pre- and post-IMT in Group 2 patients126
Figure 21: Box plots comparing the selected alpha diversity indices in donor, pre-IMT and
post IMT stool141
Figure 22: Ladder plots comparing the effect of IMT on selected alpha diversity metric
indices
Figure 23: Beta diversity across donors, pre and post IMT143
Figure 24: Bar chart showing the metataxonomic relative abundance by family comparing
donors with pre- and post-IMT144
Figure 25: Bar chart showing the metataxonomic relative abundance by phyla comparing
donors with pre- and post-IMT145

Figure 26: Bar chart showing the metataxonomic relative abundance by genera comparing
donors with pre- and post-IMT145
Figure 27 Difference in level of the commensal bacteria, Coprococcus catus and Blautia
producta between pre and post IMT147
Figure 28: Effect of IMT on the level of Enterococcus faecium in the stool148
Figure 29: Comparison of shotgun metagenomic analysis of antimicrobial resistance genes in
paired stool samples pre- and post-IMT150
Figure 30: Linear mixed effect model for post-IMT samples comparing patients who did and
did not develop culture positive infection post-IMT162
Figure 31: Linear mixed effect model for stools pre- IMT samples comparing patients who
did and did not develop culture positive infection post-IMT163
Figure 32: Linear mixed effect model looking at change in number of infections pre and post
IMT164
Figure 33: Fatty acid binding protein 2 measurement in serum samples in eight patients pre
and post Intestinal Microbiota Transplantation165
Figure 34: Change in levels of serum TNF-a levels measured pre and post IMT expressed as
% change from baseline sample
Figure 35: Changes in serum IL-8 levels pre and post IMT expressed as % change from
baseline sample

## List of tables

Table 1: Literature of commensal bacteria involved in limiting (non-C. diff) intestinal
pathobiont colonisation and infection42
Table 2: Recommended IMT donor screening from Joint British Society of Gastroenterology
and Healthcare Infection Society guidelines56
Table 3: Literature to date on the use of IMT for MDRO decolonisation61
Table 4: Literature review of the use of IMT to prevent clinical infection in MDRO colonised
patients67
Table 5: Literature review of the use of IMT to prevent urinary tract infections in MDRO
colonised patients
Table 6: Demographics of CPE colonised HCT patients compared with controls.  79
Table 7: Recurrent ESBL UTIs versus recurrent non-ESBL UTIs  80
Table 8: Demographics of Urology patients with recurrent ESBL UTIs
Table 9: List of all cohorts of patients
Table 9: List of all cohorts of patients96Table 10: All IMT patients' underlying condition and associated MDRO
Table 9: List of all cohorts of patients
Table 9: List of all cohorts of patients
Table 9: List of all cohorts of patients
Table 9: List of all cohorts of patients96Table 10: All IMT patients' underlying condition and associated MDRO.100Table 11: Comparison of MDRO colonised patients who underwent an IMT followed by an105HCT with MDRO colonised patients who underwent HCT only.105Table 12: Demographics and further clinical details of MDRO-colonised HCT recipients and106
Table 9: List of all cohorts of patients
Table 9: List of all cohorts of patients
Table 9: List of all cohorts of patients
Table 9: List of all cohorts of patients
Table 9: List of all cohorts of patients

Table 16: Characteristics of entire patient cohort
Table 17:: Primers used for 16S rRNA gene sequencing on the Illumina MiSeq136
Table 18: Differences in commensal bacteria recognised to play a role in colonisation
resistance pre and post IMT146
Table 19: Paired t-test of known intestinal pathobionts pre and post IMT.  148
Table 20: Paired t-test of resistance genes expressed by Enterococcus spp. pre and post IMT.
Table 21: Paired t-test of Beta-lactamase resistance genes expressed pre and post IMT149
Table 22: Timepoints of serum taken from eight patients pre and post IMT from Polish
cohort159
Table 23: Concentrations of serum cytokines pre- and post-IMT167

### **Chapter 1: Introduction**

The aim of this introduction is to explain the interplay of antimicrobial resistance (AMR) within the intestinal microbiome and its impact on health. It will then go on to explain the potential utility of Intestinal Microbiota Transplantation (IMT) on patients colonised with multidrug-resistant organisms (MDROs) from a clinical and biological point of view and the gaps in knowledge that this project aims to address.

#### **1.1 Antimicrobial Resistance**

#### 1.1.1 Epidemiology of multidrug-resistant organisms (MDROs)

Antimicrobial resistance (AMR), the ability of microorganisms to counteract the action of antimicrobial agents, is a major global health threat which the World Health Organisation (WHO) has reported carries significant global economic and security implications(1). Multidrug-resistant organisms (MDROs) are defined as organisms with non-susceptibility to at least one antimicrobial in three or more classes, based on antibiotic susceptibility testing *in-vitro*(2). Drug resistance of the ESKAPE pathogens (*Enterococcus* spp., *Staphylococcus aureus, Klebsiella pneumoniae, Acinetobacter baumannii, Pseudomonas aeruginosa,* and *Escherichia coli*) are recognised to harbour the greatest impact on healthcare associated infections(3). Globally it was predicted in 2019 that there were an estimated 4.95 million death associated with bacterial AMR(4). In Europe, in 2015, 671,689 MDRO infections were recorded, with most being associated with health care settings (64%) and contributing to 33,110 attributable deaths. Deaths from carbapenem-resistant *Klebsiella pneumoniae* infections in particular were noted to increase from a factor increase of 6.16 between 2007 and 2015 (5).

#### 1.1.2 Economic impact

International surveillance of AMR infections does not exist to evaluate the global economic impact. In low to middle income countries, due to lower resources, there is a lack of high quality, patient-level microbiology data linked to clinical outcomes (6). In the United States alone, it is estimated that each year 2 million AMR infections accounts for an attributable

health care cost of over 4.7 billion USD (7). Similarly in Europe, each year, over 33,000 deaths and 874,000 disability-adjusted life years are ascribed to hospital and community acquired AMR which accounts for \$1.5 billion in indirect and direct costs (8). In one trust an outbreak of outbreak of carbapenemase-producing *Enterobacteriaceae* cost €1.1m over 10 months(9). By 2050 AMR is projected to result in 10 million deaths at cumulative a cost of 100 trillion USD (10).

#### 1.1.3 Aetiopathogenesis of multidrug-resistant organisms

MDRO intestinal colonisation is strongly associated with MDRO invasive infection such as bloodstream infections (BSIs)(11,12). MDROs that colonise the intestine can translocate across the intestinal barrier and cause invasive disease resulting in worse morbidity and mortality outcomes than drug-sensitive infections (13). These outcomes are due to the delay to commencing appropriate therapy (14), and the worse side effect profile and reduced efficacy of second line therapy (15). They often require combination therapy which adds to the cost and side effect profile (16). The progression from intestinal colonisation with MDROs to invasive disease is higher in patients with impaired immune function and prolonged hospitalisation, particularly intensive care, and previous exposure to broad-spectrum antibiotic use (17,18).

#### 1.1.4 Predictive scores

Predictive scores developed to identify patients most at risk from adverse events from CPE BSIs have identified the following characteristics as elevating CPE colonised patients more at risk of developing BSIs, which can help target which patients require early intervention.

- Gastrointestinal injury (19,20) including abdominal invasive procedures (21)
- Tigecycline use (19)
- Increased resistance to carbapenems (19)
- CPE intestinal colonisation (22–25)
- Severe neutropenia (20,23)
- Chemotherapy or radiotherapy (20,21)

- Admission to intensive care (21) as well as invasive mechanical ventilation within previous 30 days of onset of BSI (23)
- Number of additional colonisation sites (21)
- Prolonged hospitalisation (>10 days) (24)
- Previous antibiotics >7 days (24)
- Hypoalbuminemia (20)

#### 1.1.5 Mechanisms of resistance

Acquired multidrug resistance is caused by the interaction of various resistance mechanisms either from the acquisition of external mobile genetic elements (MGEs) such as plasmids or by spontaneous mutations (26). The mechanisms of resistance are generally categorised into either alteration of the antibiotic target site, modification or destruction of the antibiotic molecule or inhibition of antibiotic binding to the target site through elimination method (27). Resistance tends to spread in humans by clonal expansion of resistant species or the transfer inter- or intra-species of pre-formed resistance genes on mobile genetic elements such as transposons or plasmids (28). The density of patients likely to be colonised in healthcare settings increases the likelihood of plasmid transferral across patients and in these settings vulnerable populations are more likely to develop invasive infection (29). Studies demonstrate that colonization with an organism can independently predict development of a systemic infection (22–25). Commensal bacteria within the intestinal microbiota are also able to acquire antibiotic resistance genes (ARGs) and shield pathogens from the bactericidal effects of antibiotics(30), and potentially transfer back ARGs to sensitive pathobionts(31). In one study, following a seven-day treatment course with clindamycin, increased numbers of clindamycin-resistant *Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron* persisted for two years post-treatment. Discussion of significant resistance mechanisms of pathogens that colonise the human gastrointestinal tract is as follows.

#### 1.1.5.1 Extended-spectrum beta lactamase (ESBL) producing Enterobacterales.

Extended-spectrum  $\beta$ -lactamases (ESBLs) are the predominant cause of resistance in Gramnegative bacilli (GNB) against commonly used beta-lactam antibiotics such as penicillin and cephalosporins. They act by hydrolysing and inactivating the beta-lactam ring of antibiotics. They consist of three groups of enzymes: TEM (Temorina *Escherichia coli* mutant), SHV (Sulfhydryl variant), and CTX-M (Cefotaximase-Munich). ESBLs transfer between bacteria by horizontal transfer through plasmid transmission(32).

#### 1.1.5.2 Carbapenem-resistant Enterobacterales (CPE)

Carbapenemases are a group of beta-lactamases that enzymatically inactivate a large group of beta-lactam based drugs including carbapenems, the first line beta-lactam antibiotics for resistant organisms. Carbapenems are normally insensitive to the effects of  $\beta$ -lactamases because of the setting of the side chain in the trans position instead of the cis position(33). They are based on the Ambler classification system which classifies them according to their molecular structure, they are classified as A, B or D carbapenemases. Class A and D require serine at their active site, which Class B, known as the metallo-betalactamases (MBL) require zinc. (34). Class A carbapenemases include members of *Serratia marcescens* enzyme, imipenem-hydrolysing carbapenemase (IMI), NMDS

(NMC), Guiana extended-spectrum  $\beta$ -lactamase (GES) and *Klebsiella pneumoniae* carbapenemase (KPC) families. Class D carbapenemases consist of oxacillin-hydrolysing (OXA)-type  $\beta$ -lactamases. Class B carbapenemases include members of the imipenemase (IMP), Verona integron-mediated metallo- $\beta$ -lactamase (VIM), New Delhi metallo- $\beta$ -lactamase (NDM), São Paulo metallo- $\beta$ -lactamase, German imipenemase, Seoul imipenemase, Dutch imipenemase, Adelaide imipenemase, *Serratia* metallo- $\beta$ -lactamase, Tripoli metallo- $\beta$ -lactamase, and Florence imipenemase. (35).

Ambler molecular class	Bush-Jacoby group	Preferred substrate	Inhibited	Representative enzyme
A (serine penicillinases)	2a	Penicillins	+	PC1 from <i>S. aureus</i>
	2b	Penicillins, narrow-spectrum cephalosporins	+	TEM-1, TEM-2, SHV-1
	2be	Penicillins, narrow- spectrum and extended-spectrum cephalosporins	+	SHV-2 to SHV-6, TEM-3 to TEM-26, CTX-Ms, BEL-1, VEB-1, PER-1
	2br	Penicillins	-	TEM-30, SHV-72, SHV-19
	2c	Penicillins, carbenicillin	+	PSE-1
	2e	Extended-spectrum cephalosporins	+	FEC-1, CepA
	2f	Penicillins, cephalosporins, carbapenems	+/-	KPC-2, SME-1, NMC-A
B (MBLs)	3	Most $\beta$ -lactams including carbapenems	-	IMP-1, VIM-1. NDM-1, CcrA and BcII, CphA, L1
C (cephalosporinases)	1	Cephalosporins	-	AmpC, CMY-2, ACT-1
D (oxacillinases)	2	Penicillins, cloxacillin	+/-	OXA-1, OXA-10
	2de	Extended-spectrum cephalosporins	+/-	OXA-11, OXA-15
	2df	Carbapenems	+/-	OXA-23, OXA-48

Figure 1: Classification of 8-lactamases. Image reproduced with permission of the rights holder(36)

#### 1.1.5.3 Vancomycin-resistant enterococci (VRE)

*Enterococcus faecium* is an opportunistic Gram-positive organism that is associated with healthcare associated infections and has a low intrinsic susceptibility to a wide range of antimicrobials (37). It is also a gut commensal. There are six resistance phenotypes resulting in resistance to Vancomycin in *Enterococcus* (VanA, VanB, VanC, VanD, VanE, VanG), with vanA being the most prevalent worldwide. Resistance to Vancomycin results from a genetic change at the locus that encode peptidoglycan synthesis. At their terminal portion, D-Alanine-D-Alanine (D-Ala-D-Ala) switches to either D-Alanine-D-Lactate (D- Ala-D-Lac) (VanA, VanB and VanD) or D-Ala-D-Serine (VanC, VanE and VanG). This modification results in the prevention of action of vancomycin by reducing its binding affinity to peptidoglycan during synthesis (32). Treatment options for VRE infection are limited and antibiotics such as linezolid and tigecycline confer significant side effects.

#### 1.1.6 Prevention of MDRO acquisition and transmission

Although WHO have recommended the research in drug development for CPE as a priority, new drug development is expensive, slow, and vulnerable to the eventual evolution of resistance to newer antibiotics(38). Only 27 drugs are currently in development to tackle pathogens considered critical by WHO(39). Current strategies rely on the prevention of spread of MDROs across patients and MDRO decolonisation of the intestine.

#### 1.1.6.1 Infection Control

Infection control measures can help arrest the spread of the MDROs described. This involves a horizontal approach, implementing strict hand hygiene measures, care bundles and basic contact precautions to stop spread between healthcare workers(28). Surveillance of patients by detection of asymptomatic carriers by rectal screening for intestinal carriage of MDROs in patients in healthcare settings can help identify patients. Following identification of patients colonised with MDROs, a vertical strategy of active isolation and implementing augmentation of contact precautions can stop further spread (40). This approach works less well for organisms such as NDM-1 than VRE or MRSA as elements are more transferable across species(28).

#### 1.1.6.2 Antimicrobial Stewardship

Antibiotic misuse and overuse are recognised to proliferate the development of AMR (41) as well as increasing the risk of *Clostridioides difficile* infections and adverse drug reactions, and the impact on the gut microbiota (see page 48)(42). Reduction in use of broad-spectrum antibiotics can help decrease the selection pressure of intestinal colonisation of MDROs (43) An antimicrobial stewardship programme works to select the optimal dose, duration, and route of administration of antimicrobials. For such programmes to work requires a multidisciplinary team to work together to coordinate interventions such as utilising diagnostic tools like microbiology results to select the most appropriate antibiotic, which may not be possible to apply to every patient on antibiotics within a healthcare trust (44). Many programmes focus on narrowing the spectrum of activity of an antibiotic, but do not always consider the varying impact of antibiotics on disruption to the intestinal microbiota(28,45).

#### 1.1.6.3 Intestinal decolonisation of MDROs

Spontaneous decolonisation rates vary greatly in the literature, in part due to the heterogeneity of screening tests, but it is agreed that most people spontaneously decolonise at some point (46). One meta-analysis reported 35% of patients were still colonised at 12 months (47), and prolonged carriage is associated with use of antimicrobial drugs(48). However, intestinal decolonisation does persist during hospital admissions when the MDROs are most at risk of translocation and invasive disease as well as spread to other vulnerable individuals (49). Efforts have been made to actively target pathobionts that colonise the intestine to reduce the incidence of invasive infection and transmission to others.
#### 1.1.6.3.1 Selective digestive tract or oropharyngeal decontamination

Selective digestive tract decontamination (SDD) where topical antibiotics such as tobramycin and colistin are applied to the mouth and stomach, or selective oropharyngeal decontamination (SOD) where antibiotics are applied only in the mouth, both utilise poorly absorbed antimicrobials, sometimes in combination with systemic antimicrobials(50). These methods have mainly been used in intensive care settings and is not currently recommended due to insufficient available evidence and some literature reporting the contribution to selection pressure of MDROs (51).

#### 1.1.6.3.2 Probiotics

Probiotics are selected commensal bacteria that are believed to influence intestinal carriage of MDROs by a combination of competitive adherence and improvement of colonisation resistance (see below) (52). In humans, there have been several studies looking at decolonisation of intestinal MDROs using probiotics. In an early trial in 2007, Manley *et al.*, demonstrated significant eradication of VRE colonisation in patients treated with *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* GG in a randomised controlled trial of 23 patients (53). This has not been replicated in further studies including the use of stain cocktails (54). In the use of probiotics (*Lactobacillus bulgaris* and *Lactobacillus rhamnosus*) for Gram-negative colonisation, decolonisation rates have been similar to spontaneous decolonisation rates (55– 57). Recent reports have suggested clinically significant bacteraemia seen in Intensive Care patients and paediatric hematopoietic cell transplant patients following probiotic use (58,59).

#### 1.1.6.3.3 Phage therapy

Bacteriophages or phages are viruses that infect and replicate within bacteria. They are recognised as a component of the gut microbiota and are an attractive option as they are species specific, therefore likely to have low toxicity within the microbiome (60). They exist in either a lytic (virulent) or lysogenic (non-virulent) life cycle, which is dependent on a change in the host environment or external cues such as antibiotics (61). Their use in intestinal decolonisation of MDROs has been explored however to date, human studies demonstrating

a partial response to MDRO decolonisation, have also involved the use of antibiotics, rather than phage therapy alone (62,63). Beyond the lack of robust data, disadvantages include the manufacturing challenges, phages are targeted to single specific organisms unlike antibiotics, which may limit its utility in both infection and colonisation(64). The greatest limiting factor however include the inevitable evolution of bacteria to become resistant to the phage (65).

#### **1.2 Intestinal microbiota**

The human gut microbiota is composed of 10<sup>14</sup> bacteria. The intestinal bacterial community in healthy adults is approximately 90% dominated by *Firmicutes* and *Bacteroidetes* with smaller percentages of *Actinobacteria*, *Proteobacteria*, and *Verrucomicrobia* also present. Each individual person demonstrates a unique microbiota profile however a conserved set of gut bacteria, the core microbiota, is shared, suggesting that this plays a role in maintaining health (66). Although the exact ideal composition has not been qualified, metrics such as higher alpha-diversity (Shannon Index) have been associated with healthier phenotypes(67).

#### 1.2.1 The Resistome

The intestinal microbiome acts as a reservoir for antimicrobial resistant genes known as the resistome (68). Disruption by antibiotics increases the risk of colonisation with these MDROs by direct reduction of antibiotic-susceptible commensals(69). This loss of species diversity results in the consequent reduction in the role that these commensal bacteria play in mediating colonisation resistance and innate immune defences(70)

#### 1.2.2 Colonisation Resistance and gut barrier function

The intestinal microbiome has an important function in the defence against infectious diseases. This defensive system includes a consortium of phylogenetically diverse commensal microbes, including bacteria and other components. Colonisation resistance is the term used to describes the way in which the microbiome operates both directly and indirectly to prevent colonization and invasive infection from pathogens, as well as to provide immune regulation (71). Examples of direct actions by members of the intestinal microbiota community include.

Examples of direct actions by members of the intestinal microbiota community include.

- Direct competition from commensal bacteria with pathogens for resources and niches
- Secretion of antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) which have bacteriostatic or bactericidal activity against pathogens.
- Production of inhibitory compounds (72)

Examples of these inhibitory compounds include short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs) and bile acids. SCFAs are saturated aliphatic organic acids that consist of one to six carbons(73). Examples include formate, acetate, propionate, butyrate and valerate. They are by-products of bacterial fermentation from non-digestible carbohydrates and amino acids and can induce production of AMPs (74) and inhibit growth and fitness of pathogens, both directly and via routes including intracellular acidification (75). Bile acids are cholesterol derivatives with a steroid ring component. The primary bile acids (cholic acid and chenodeoxycholic acids) are synthesized by cholesterol oxidation the liver and are secreted via the bile duct into the intestine and are where they are deconjugated by bile salt hydrolases secreted by commensal bacterial of the gut microbiota into the secondary bile acids, deoxycholic acid and lithocholic acid(76,77). Their impact on maintaining the gut barrier function and colonisation resistance is far reaching and includes regulating lipid absorption, antimicrobial properties, activating host nuclear receptors and cell signalling pathways and intestinal barrier regulation(78).

Indirect mechanisms of colonization resistance include.

- Microbiome-mediated regulation of the integrity of the gut barrier function to present penetration/ translocation of potential pathogens, such as mucins which are glycoproteins which act to protect the gut barrier against inflammation and colitis, (79)
- Modulation of the innate and adaptive immune cells to enhance mucosal immunity is an important role of microbially-secreted metabolites and microbial-associated molecular patterns (MAMPs)(80–82).
- Pattern repetition receptors such as toll-like receptors maintain intestinal homeostasis with their interaction with commensal bacteria(83).

- SCFAs including butyrate have a role in providing an energy source for intestinal epithelial cells as well as influencing T helper cell responses and promoting gut barrier integrity (84).
- In the presence of commensal bacteria, dendritic cells selectively induce immunoglobulin A (IgA) which also has an important immune function in prevention against invasive disease(85).

In addition to this, certain enteric pathogens possess the virulence factors that can trigger intestinal inflammation which disrupt gut barrier function thereby translocating across and resulting in invasive disease(86). An example of this is *Salmonella* spp. which enacts a variety of mechanisms to modify the conditions of the microbiome to create a more aerobic environment in which it can expand. Examples of how it does this is by depleting butyrate-producing *Clostridia* and enacting a neutrophil burst to oxidise thiosulfate to tetrathionate, which acts as a respiratory electron acceptor so the pathogen can to outcompete commensals(86,87). Pathogens such as *C. difficile* are recognized to decrease the level of major intestinal mucin, *muc2*(88).

# 1.2.3 Commensals recognised to play a role in MDRO colonisation and invasive infection.

Commensal bacteria which reside within the gut microbiota play a crucial role in the mobilisation of colonisation resistance. *Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes, Bifidobacterium sp., Coprococcus, Clostridium, Roseburia, Faecalibacterium* are all recognised to produce SCFAs and *Bifidobacterium, Bacteroides, Clostridium, Lactobacillus, Enterobacter* spp have a role in the modification of bile acids by deconjugation through the secretion of bile salt hydrolases (89). Members of the *Bacteroidetes* produce Type VI secretion system (T6SS), which is a protein translocation complex that attacks bacterial cell walls (90,91). Indigenous *E. coli* compete with pathogenic *E. coli* 0157 for the amino acid proline (which it can exploit to promote growth)(92). *E. coli* Nissle 1917 can compete with *Shigella* and limit its ability to

cause invasive disease within the gut wall(93). *Bifidobacterium longum* has a function in restoring mucin production (94)

Table 1 describes significant bacteria described in the literature that have demonstrated to limit MDRO colonisation or infection.

Table 1: Literature of commensal bacteria involved in limiting (non-C. diff) intestinal pathobiont colonisation and infection.

Reference	Commensal	Type of study	Summary	
	Prevotella stercorea			
	Bacteroides			
	Bifidobacterium		Increased in liver transplant patients who were never colonised with an	
(95)	Faecalibacterium prausnitzii	Human	MDRO	
	Parabacteroides distasonis			
	Prevotella copri			
(96)	Bacteroidales	Human	Associated with absence of MDRO colonisation	
(97)	Akkermansia muciniphila	Human	Levels significantly greater in subjects who did not acquire an MDRO	
	Odoribacter laneus			
(00)	Bacteroides	Human	Decreased in critically ill patients colonised with CPE	
(90)	Barnesiella	Human	Decreased in critically ill patients colonised with CRE	

(99)	Bifidobacterium bifidum	Human	Significantly increased post-IMT in "responders"		
	Bacteroides				
(100)	Barnesiella	Human	Higher proportion in donor stool more likely to be associated with a response		
	Butyricimonas				
	Atopobiaceae	Human	Higher abundance in nursing home residents never colonised with an MDRO versus colonised		
(101)	Dorea				
	Lachnospiraceae ND3007				
(102)	Bacillales Family XI incertae sedis	Human	Lower risk of colonization by MDRO, infection, and death		
(102)	Prevotella spp				
(103)	Coprococcus	Human	Significantly more abundant in the microbiota of individuals not colonised with ESBL-E		

	Desulfovibrio				
	Oscillospira				
	Parabacteroides				
(104)	Prevotella massiliensis	Human	Higher abundance in healthy adults who were not colonised with an MDRO versus colonised		
	Pseudomonadaceae				
	Bacteroides dorei				
	Faecalibacterium prausnitzii	Human			
(105)	Bifidobacterium pseudocatenulatum		Associated with CPE negative stool samples		
(105)	Bifidobacterium bifidum				
	Colinsiella aerofaciens				
	Eubacterium rectale				

	Streptococcus salivarium				
(106)	Ruminococcaceae	Human	Associated with a decreased risk of intestinal Gram-negative domination		
(107)	Blautia producta	Human	Rectal colonization with VRE was inversely associated with B. producta		
(108)	Lactobacillus spp	Mice	lice Patients who did not colonise with an MDRO were more likely to colonised with this		
	Blautia producta				
	Hungatella hathewayi		Prevented colonisation and had antimicrobial activity against <i>Listeria</i> monocytogenes		
(109)	Thomasclavelia ramosa	- Mice			
	Thomasclavelia saccharogumia				
(110)	Blautia producta				
(110)	Clostridium bolteae	Mice	Cleared VRE colonisation		
(111)	Ruminococcus gnavus E1	Mice	Clostridium perfringens was eliminated from the digestive tract		

(112)	Lactobacillus paracasei CNCM I-3689	Mice	Significantly decreased VRE burden in the faeces	
(113)	Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron	Mice	Repressed Shiga toxin 2 mRNA expression (virulence factor in <i>E. coli</i> O157:H7)	
(114)	Ruminococcus obeum Mice		Restricted Vibrio cholerae colonisation	
(115)	Lactobacillus spp	Mice	Controlled <i>E. coli</i> multiplication in small intestine and stomach	
(116)	Blautia producta BP <sub>SCSK</sub> М		Inhibited colonisation of VRE in intestine	
(117)	Lactobacillus HT121	Mice	Administration reduced intestinal VRE burden	
	Lactobacillus Y74			
(02)	E. coli HS	Miss	Browented colonisation with E. coli 0157:47	
(93)	E. coli Nissle 1917	IVICE		
(118)	Bifidobacterium animalis subsp. lactis	Mice	Reduced the faecal number of <i>Salmonella</i> in gnotobiotic mice	
(119)	Klebsiella oxytoca	Mice	Inhibited intestinal Klebsiella pneumoniae colonisation	

(120)	Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron	Mice	When administered to mice they were less likely be colonised with VRE		
(121)	Barnesiella Mice		Reconstitution with Barnsiella correlates with VRE elimination		
	Bifidobacterium animalis	In vitro			
(122)	Bifidobacterium bifidum		Antimicrobial activity against <i>Staphylococcus aureus, E. coli</i> and <i>Pseudomonas aeruginosa</i>		
	Lactobacillus casei				

# 1.2.4 Impact of antibiotics on the intestinal microbiota

Decreased gut microbiota variability from the action of antibiotics, particularly those active against anaerobes, can decrease colonsization resistance and enable colonisation of pathogenic MDROs (123). The impact of antibiotics depends on the spectrum of activity, dose, duration, pharmacodynamics, and pharmacogenetics of the agent(124). A seven-day course of clindamycin was noted to have resulted in significant disturbances to the intestinal microbiota that persisted over two years(125). Disruption to the microbiota by antibiotics reduces butyrate producing commensals(124). Butyrate serves as the main energy source for colonocytes, the ATP required to generate an osmotic gradient across the colonocyte comes from the oxidation of butyrate to CO<sub>2</sub>. Depletion of butyrate can lead to increased oxygenation of the epithelium. This facilitates the expansion of aerobic bacteria such as *Salmonella* (87).

Besides the reduction of commensal bacteria that produce functional metabolites, antibiotics can also interfere with immune defences such as reduction of IL-17, INF- $\gamma$  and Treg cells post exposure(126). They also act to thin the mucus barrier allowing increased susceptibility to bacterial invasion(127) Intestinal dominance of *Enterococcus* spp. has been noted to have a direct correlation with mortality in intensive care patients (128) and BSIs in haematology patients (129).

#### 1.2.5 Vulnerable populations

Disruption to the intestinal microbiota is recognised to more adversely affect vulnerable populations who are more likely to have had previous exposure to hospitals, had previous antibiotic use and invasive procedures. The following are specific populations adversely affected by MDROs colonisation and risk of invasive infection.

#### 1.2.5.1 Renal transplant patients

Although renal transplantation is the definitive treatment for patients with end-stage renal failure, the treatment course necessitates immunosuppressants and antibiotics which adversely impact the diversity of the gut microbiota (130). Underlying disease processes also

impact on diversity (131). Lee *et al.*, noted that intestinal microbial diversity was significantly altered post kidney transplant (132). Use of proton pump inhibitors, mycophenolate mofetil and a low glomerular filtration rate (a marker of reduced kidney function) were noted to be independent determinants of the lower diversity in transplant patients, who were noted to have a significantly higher abundance of *E. coli* in the intestine and lower abundance of *Bifidobacterium*, a commensal recognised to produce butyrate (133). Abundance of these intestinal pathogens is a risk factor for development of UTI and subsequent related UTIs (134). Recurrent urinary tract infections in renal transplant patients are more likely to be caused by MDROs and are associated with poor graft function of the transplanted kidney and poorer patient outcomes (135,136).



Figure 2: Schematic representation of the impact of recurrent UTIs on renal transplants.

#### 1.2.5.2 Haematology patients

An allogeneic haematopoietic stem cell transplant (allo-HCT) is a well-established potentially curative treatment for many haematological, oncological, metabolic and immunology conditions (137). Conditioning treatments prior to the transplant induce a mucositis and a

neutropenia which increase the risk of translocations and resultant invasive infections arising from pathobionts colonising the intestine (138). Prophylactic antibiotic regimens prior to the transplant are recognised to lower intestinal microbial diversity (139) and intestinal domination of VRE is seen in patients treated with vancomycin, which precludes VRE BSIs post allo-HCT (129). A decrease in diversity is seen in patients post allo-HCT (140), and patients with higher diversity are associated with lower mortality (141). Biliński *et al* demonstrated that colonisation with MDROs resulted in lower survival rates post allo-HCT and increased with incidence of systemic infection (142). 30-day mortality rates for patients with haematological malignancies or post-allo-HCT range from 50% to 72.7% (24).



Figure 3 Impact on the intestinal microbiota in haematological disease.

### 1.2.6 Methods of evaluating gut microbiome functionality

To explore gut microbiome signatures, the mainstay of studies has explored looking at the taxonomic and functional profiling of the microbiome in collected faecal samples, the main

advantage being that it is non-invasive and can be collected at home. Until recently investigation of the gut microbiota was through culture-based techniques, however only a minority of commensal bacteria can be isolated by standard culture methods, but this has recently improved (143). There is also the added disadvantage of being labour-intensive and time-consuming considering the need for selective media and the correct, specific culture environments. The use of next-generation microbial sequencing technologies, developed over the last two decade as a high-throughput, comprehensive method has revolutionised the means of defining the composition and functionality of the intestinal microbiota.

#### 1.2.6.1 Metataxonomics

Metataxonomics uses 16S rRNA gene amplification and sequencing of certain variable regions of the 16S rRNA gene present bacterial genomes to make community wide taxonomic classifications and demonstrate phylogenetic relationships between sequences(144,145). Alpha diversity is a metric used to describe the mean diversity of species in different sites or habitats within a local scale. Some commonly alpha diversity indices used include.

- Chao1: an estimator based on abundance of individual samples belonging to a certain class (richness).
- Shannon: an estimator for both species' richness and evenness. (Total number of bacterial taxa observed, S<sub>obs</sub>)
- Inverse Simpson: a measure of diversity which considers the number of species present, as well as the relative abundance of each species.
- Faith PD: measurement of phylogenetic diversity, in particular the sum of branch lengths between the observed species on a phylogenetic tree.
- Rao's quadratic entropy: the proportion of the abundance of species present in a community and some measure of dissimilarity among them.

Beta diversity assesses inter-sample microbial community differences. To quantify the dissimilarities between samples, typically Bray-Curtis dissimilarity for compositional data, and UniFrac distances are used(146).

One issue with metataxonomics is that two organisms with the same 16S rRNA gene sequence might be classified as the same strain e.g., *E. coli* O157 and *E. coli* Nissle 1917, and provides limited information on function.

### 1.2.6.2 Metagenomics

Metagenomics uses shotgun sequencing of total DNA to assign taxonomy and microbial diversity classification allows us to catalogue the genetic makeup of the bacteria and can achieve strain level discrimination(147). It is also able to shed light on the viral ecology of the gut unlike metataxonomics.

#### 1.2.6.3 Metabolomics and Metabonomics

Metabolomics is the quantitative descriptions of the low-molecular weight components (<1kDa) of endogenous metabolites (148). Metabonomics refers to the generation of a complex metabolite profiles when one or more tissue has contributed to the metabolite pool. This is conventionally performed using nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy (for global metabolic profiling) and liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry to target a particular metabolite or a set of metabolites (i.e., liquid chromatography for bile acid profiling and gas chromatography for volatile compounds such as SCFAs)(149).

Other methods utilised are metatransciptomics where complementary DNA (cDNA) is synthesised and sequenced from transcribed microbial genes (mRNA), although this has less utility in intestinal tissue as there is much more host than microbial RNA(145) and most of the bacterial RNA is rRNA and not mRNA (145). Metaproteomics uses liquid-chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry for peptide identification to characterise the entire protein complement of a sample at a given point in time(149).

Utilising a "multi-omics" approach where metagenomics, metataxonomics and metabolomics are combined can give an oversight of the metabolic activity of microbial genomes including expressed proteins and produced metabolites and its impact on the host. (150)



*Figure 4: A schematic model for omics approaches to study the gut microbiome. Image reproduced with permission of the rights holder, Springer*(144).

#### 1.2.6.4 Immunological assessment of gut barrier function and permeability

The gastro-intestinal mucosa is a semi-permeable barrier with multiple properties. The term gut barrier function refers both to the permeability of the gut which allows solute and fluid exchange between the lumen and tissues (such as absorption of nutrients) and the ability of the mucosa and extracellular barrier components, e.g., mucus, to prevent this exchange(151). Gut barrier function is recognised to be disrupted by antibiotics and immunocompromised patients, and a disrupted gut barrier increases in gut permeability allowing the translocation of MDROs into the bloodstream (152). Intestinal fatty acid-binding protein-2 (FABP2) may be used as an estimation of gut permeability. Fatty acid-binding proteins are small cytosolic proteins which transport fatty acids and include several

isotypes which are expressed in different tissues, such as heart, liver, intestine, muscle, and adipocyte. Intestinal FABP (i-FABP or FABP-2) is uniquely located in mature small-intestinal enterocytes. When damage to the intestinal mucosa occur, the intestinal villi can facilitate its leakage into the circulation and may be detected in plasma or urine because of intestinal ischaemia(153). A pro-inflammatory gut environment may also lead to an increased intestinal permeability and susceptibility to invasive pathogens (154). Dynamic measurements of cytokines such as IL-1, TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  in the stool and serum which are increased in pro-inflammatory states may reflect the relative permeability of the gut.

#### **1.3 Intestinal Microbiota Transplantation (IMT)**

#### 1.3.1 Overview of IMT

Intestinal Microbiota Transplantation (IMT) (also known as faecal microbiota transplantation or IMT) is the transfer of screened healthy donor stool to a recipient's gastrointestinal tract. The aim is to restore an affected intestinal microbiome to its premorbid microbiome composition and function, as well as aiding recovery of host-microbiome interactions.

#### 1.3.2 *Clostridioides difficile* studies

*Clostridioides difficile* is a spore forming anaerobic Gram-positive bacillus. It is recognised as a leading cause of antibiotic associated diarrhoea (155), and recurrent *C. difficile* infection (rCDI) carries a significantly higher mortality than a single occurrence due to progressive loss of microbial diversity(156,157). *C. difficile* spreads via the faeco-oral route, most likely as spores, and causes disease by producing two protein exotoxins (toxin A and toxin B), which are cytotoxic to colonic epithelial cells (158). Disease occurs when *C. difficile* spores germinate into their active vegetative state, and this is accelerated by antibiotic use creating a metabolic environment that encourages this transition (159). Two early randomised trials demonstrated that there was a significantly improved response of IMT versus vancomycin therapy (160,161), and further studies demonstrated a benefit of IMT over fidaxomicin (162). The first trial in fact was stopped early after an interim analysis revealed that 81% of patients in the IMT arm recovered compared with 31% in the arm that received vancomycin alone (160). Due to the

success of this application, many studies have investigated the mechanisms of IMT related to rCDI and although there are likely to be several contributory methods, including the restoration of short-chain fatty acids such as valerate directly preventing the growth of *C. difficile* (75) and bile salt hydrolase restitution which deconjugates primary bile acids and inhibits vegetative growth of *C. difficile* (163). Similar to studies looking at the risk of Gramnegative infection, colonisation with the taxa *Bacteroidetes, Lachnospiraceae*, and *Ruminococcaceae* were all found to be protective in patients post allo-HCT against developing *C. difficile infections* (164). Importantly a consistent finding in both CDI and non-CDI IMT studies is that high donor microbiota diversity as well as enrichment with commensals appear to be associated with IMT success (165).

### 1.3.3 Administration

Most of the evidence we currently have for IMT administration comes from trials looking at treatment for recurrent *C. difficile*. These have been formulated into guidelines which serves at a reference point for the use of IMT for other conditions (166).

#### 1.3.3.1 Donor stool and screening

Unrelated donor which was frozen was found to be as efficacious as related fresh stool in early *C. difficile* studies(167). The advantage of use of an unrelated donor was that stool could be more easily stored in advance and the advantage of this is that it can prevent shortages, and one donor can supply several recipients, avoiding the need for repeated screening. (168,169). Frozen was found to have similar efficacy to fresh stool for the treatment of rCDI (170) and contained similarly viable microbial communities (171). Donors must be screened through taking a clinical history, and sampling of blood and stool samples to avoid the risk of transmitting diseases and adversely impacting the recipient's microbiota. Age and BMI of the patient is taking into consideration because of the compositional change seen in the intestinal microbiota of older and overweight individuals (172,173).

Screening of donor blood and stool of transmissible organisms varies according to the risk assessment of the immunocompetence of the patient and local prevalence. Table 2:

Recommended IMT donor screening from Joint British Society of Gastroenterology and Healthcare Infection Society guidelines details the recommended guidelines for screening donor for IMT(174).

Table 2: Recommended IMT donor screening from Joint British Society of Gastroenterology and Healthcare Infection Society guidelines

Recommended c history/questionnaire	lonor	Recommended blood screening for stool donors	Recommended stool screening for stool donors
Receipt of antimicrobials within the 3 months.	past	Hepatitis A IgM	Clostridioides difficile PCR
Known prior exposure to HIV and/or hepatitis and known previous or lat tuberculosis.	viral tent	Hepatitis B (HBsAg and HBcAb)	Campylobacter, Salmonella, and Shigella by standard stool culture and/ or PCR
Risk factors for blood borne viruse including high risk sexual behaviours of illicit drugs, any tattoo/ body piercing/ needlestick injury/ b transfusion/ acupuncture, all within previous 6 months.	es, s, use lood i the	Hepatitis C antibody	Shiga toxin-producing <i>Escherichia coli</i> by PCR
Receipt of a live attenuated virus wi the past 6 months.	ithin	Hepatitis E IgM	Multidrug-resistant bacteria, at least CPE and ESBL
Underlying GI conditions/symptoms history of IBD, irritable bowel syndrome (IBS), chro diarrhoea, chronic constipation, coeliac disease, bow resection or bariatric surgery), also including acute diarrhoea/GI symptoms within the past 2 weeks	(e.g., onic /el	HIV-1 and HIV-2 antibodies	Stool ova, cysts and parasite analysis, including for <i>Microsporidia</i>
Family history of any significant C conditions (e.g., family history of IBD or colorectal cance	GI r).	HTLV-1 and HTLV-2 antibodies	Faecal antigen for Cryptosporidium and Giardia
History of atopy (e.g., asthma, eosinophilic disorders).		Treponema pallidum antibodies	Acid fast stain for <i>Cyclospora</i> and <i>Isospora</i>
Any systemic autoimmune conditic	ons.	Epstein–Barr virus IgM and IgG	Helicobacter pylori faecal antigen

Any metabolic conditions, including diabetes and obesity.	Cytomegalovirus IgM and IgG	Norovirus, rotavirus PCR
Any neurological or psychiatric conditions or known risk of prion disease.	Strongyloides stercoralis IgG	
History of chronic pain syndromes, including chronic fatigue syndrome and fibromyalgia.	Entamoeba histolytica serology	
History of any malignancy.	Full blood count with differential	
Taking antimicrobials, proton pump inhibitors, immunosuppression, chemotherapy in the last three month	Creatinine and electrolytes	
History of receiving growth hormone, insulin from cows or clotting factor concentrates.	Liver enzymes	
History of receiving an experimental medicine or vaccine within the past 6 months.	C-reactive protein	
History of travel to tropical countries within the past 6 months.		

# 1.3.3.2 Route of administration of IMT

Traditional routes of IMT administration were either via upper GI (i.e., nasoduodenal, nasogastric tube, or gastroscopy) or lower GI (i.e., colonoscopy, flexible sigmoidoscopy, or enema). Colonoscopy was shown to reduce the risk of rCDI by 90% compared to 80% with upper GI administration (175). Enemas are less preferred due to the need for repeated administration to reach the equivalent success rate to other methods (176), and is less frequently used for the use of IMT in indications other than rCDI due to the need to restore the entire intestinal tract versus the local effects of *C. diff within* the colon(177).

A more recent, attractive route is the administration of IMT via capsules. These may be capsulised frozen slurry, lyophilised or using a dehydrating matrix. The capsule format is clearly an attractive option as it negates the need for in-house procedures and the risks associated with endoscopy. Studies have shown non inferiority relative to colonoscopy (178,179).

# 1.3.3.3 Safety issues and tolerability

The main direct adverse effects from IMT are generally mild and self-limiting, and include flatulence, abdominal pain, increased stool frequency, vomiting and fever. More serious adverse effects are related to the endoscopic administration of the product such as aspiration or intestinal perforation (180).

There are however ongoing concerns about the risk of infection transmission via IMT, particularly when inadequate screening has occurred. In 2019 in the United States (U.S.), two patients suffered from ESBL–producing *Escherichia coli* bacteraemia transmitted from IMT donor stool, resulting in one fatality (181). In 2020 in the U.S., transmission of Shiga toxin– producing *Escherichia coli* (STEC) via IMT from a single donor to seven patients was reported, resulting in six serious adverse events and one non-serious adverse event (182).

Case reports have described both transmission of cytomegalovirus (CMV) in IMT for patients with ulcerative colitis and CMV reactivation post-IMT in solid organ transplant (SOT) patients (183,184), and concern exists regarding the theoretical oncogenic risk of transmission of Epstein-Barr Virus (EBV) in immunocompromised patient (185).

#### 1.3.3.4 Terminology

Previously the term faecal microbiota transplantation (FMT) was more commonly used. The term "Intestinal Microbiota Transplantation" (IMT) is now felt to be more correct as the aim is to confer to confer an intestinal bacterial community structure more similar to that of the healthy donor rather than the faeces, viewed as a waste product of the human body(186). Patient uptake and acceptability of the procedure may be improved by changing the name from "faecal" to "intestinal" (187). Also it is biologically-accurate to describe the transplanted material as arising from the intestinal microbiota as the only component of the transplant recognised to engraft are the bacteria that are either mucosally-derived bacteria not attached to mucin, or sloughed off mucin to which mucosally-associated bacteria are attached and the origin of the bacteria may come from either the small or large intestine which gives "intestinal microbiota" versus "faecal microbiota" more accuracy related relating to the actual material transferred (188).

#### 1.3.4 Use of IMT in MDRO colonized or infected patients.

The success of the improvement in rCDI with IMT has led research to expand to other intestinal pathobionts. The aim of IMT is to reverse the MDRO domination and arrest gut translocation to prevent invasive infection. Although mechanisms of colonisation resistance and gut barrier function have been explored the utility of restoring the gut microbiota in patients who are colonised with organisms known to or at risk of invasive disease is not fully understood.

# 1.3.4.1 IMT as a modality to decolonise the intestine from MDROs.

One modality that has been explored has been looking at eradication of carriage of MDROs, with one of the perceived benefits being that there may be a reduced risk of nosocomial spread, and potential for invasive infection.

Table 3: Literature to date on the use of IMT for MDRO decolonisation details the literature to date. As previously discussed, administration to mice of IMT containing the commensal bacteria *Barnesiella* was associated with intestinal clearance of VRE(121). Studies of IMT in the treatment of rCDI in humans have demonstrated a reduction in diversity and number of ARGs post-IMT(189–192) and a similar finding has also been described in patients being treated with IMT for liver cirrhosis(193).

Results from clinical studies looking at intestinal decolonization of MDROs following IMT have been highly variable, in part due to the heterogeneity of the study design, patient cohorts, and IMT administration protocols. High decolonisation rates were reported by Biliński *et al.*, of 75% in 20 patients(100) and Saïdani also reported similarly high rates of 80% in 10 patients at 14 days (with a decolonization rate of 10% in a comparator arm)(194). However, some studies reported rates similar to spontaneous decolonisation rates such as Davido *et al.*, who reported intestinal decolonisation in eight patients as of 37.5% after three months(195). The only reported randomized control trial (RCT) to date in this area demonstrated a nonsignificant decrease in rates of ESBL-E and CPE carriage in IMT-treated patients compared to the control group; partly attributed to the low number of recruited patients recruited and early drop out by participants due to diarrhoea(196).

Table 3: Literature to date on the use of IMT for MDRO decolonisation
---

Ref	Author	Year	No. of patients	Delivery method	Indication for IMT	Outcome post IMT	Follow up period
(197)	Aira	2020	1	Colonoscopy	rCDI with recurrent UTIs (3 episodes in one year)	Reduction of intestinal <i>Enterobacteriaceae</i> from 74% to 0.07%	n/a
(198)	Baron	2019	1	nasogastric tube	CPE colonization with osteitis infection	Stool negative for CPE	12 months
(99)	Bar-Yoseph	2021	15	oral capsules	Colonization with MDRO	Stool negative for CPE 10/24 (41.7%) in control versus 9/15 (60%) in IMT group 8/12 (66.7%) negative in IMT group	1 month
(199)	Battipaglia	2019	10	enema or nasogastric tube	Allo-HCT colonized with CPE/VRE or ESBL	Stool negative for MDRO in 7/10 (70%) patients	4-40 months
(200)	Biliński	2016	1	nasoduodenal tube	Multiple myeloma plus autologous HCT colonized with CPE and ESBL-E	Stool culture negative for MDRO PCR positive for NDM	26 days

(100)	Biliński	2017	20	nasoduodenal tube	1)Haematologicalmalignancy2)Lungcancer3)Renaltransplantall colonized with CPE	Rectal swab negative for MDRO in 13/14 (93%)	6 months
(201)	Crum- Cianflone	2015	1	Colonoscopy	Sacral wound plus spinal epidural abscess with rCDI colonized with multiple MDROs	Reduction from 24 MDROs pre-IMT to 11 post-IMT detected on culture	15 weeks
(202)	Davido	2017	8	nasogastric tube	Colonization with MDRO only	Rectal swab negative for CRE 3/8 (37.5%)	3 months
(203)	Davido	2019	8	nasoduodenal tube	Chronic renal failure colonized with VRE	Rectal swab negative for CRE 7/8 (87.5%)	3 months
(204)	Dias	2018	2	n/a	rCDI colonized with CPE	Rectal swab negative for CPE in 2/2 (100%) patients	3 months
(205)	Dinh	2018	17	nasogastric tube	Colonisation with MDRO only	Rectal swab negative for CRE 4/8 (50%) Rectal swab negative for VRE 7/8 (87.5%)	3 months
(206)	Eysenbach	2016	15	n/a	rCDI colonised with VRE	Negative stool for VRE in 4/4 (100%) in IMT group versus 6/7 (86%) in control group	6 weeks
(207)	Freedman	2014	1	nasoduodenal tube	Haemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis with CPE bacteraemia and osteomyelitis	Stool cultures negative for CPE	8 months

(208)	García- Fernández	2016	1	Colonoscopy	rCDI colonized with CPE	Stool cultures negative for CPE	6 months
(209)	Grosen	2019	1	nasojejunal tube	Renal transplant with recurrent ESBL UTIs (7 hospital admissions in 5 months)	Stool negative for ESBL <i>Klebsiella</i> pneumoniae	8 months
(196)	Huttner	2019	22	nasogastric tube	1)ColonizationwithCPE2) Invasive ESBL infection	Stool negative for MDROs in 9/22 (41%) in treatment group versus 5/17 (29%) in control	48 days
(210)	Innes	2017	1	nasogastric tube	Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia undergoing allo-HCT colonized with CPE	Stool negative for CPE	12 months
(211)	Jang	2015	1	Enema and nasoduodenal tube	rCDI with spastic tetraplegia colonized with VRE	Stool positive for VRE	3 months
(189)	Jouhten	2016	n/a	Colonoscopy	rCDI	Reduction in diversity of antibiotic resistant genes, except vanB	2 months
(212)	Lagier	2015	1	nasogastric tube	Nursing home resident colonized with CPE	Stool negative for CPE	14 days
(213)	Lahtinen	2017	4	Colonoscopy	Recurrent ESBL <i>E. coli</i> UTIs	Stool cultures negative for ESBL-E	6 weeks

(190)	Leung	2018	8	Enema	rCDI	Reduction in 95 antimicrobial resistance genes Increase in 37 resistance genes	90 days
(214)	Merli	2020	5	nasogastric tube	Pre-allo-HCT 3/5 patients - carbapenem resistant Gram-negative bacteraemia	Stool negative for CPE	113 days
(191)	Millan	2016	20	Colonoscopy	rCDI	Reduced number and diversity of antibiotic resistant genes	1 year
(215)	Ponte	2017	1	nasoduodenal tube	rCDI colonized with CRE	3 stool samples negative for CRE	100 days
(194)	Saïdani	2019	10	nasogastric tube	rCDI colonized with CRE	Rectal swab negative for CPE/A in 8/10 (80%) IMT patients versus 2/10 (20%) in control group	14 days
(216)	Singh	2014	1	nasoduodenal tube	End-stage renal failure with recurrent ESBL <i>E. coli</i> transplant pyelonephritis	Perineal and throat swab positive for ESBL at 1 week, Negative at 2,4,12 months	12 months

(217)	Singh	2018	15	nasoduodenal tube	1) Renal transplant 2) Recurrent ESBL UTIs	Stool negative for ESBL in 3/15 (20%) after the first transplant 6/15 (40%) negative after the second transplant	4 weeks
(218)	Sohn	2016	3	Enema	rCDI colonized with VRE	No eradication of VRE in 3/3	21 weeks
(219)	Stalenhoef	2017	1	nasoduodenal tube	Peritoneal dialysis with recurrent Pseudomonas UTIs	5 negative stool culture for <i>Pseudomonas</i> <i>aeruginosa</i> Positive stool for ESBL <i>E. coli</i>	3 months
(220)	Stripling	2015	1	nasogastric tube	Renal and heart transplant with rCDI colonised with VRE	Decrease in abundance in stool of <i>Enterococcus</i> from 84% to 0.2% (7 weeks)	7 weeks
(221)	Wei	2015	5	nasojejunal tube	MRSA enteritis post colorectal surgery	Stool negative for MRSA	3 months

# 1.3.4.2 Prevention of invasive infection

Early studies looking at rCDI outcomes post IMT noted a reduction in BSIs(222) and this has also been noted in IMT studies of MDRO colonised patients where patients were noted to have had a reduction in MDRO and non-MDRO BSIs(99,199). This has also been noted in studies looking at the impact of IMT on UTIs.

Reference	Author	Year	Outcome post FMT	Follow up period
			Prevention of Clinical Infection in MDRO colonized patients	
(99)	Bar-Yoseph	2021	Death: 8/24 (33%) in control versus 0/15 in FMT group Clinical CPE infection: 9/24 (37.5%) in control versus 0/15 in FMT group	6 months
(199)	Battipaglia	2019	ESBL <i>E. coli bacteraemia</i> in 1 patient No MDR bacteraemia in 9/10 (90%) patients	90 days
(200)	Biliński	2016	No subsequent infections	26 days
(201)	Crum-Cianflone	2015	Reduction from five to one infective episode	15 weeks
(207)	Freedman	2014	No subsequent infections	1.5 years
(214)	Merli	2020	2/5 (40%) carbapenem resistant Gram-negative bacteraemia	113 days
(220)	Stripling	2015	No further episodes of VRE sepsis	7 weeks
(223)	Su	2021	No CPE bacteraemia	12 months

Table 4: Literature review of the use of IMT to prevent clinical infection in MDRO colonised patients.

Reference	Author	Year	Outcome post FMT	Follow up period			
Recurrent Urinary Tract Infections (UTIs)							
(197)	Aira	2020	No further UTIs	12 months			
(209)	Grosen	2019	One further ESBL UTI 6 days post FMT	12 months			
(213)	Lahtinen	2017	1 episode of cystitis with fully sensitive organism	6 weeks			
(216)	Singh	2014	No clinical infection	3 months			

Table 5: Literature review of the use of IMT to prevent urinary tract infections in MDRO colonised patients.

(219)	Stalenhoef	2017	No recurrent Pseudomonas infection One <i>E. coli UTI</i>	18 months
(224)	Biehl	2018	No further UTIs	9 months
(225)	Hocquart	2019	No further UTIs	8 months
(226)	Ramos-Martínez	2020	No further UTIs	10 months
(227)	Steed	2020	Reduction in number of infections Improved resistance profile of positive isolates	one year

(228)	Tariq	2017	0-4 UTIs No change in control group	one year
(229)	Wang	2018	No further UTIs	25 months

The mechanism of IMT aims to aid the recovery of host-microbiome interactions. It is likely that the benefits seen are due to the consortium of commensal microbes and the metabolites produced and their function in restoring host immunity, gut barrier function, improving colonisation resistance and decreasing pathobiont dominance.

# **1.4 Hypothesis and Objectives**

#### 1.4.1 Hypothesis

Invasive MDRO infection from intestinal pathogens carries significant morbidity and mortality, and it is recognised that disruption to the microbiota composition increases the likelihood of progression to invasive disease. Restoration of the microbiota by IMT may stop the progression to invasive disease. To date studies have been of small numbers and there has yet to be a study to take a multi-faceted approach to address this, by looking at the clinical outcomes as well as gene and metabolite expression pre- and post-IMT.



*Figure 5: Aim of IMT to stop progression of intestinal pathobionts to invasive disease.* 

The aims of the project were to evaluate the relationship between colonisation of the intestinal microbiota with MDROs and the progression to invasive diseases and to

#### 1.4.2 Objectives

• Evaluate the prevalence and impact of MDRO colonisation in a healthcare facility.

- Create a programme for administering IMT to appropriate patients colonised with MDROs.
- Assess the clinical impact of IMT on MDRO colonised patients and efficacy.
- To accurately map the mucosa-associated antimicrobial resistance genes in MDROcolonised patients pre- and post-IMT
- To identify microbiome and or metabolome-based markers which may play a role in restoration of colonisation resistance and gut barrier in MDRO colonised patients.



Figure 6: Flow chart of aims of the study to explore outcomes and mechanisms of IMT on MDRO colonised patients.
# Chapter 2: Epidemiology of MDRO colonised and infected patients

#### 2.1 Introduction

To first understand the impact that restoration of the intestinal microbiota would have on MDRO colonised patients, we sought to map out which organisms were most prevalent and which populations of patients who were most likely to benefit from this intervention. To do this we interrogated local data to identify the most common MDROs colonising the intestine to result in invasive disease, and secondly to identify and describe the cohorts of patients who are most at risk of developing invasive MDRO disease and adverse outcomes.

#### 2.2 Aims

To map out the scale and impact of MDRO colonisation and infection within a hospital population and identify target populations who could benefit from IMT.

#### 2.3 Methods

#### 2.3.1 Clinical setting

This was a retrospective case-control study performed at Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust. The study population were inpatients admitted between September 2013 – April 2017. Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust (ICHNT) covers approximately 1500 patient beds across five hospital sites in West London with a centralised microbiology laboratory. Since 2015 ICHNT routinely performs rectal screening to identify rectal carriage of carbapenemaseproducing genes in inpatients.

#### 2.3.2 Microbiology sampling and antimicrobial susceptibility testing

Microbiology samples were processed at the clinical laboratory at Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust. Screening and clinical isolates were cultured on either chromogenic media or MacConkey Agar with an ertapenem disc. Species identification was performed using Biotyper matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization—time of flight mass spectrometry (Bruker Daltonics, Germany) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Testing of antimicrobial susceptibility was performed in accordance with European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing guidelines (230). OXA-48, KPC, NDM, VIM, and IMP carbapenemase genes were identified by PCR (Xpert<sup>®</sup> Carba-R, Cepheid Inc, USA). Urine samples with more than 100 white cell count on microscopy were cultured on chromogenic media agar. Plates were incubated at 37°C and read at 16 hours, following which testing of antimicrobial susceptibility was performed in accordance with European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing guideline (230).

#### 2.3.3 Definitions

**ESBL** Enterobacteriaceae resistant to cefalexin AND ceftazadime/ceftriaxone.

**Recurrent Urinary Tract Infection** (rUTI): 1) > three in a year (>two weeks apart) or 2) > two in six months (>one week apart) with the same organism/sensitivity profile.

Length of Stay: Number of days that the patient remained in hospital.

#### 2.3.4 Analysis

#### 2.3.4.1 Prevalence of CPE colonised patients in hospital inpatients

Patient electronic health records between 2008 and 2018 were reviewed for all patients who had clinical samples that were positive for CPE to identify baseline risk factors and identify at risk groups.

#### 2.3.4.2 Impact of CPE bloodstream infections

All patients admitted between September 2013 – April 2017 with CPE BSI were matched with controls (Gram negative bacteraemia with no ESBL/AMPC/CPE mechanism identified) and the following characteristics were analysed.

- Demographics such as age, sex, underlying condition etc
- 30-day mortality
- Length of admission post detection of bacteraemia measured in number of days.
- Renal function at day zero and day fourteen

• Patients who required renal replacement therapy such as dialysis were excluded from this analysis.

# 2.3.4.3 Clinical outcomes of CPE positive patients undergoing hematopoietic cell transplant.

The following parameters were assessed for Haematology patients who underwent an autologous or allograft hematopoietic cell transplant (HCT) and were colonised with CPE on rectal screening between September 2015 and December 2017.

- Length of stay (LoS) post HCT, including readmissions for sepsis
- Number of days of antibiotics therapy following detection of bacteraemia.

Controls were chosen were patients with a negative CPE screen on rectal screening but were matched for time and type of HCT in 3 controls to 1 case ratio.

#### 2.3.4.4 Prevalence of MDRO urinary tract infections

All urine specimens which were culture positive for *Enterobacteriaceae* between June 2015 and January 2018 were collated. The dataset was analysed to identify recurrent UTIs and MDR isolates were matched with antibiotic sensitive culture positive urinary isolates in a 4:1 ratio. The patient electronic health record was interrogated to evaluate associations, origin of patient and resistance pattern.

#### 2.3.4.5 Description of urology patients with MDRO positive urinary isolates

Retrospective analysis of culture positive urine isolates was obtained from 2015 to 2018 at a tertiary level service. Clinical profiling of patients under the urology service with recurrent ESBL producing isolates was performed.

#### 2.4 Results

#### 2.4.1.1 Prevalence of CPE colonised patients in hospital inpatients

Between 2008 and 2018, 1050 isolates from 792 individual patients were isolated as positive for CPE on PCR. 82% of these isolates were from rectal screening, with urine, wound swabs and bloodstream infections being the most common following isolates.



Figure 7: Pie chart displaying origin of CPE positive isolates identified on rectal screening of inpatients at Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust between 2008 and 2018

The highest rates of CPE colonised or infected patients were under the renal (17% of all CPE positive patients, 17% of all CPE BSIs and 28% of all positive urine culture results), haematology (8% of colonised patients but 27% of CPE BSIs) and vascular (6.8% of CPE colonized patients, 7.7% of all CPE BSIs and 50% of deep tissue samples) services. 23% of vascular patients who were colonised with CPE were also under joint care with the renal services. The OXA-48 gene was the most prevalent CPE gene and was found on 39.8% of isolates.

#### 2.4.1.2 Impact of CPE bloodstream infections

26 patients were identified between September 2013 to April 2017 with a CPE BSI. This represented 3.2% of all patients who were positive for CPE on rectal screening. Mortality (P=0.0194), length of hospital admission (P=0.0442) and deterioration in renal function (in non-dialysis patients) (P=0.0045) were all worse in the CPE bacteraemia group compared to control (Gram negative bacteraemia – no ESBL/AMPC/CPE mechanism identified).



Figure 8: Kaplan-Meier 30-day mortality of patients with a CPE bacteraemia compared with those with a blood stream infection caused by a Gram-negative bacteraemia with no ESBL/AMPC/CPE mechanism identified.



Figure 9: Comparison of length of hospital admission (days) post detection of bacteraemia between those with a CPE bacteraemia and those with a bacteraemia caused by a Gram-negative organism with no ESBL/AMPC/CPE mechanism identified.



Figure 10: Comparison in the Percentage change in creatinine at day 14 between those with a CPE bacteraemia and those with a bacteraemia caused by a Gram-negative organism with no ESBL/AMPC/CPE mechanism identified, excluding those who underwent renal replacement therapy.

# 2.4.1.3 Clinical outcomes of CPE positive patients undergoing hematopoietic cell transplant (HCT).

The case sample had 20 patients with CPE detected on rectal screening, of which nine patients underwent an allograft and eleven underwent an autograft transplant. The control sample was made up of 59 HCT patients with negative rectal screening (allograft (n=27) and autograft (n=32)). All patients received antibiotic therapy post HCT.

The average length of stay for the case sample was significantly longer in the CPE colonised autograft group (41.7 vs. 23.6 days, case versus control, P=0.01), but not significant in the CPE colonised allograft group (75.1 vs. 58 days, P=0.12).(Figure 9)

Both CPE colonised autograft and allograft case samples had significantly longer duration of meropenem therapy, 24.8 vs. 14.4 days for allograft (P=0.03) and 9.4 vs. 5.5 days for autograft (P=0.03), cases versus control. Colistin therapy was longer in both case samples (P=0.03 in

autograft and P=0.006 in allograft). Tigecycline therapy was significantly longer in the autograft case versus control sample (P=0.006), with teicoplanin and piperacillin-tazobactam therapy significantly longer in the autograft case versus control sample, P=0.015 and P=0.03 respectively.

	ALLOGRAFT GROUP		AUTOGRAFT GROUP	
	<b>CPE Colonized</b>	Control group	<b>CPE</b> Colonized	Control group
Number	9	27	11	32
Age average	53.1	52.9	51.78	53.67
Sex M:F	04:06	16:11	08:03	21:12

 Table 6: Demographics of CPE colonised HCT patients compared with controls.



Figure 11: Comparison of duration of antibiotic length between CPE colonised HCT patients compared with HCT patients with negative rectal screening for CPE.



Figure 12: Comparison of length of stay (measured in days) between CPE colonised HCT patients compared with HCT patients with negative rectal screening for CPE.

#### 2.4.1.4 Prevalence of MDRO urinary tract infections

A total of 1449 "recurrent UTI", patients were identified: 281 had ESBLs. Within the ESBL recurrent UTI group, patients were significantly older (P=<0.001), higher male proportion (P=<0.001), were more likely to have associated bacteraemia (P=0.001) and were more likely to have gut colonisation with carbapenemase-producing Enterobacteriaceae (CPE) compared to controls (P=<0.001). Of the renal patients, 75% had a kidney transplant and 81% of urology patients had a drainage tube insertion. There were higher resistance rates to non-beta-lactam antibiotics in the ESBL group (see Table 7).

	Recurrent ESBL UTI Number (%)	Recurren t non- ESBL UTI Number (%)	p value (Chi-squared test)
Patients	281	1168	

Table 7: Recurrent ESBL UTIs versus recurrent non-ESBL UTIs

	Klebsiella	42 (14 0)	10 (0.8)	<0.001
Organism	spp (%)	42 (14.9)	811	<0.001
	E. coli (%)	199 (70.8)	(69.4)	0.665
Demographic	Age (mean, SD)	64.1, 19	58.7, 22	<0.001
	Male	137 (48.8)	328 (28)	<0.001
	Gram negative bacteraemia	35 (12.4)	37 (3.1)	0.001
	Colonisation with CPE organism	21 (7.5)	31 (26.5)	<0.001
Speciality	Renal	84 (30.0)	196 (16.8)	<0.001
	Urology	47 (16.7)	104 (8.9)	<0.001
	Trimethoprim	219 (77.9)	354 (30.3)	<0.001
Antibiotic resistance	Ciprofloxacin	214 (76.2)	160 (13.7)	<0.001
	Nitrofurantoin	49 (17.4),	128 (11)	0.002
	Gentamicin	135 (48).	64 (5.5)	<0.001
	Amikacin	8 (2.8)	0 (0)	n/a

# 2.4.1.5 Description of patients under the Urology services with MDRO positive urinary isolates

Between June 2015-January 2018, 2059 patients under the Urology service had a positive urine culture, 128 (6%) were positive for ESBL. A total of 456 patients had more than one positive urine culture and of these, 62 (14%) had more than one ESBL UTI. This constituted 8% of all recurrent ESBL UTIs in the trust (806 totals).

We registered that 52/62 (84%), with recurrent ESBL UTIs, had an underlying urological diagnosis, while 10/62 (16%) were purely managed for recurrent UTIs. We found that 19/62 patients had more than one underlying diagnosis. While 7/62 (11%) patients underwent urological reconstructive surgery, and 40/62 (65%) had long term prosthetic devices (stents, nephrostomies, or catheters) *in situ*. Table 8 describes their outcome.

Diagnosis		Number
Lower tract obstruction	Lower tract obstruction	
Urinary tract calculi		13
Upper tract obstruction		7
Functional including reflux		5
Uro-Oncology		5
Post-operative complication		3
Urological reconstructive	Ureteric reimplantation	4
surgery	lleocystoplasty	2

Table 8: Demographics of Urology patients with recurrent ESBL UTIs

(n=7)	lleal conduit	1
Drainage tubes (n=40)	Indwelling catheter	18
	Intermittent self- catheterisation	13
	Nephrostomy	10
	Stent	9

#### 2.5 Discussion

Our program at Imperial College NHS Trust is carried out in a 1700 bed hospital trust in West London where administration of IMT for treatment of rCDI was already well-established as a clinical service.

As a Central London trust, the population that the hospital trust serves is one that is highly diverse in terms of the varied ethnic population, frequent travel outside of the UK is recognised as a risk factor for MDRO colonisation(231). There are also specialist tertiary centres within the trust, including renal and haematology, who by default of requiring prolonged hospitalisation and frequent antibiotic courses, are also at increased risk of MDRO colonisation(18). MDRO transmission within the Trust (in particular, outbreaks of carbapenemase-producing Enterobacterales (CPE) carriage) has been an increasing issue in high-risk populations.

#### 2.5.1 Prevalence of CPE colonisation and infection

A retrospective cohort analysis of the laboratory information management system was performed to compare concurrent MDRO positive stool/rectal screens and invasive isolates. The highest rate of CPE colonised patients who became infected with a CPE were in the renal and haematology groups, strikingly within the haematology group there were a stark difference between having relatively low rates of CPE colonisation (8% of colonised patients but 27% of CPE BSIs). The reasons for these likely include the disturbance to the commensal bacteria within the intestinal microbiome from immunosuppression, antibiotics, and prolonged hospitalisation, leading to these patients being more vulnerable when exposed to these organisms in hospital settings to intestinal colonisation. By identifying cohorts who are more likely to progress to invasive disease, we can focus on which groups would benefit most from IMT as a method to prevent invasive disease.

The results from this study also demonstrate the need to prevent invasive CPE bacteraemia. CPE bacteraemia patients were noted to have worse outcomes than invasive bloodstream infections that did not have a resistance to all beta lactams. The reasons for this are likely multifactorial. Firstly, patients who are colonised with CPE who develop an invasive infection are likely colonised due to risk factors that disrupt the intestinal microbiota precluding CPE colonisation such as prolonged hospitalisation and immunosuppression (see 1.1.4) therefore have lower reserves in the defence against infection. Secondly the treatment for a CPE bacteraemia is often delayed whilst the laboratory sensitivities are awaited, and there is often cross resistance to several other drugs, and the last line of therapy such as tigecycline or colistin are often not as effective and more toxic (particularly in terms of renal function) contributing to worse outcomes.

As there was a such as marked difference in haematology patients who were colonised with CPE and developed invasive disease, the impact of CPE colonisation on hematopoietic cell transplant patients was explored as this is one of the most immunosuppressive regimens utilised and therefore the highest increase in the risk of invasive disease. Colonisation alone was seen to have a negative impact on the length of stay and on the use of antibiotics recognised to have higher toxicity. Often this cohort of patients develop fevers which are treated empirically with no guiding microbiology, so one possibility for these outcomes is the fact that their colonising organisms are causing culture negative invasive disease, resulting in worse outcomes. Clinicians will often pre-emptively use more toxic agents such

84

as tigecycline and colistin based on the rectal colonisation which could contribute to the increased use of these agents seen.

#### 2.5.2 Prevalence of ESBL recurrent urinary tract infections

ESBL recurrent UTIs were noted in this study to be more prevalent in older male patients and were more likely to be associated with Gram negative bacteraemias and were more likely to be associated with patients who had underlying conditions associated with the genitourinary tract. This observation demonstrates once again that MDRO infections have a greater burden on the healthcare system and are more likely to affect more vulnerable populations.

An important finding which demonstrates the impact that rUTIs have, was the fact that there was cross resistance with non-beta lactam antibiotics. This emphasises the fact that intravenous (IV) therapy is more likely to be necessitated, adding increase cost and risk of further line associated infections versus oral medication. A further analysis of patients under the Urology service demonstrated that many of these patients (65%) had long term prosthetic devices, which may suggest that resistance develops in those patients who may have a prosthesis where infection seeds and is trickier to eradicate because of biofilm formation.

#### 2.5.3 Study limitations.

This study was a retrospective study which relied on clinical laboratory results. Based on previous local epidemiological data, the decision had been made to screen every hospital admission for MRSA and CPE, but not ESBL. Screening for rectal colonisation is only of benefit if the healthcare team would act on the result. ESBL colonisation rates are now so prevalent, that a hospital would not have the capacity to isolate all patients colonised with these organisms. Only patients admitted to intensive care were screened for VRE. This meant that we were only able to compare the rates of CPE colonisation which were a relatively small number. The number of CPE bacteraemia was only 26 patients, therefore excluding those who underwent dialysis decreased the numbers further. Data was not available for patients in the ESBL UTI study to look at treatment courses as many of these patients will have received treatment in the community.

#### 2.5.4 Future directions

The purpose of this analysis was to set a framework in preparation for administering IMT for MDRO colonised patients and identify suitable recipients. From the data produced from this portion of the study, we decided to define MDRO-colonised patients who are most likely to benefit from IMT broadly fall into the following two categories; (1) patients at risk of MDRO invasive infection due to altered immune status and (2) those with recurrent MDRO-mediated invasive disease and considered at risk of further disease. Due to geographical differences and differences in service provision, these findings may not be globally applicable, but it was clear that patients with haematological disorders were at risk of invasive MDRO diseases, and therefore likely to fall into category 1 and patients with recurrent UTIs were likely to fall into category 2, in particular those who were immunosuppressed i.e. by a renal transplant. The value of the data generated extends beyond this project and gives a valuable insight into the prevalence and risk factors of MDRO colonisation and the relevance of colonisation in at risk populations.

# Chapter 3: Development and adaptation of IMT Programme to target MDRO colonised patients.

#### 3.1 Introduction

IMT is well established as a method for treating rCDI(232). However, with rCDI patients the outcome measured is resolution of clinical infection and patients are treated when they are acutely unwell. Studies looking at IMT for MDRO colonised patients to date were highly heterogenous, and there was no information in the literature regarding the most effective method of delivering IMT to this cohort of patients. To start safely and effectively carrying out IMT for MDRO patients it was necessary to conduct a literature review of the most relevant studies that have carried out IMT and construct a framework to follow.

#### 3.2 Aims

To establish a guideline to deliver IMT to patients colonised with MDROs to deliver IMT safely and effectively with a suitable measurable outcome.

#### 3.3 Methods

Abstracts cited on PubMed were searched for up to July 2014. The terms 'Faecal Microbiota Transplantation, 'Intestinal Microbiota transplantation', 'multidrug-resistant', 'antimicrobial resistance' were used as search terms with these terms applied together in different logical combinations. English language abstracts only were the only restriction set. Once identified, the abstracts were read to decide if the study contained material relevant to the review, and if so, the full text article was retrieved and reviewed. Bibliographies were manually cross-referenced to identify potentially relevant articles that may have been missed by the initial search. Once the review of the literature was performed (see

Table 3: Literature to date on the use of IMT for MDRO decolonisation) and cross referenced against current standard of practice for the treatment of rCDI using IMT(174,233). Any salient features were presented to a specialist panel (comprising of Microbiology doctors, Infectious Diseases doctors, Gastroenterology doctors, Pharmacists, and Clinician Scientists).

A multi-disciplinary team discussion was carried out to confirm among specialists the most effective options. The areas targeted to address were donor screening, choice of recipient, timing of delivery and measurable outcomes. Regional guidelines were constructed to inform clinicians on how IMT would be carried out for MDRO colonised patients based on findings.

#### 3.4 Results

#### 3.4.1 Screening of donor stool

Donor stool was prepared in-house (see Appendix 3: Preparation and administration of IMT). Guidance for donor assessment and laboratory screening are based on the published current UK and international guidance on IMT delivery for recurrent CDI(168,233,234). Due to the choice of recipients, who were more likely to be immunocompromised from their underlying process, the decision was made to additionally test for the following microorganisms in addition to the screening laid out in Table 2: Recommended IMT donor screening from Joint British Society of Gastroenterology and Healthcare Infection Society guidelines.

• Cytomegalovirus and Epstein-Barr Virus serology:

Due to case reports having describing both transmission of cytomegalovirus (CMV) in IMT for patients with ulcerative colitis and CMV reactivation post-IMT in solid organ transplant (SOT) patients (184,235), and concerns regarding the theoretical oncogenic risk of transmission of Epstein-Barr Virus (EBV) in immunocompromised patients (185), the decision to test for serology for CMV (IgM and IgG) and EBV (IgM and IgG VCA and EBNA) is required of donors before donation. All donors are required to have negative CMV IgG status regardless of immune status of recipient, EBV IgG status should be screened to match that of the recipient.

• Transmissible MDROs in stool:

In 2019 in the United States (U.S.), two patients suffered from ESBL–producing Escherichia coli bacteraemia transmitted from IMT donor stool, resulting in one fatality (236). In 2020 in

the U.S., transmission of Shiga toxin–producing *Escherichia coli* (STEC) via IMT from a single donor to seven patients was reported, resulting in six serious adverse events and one non-serious adverse event (237). To minimize the risk of transmission, all donor stool was screened via culture and STEC and CPE are screened via real-time Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR) at each donation. A risk assessment for MDRO acquisition was taken at each donation, regarding foreign travel, hospitalisation, or recent use of antibiotics(238).

• SARS-CoV-2:

Prolonged shedding of the SARS-CoV-2 virus in stool after exposure has been described(239). To avoid potential transmission, we tested donors using a nasopharyngeal swab and donor stool be sent for RT-PCR in an ISO Accredited lab to detect SARS-CoV-2 (240).

#### 3.4.2 Choice of MDRO colonised recipient

Based on the results from Chapter 2: Epidemiology of MDRO colonised and infected patients. The following inclusion category was selected.

• ≥18 years of age.

• Confirmed colonisation with MDRO (CPE, ESBL or VRE) and likely to have an adverse outcome should they develop invasive disease OR

• Recurrent infection with MDRO organism which they are known to be colonised with.

Based on previous findings, the two cohorts selected for active recruitment were haematology-oncology patients who were about to undergo an HCT and renal transplant patients who were known to have received multiple courses of antibiotics for recurrent MDRO UTIs. Other MDRO colonised patients were considered on a case-by-case decision.

Each patient referred for IMT would be discussed in a multidisciplinary meeting to decide appropriateness of the referral. Patients referred for the purpose of "decolonisation" alone were not considered. Exclusion criteria for IMT for MDRO colonised patients was decided on the following criteria.

- < 18 years of age.
- Decompensated cirrhosis.
- Life-threatening food allergies, e.g., nuts.
- Pregnancy or currently breastfeeding.

Relative contraindications:

• Active ulceration/ bleeding of the upper GI tract.

• Altered anatomy of the GI tract that may prevent nasogastric tube insertion, e.g., gastrectomy.

• HIV infection with a CD4 count of < 240.

#### 3.4.3 Delivery and timing of IMT

Delivery for IMT for MDRO colonised patients is described in Appendix 3: Preparation and administration of IMT and based on guidelines for rCDI(166)

However, timing was considered an important distinction from other uses for IMT. For IMT for patients who were due to undergo further immunosuppression (e.g., myeloablative chemotherapy followed by HCT), it was decided to be ideally planned for around 2–6 weeks before the immunosuppressive event is scheduled to occur. This was to reach a balance between allowing sufficient time for bacterial engraftment from the IMT to occur prior to any potential future intervention (such as HCT, plus empirical antibiotics given following any febrile neutropenic event) that may impact engraftment, but equally to ensure at least partial recovery from the neutropenia related to preceding chemotherapy.

In contrast to other uses of IMT, prevention of invasive disease was a key outcome measure. Failure of IMT has been described with antibiotic usage after IMT for CDI patients (241). It was advised in the guidelines to take care to facilitate engraftment of IMT by ensuring that it is performed when the patient is infection free, and therefore not likely to require antibiotics post IMT. Patients who are treated with IMT for recurrent MDRO UTIs are required to have finished treatment for previous infections and have a negative urine culture prior to IMT.

#### 3.4.4 Selective digestive decontamination with antibiotics

Selective digestive decontamination with antibiotics to our patients prior to IMT administration was decided against. Huttner et al utilised this approach in their randomised controlled trial looking at IMT to eradicate carriage of multidrug-resistant Enterobacteriaceae(196). However, in their study, they noted that antibiotics were responsible for most of the side effects in the study (mainly diarrhoea) and noted the theoretical concern of drive to further resistance and therefore may be counterproductive. The focus of our study was on patients at risk of invasive disease and as an approach to disease prevention and not intestinal decolonisation (i.e utilising antibiotics therapy as an approach to eradicate the pathobionts was not necessary. It was recognised that in HCT patients that decreased diversity is predictive of mortality(242) and MDRO colonisation is recognized to be driven by antibiotic administration which lowers intestinal bacterial diversity(243), although external factors such as early neutropenic fever requiring antibiotics following HCT cannot be avoided even when infectious aetiology is not the primary cause. Phage therapy for similar reasons was not considered as the aim of the IMT was not to target a specific pathobiont, and the use of phage therapy in this context is not yet widely reported in other studies, although could be considered for future studies as an adjunctive therapy in disruption of biofilm formation.

#### 3.4.5 Measurable outcomes following IMT.

The following steps were recommended following IMT.

- Any potential adverse events should be followed up and recorded for at least 8 weeks after IMT.
- Education of patients on antimicrobial stewardship and requested that their clinician liaise with the IMT team if antibiotics are required.

- Avoidance of antibiotics to which the colonising MDRO is resistant, which would drive the selection pressure of the organism within the intestinal microbiome.
  - When unavoidable, antibiotics with least impact upon the transplanted intestinal microbiota (i.e., omitting anaerobic cover where possible) should be taken into consideration, for as short duration as possible (45,244).
- The patients who received an IMT were to undergo a 6-month follow-up to monitor the following.
  - o Clinical response
  - Microbiological evidence of invasive disease
  - Mortality and morbidity
  - Relative length of inpatient admission (including intensive care admission), re-admission
  - Antibiotics usage.
- Patients should be questioned about health-related quality of life indicators.
- Follow-up should take place within the secondary care service they usually attend in a multidisciplinary setting.

It was decided that failure of IMT would not be considered when MDROs were detectable on rectal or stool screening after IMT (i.e., absolute intestinal MDRO decolonisation), as prevention of invasive disease from colonising MDROs is the primary goal. Repeated IMT for rCDI is recognized to increase the success rate cumulatively(245). Repeat IMT using different donor stool was decided to be offered to patients who saw a reduction in their MDRO mediated invasive infection, but experienced recurrence requiring further antibiotic courses (as the underlying contributor to recurrent infection such as anatomical defects and immunosuppressant therapy remains).

#### 3.5 Discussion

The research carried out in this project would be a novel therapy on immunosuppressed patients, therefore a literature review and construction of clinical guidelines was an essential part of this research project to ensure patient safety. The key areas identified and modified included donor stool, and additional tests were added to endure reduction of risk of transmission of disease. The guidelines generated were used to carry out IMT in MDRO colonised patients in a safe and consistent manner.

As IMT is still a new modality, particularly in the use in MDRO colonised patients, there was limited research published to help create guidelines. The main guidance to date has been for the use of IMT for rCDI. Not only is the patient cohort different, our selection of MDRO colonised patients were all on some form of immunosuppression, but also IMT for rCDI is enacted when the patient is unwell, whereas IMT for MDRO colonised patients should be carried out as a method of preventing them from becoming unwell, a pre-habilitation versus a rehabilitation. Previous studies looking at IMT in MDRO colonised patients had not specifically advised on such idiosyncrasies of this modality. Only one randomised control trial to date had been carried out looking at MDRO colonised IMT patients. These recommendations therefore were based on anecdotal evidence and expert opinion on hypothetical situations. Data also does not exist on the long-term effects of IMT. As more studies are published, and as emerging and evolving infections present as public health issues, these recommendations will require regular review and adaptations.

# Chapter 4: Clinical outcomes of MDRO colonised patients undergoing IMT.

#### 4.1 Introduction

The need to specifically try to prevent MDRO invasive infection in vulnerable cohorts comes from the fact that MDRO infection results in worse morbidity and mortality than infections that respond to first line therapy. The relationship between MDRO colonisation and increased risk of invasive infection and worse clinical outcomes is well recognised in vulnerable cohorts (246,247). rCDI patients who were given IMT were noted to have a lower rate of BSIs 90 days post IMT than patients treated with antibiotics (222). The benefit of IMT to patients in terms of direct clinical outcomes has been noted in some IMT studies for MDRO colonised patients, although most studies looking at IMT in MDRO colonised patients have focused on IMT as a "decolonisation" method. The purpose of MDRO decolonisation is a tool to reduce the spread of infection in community (51) and healthcare settings as the risk of infection is noted to be increased with colonisation(248), however the actual prevention of invasive infection would be a more valuable modality to reduce morbidity and mortality from MDRO disease.

#### 4.2 Aims

The aim of this part of the study was to evaluate the impact of IMT on the clinical outcomes of patient colonised with MDROs and whether there was prevention in invasive infection.

#### 4.3 Methods

#### 4.3.1 Clinical Setting

This study was an observational pre/post study of patients with MDRO colonisation or infection who received IMT to prevent disease occurrence and or recurrence. It was performed between 2015 and 2019 in a London group of 5 hospital sites with approximately 1700 inpatient beds, when IMT had started to be put into practice at Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust.

#### 4.3.2 Ethics

The study was approved by a UK Research Ethics Committee (REC reference: 19/LO/0112). All patients, including patients used as controls, provided informed consent authorizing the use of their personal information for research purposes.

#### 4.3.3 Definitions

Multidrug-resistant organism was defined as vancomycin-resistant enterococci, carbapenem-producing Enterobacteriaceae, or extended-spectrum β-lactamase (ESBL)– producing Enterobacteriaceae.

#### 4.3.4 Patient selection

The study was not randomised. Patients were selected from two distinct groups, either at risk of invasive infection, or having experienced recurrent infection and considered at risk of further infection, as different endpoints were evaluated for both groups.

#### Group 1/ Haematology patients:

Patients with intestinal colonisation (diagnosed on stool or rectal screening) with an MDRO and considered at risk of invasive MDRO disease. These were patients with an underlying haematological condition where further planned immunosuppression was planned (i.e., allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation [HCT]). IMT would aim to take place at least 2 weeks before further immunosuppression. The groups were further subdivided based on whether they received an HCT or not.

#### Group 2/ Recurrent UTIs

Patients with recurrent MDRO-mediated invasive disease and considered at risk of further disease. This included patients with recurrent MDRO urinary tract infections (rUTIs)—in particular, renal transplantation patients where recurrent infection was adversely impacting graft function. Patients were selected if they had received treatment for either two infections in six months or three infections in one year requiring antibiotic therapy.

In both groups, IMT was scheduled when patients were not receiving antibiotic therapy and considered infection free. The aim of IMT in both groups was to prevent invasive MDRO infections. (See Chapter 3: Development and adaptation of IMT Programme to target MDRO colonised patients.)

#### 4.3.5 Donor Selection and IMT Administration

IMT was administered via nasogastric tube using pre frozen donor stool (see full details in Appendix 3: Preparation and administration of IMT).

# 4.3.6 Comparator Groups

Table 9: List of all cohorts of patients

Group Name	Description
Group 1/Haematology	<b>All</b> patients who received an IMT with an underlying haematological condition where further planned immunosuppression
Group 1a/Haematology (no IMT)	Comparator arm of patients with an underlying haematological condition who did <b>not</b> receive IMT and <b>were</b> MDRO colonised
Group 1/HCT	Haematology patients who received an IMT who underwent an <b>HCT</b> following IMT (subgroup of Group 1/Haematology)
Group 1b/HCT (no IMT)	Comparator arm of patients who received an <b>HCT</b> and <b>did not</b> receive IMT and <b>were</b> MDRO colonised
Group 1c/HCT (no IMT and no MDRO)	Comparator arm of patients who received an HCT and did <b>not</b> receive IMT and <b>were not</b> MDRO colonised
Group 2/Recurrent UTIs	<b>All</b> patients who received an IMT with recurrent MDRO urinary tract infections
Group 2a/Recurrent UTIs (no IMT)	Comparator arm of patients who had more than 4 MDRO episodes of UTI per year from 2015-2019 and <b>did not</b> receive an IMT

A comparator arm analysis was also performed. Comparator patients had clinical profiles similar to both IMT groups, were treated over the same time period, and had previous infection/colonisation with MDROs but were not considered for IMT (lead clinician or

patient choice). Analysis was performed for the first and second 6 months from the first identified MDRO.

## 4.3.6.1 Comparator Group 1a/Haematology

For Group 1a/ haematology patients, comparator patients were selected from a list of patients who were colonised on rectal screening or who had an MDRO bacteraemia between 2015-2019 and had not received IMT; age and sex matching to the IMT group was performed as much as possible. 20 patients were identified in this group. Medical notes were examined for: number of BSI (total and MDRO); days of carbapenem therapy (where available); and length of stay. The notes were examined for a 12-month period from date of first MDRO organism identification and split into 0-6 and 6-12 months from date of MDRO, for analysis purposes.

# 4.3.6.2 Comparator Group 1b/HCT

A further second comparator group was analysed to compare the differences in baseline characteristics of patients who underwent both IMT and HCT (Group1/HCT) and MDRO colonised patients who underwent an HCT only (Group 1b/HCT comparator group)

## 4.3.6.3 Matched pair analysis of Haematology patients.

For Group1/HCT patients two case-control cohort studies were also conducted (in addition to the direct comparison of these groups) to minimize the effects of known covariates on survival. Specifically, using a 2:1 matched pair analysis to account for the small sample size, outcomes of both the Group1/HCT (Underwent IMT and were MDRO colonised) and Group 1b/HCT (No IMT but MDRO colonised) to their respective control cohorts who were not MDRO-colonised (Group 1c/HCT). These were matched for disease type, disease stage, transplant intensity, donor type (matched sibling, matched unrelated, and haploidentical), and age was performed.



*Figure 13: CONSORT diagram of case-cohort analysis of Group1/HCT patients pre and post IMT.* 

Adapted from Innes, Mullish, Ghani et al (2021) Fecal Microbiota Transplant Mitigates Adverse Outcomes Seen in Patients Colonized With Multidrug-Resistant Organisms Undergoing Allogeneic Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol CC BY 4.0 (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0)

#### 4.3.6.4 Comparator Group 2a/Recurrent UTIs

For the Group 2a/ recurrent UTI comparator arm, 20 patients were selected from a list of patients who had more than 4 MDRO episodes of UTI per year from 2015-2019. Age and sex matching to the IMT group was performed as much as possible. This cohort of patients who were under the care of renal or urology services and who had not undergone urological surgery or other interventions in the 12 months from the date of first MDRO UTI. The medical notes were examined for: the number of MDRO urinary tract infections; number of BSI (total and MDRO); days of carbapenem therapy (where available); and length of stay. Again, data were split into 0-6 and 6-12 months from date of MDRO, for analysis purposes.

#### 4.3.7 Outcome Metrics and Statistics

Patients were observed for at least 6 months post-IMT and monitored for MDRO carriage, invasive infection (bloodstream infection [BSI] or UTI), number and days of intravenous and oral antibiotic courses, antibiotic susceptibility of invasive/colonising isolates, and inpatient bed days. Days of antibiotic therapy, infection episodes, and length of stay in the 6 months pre- and post-IMT were recorded from clinical notes/electronic prescription charts. Multidrug-resistant organism decolonisation was assessed by serial rectal swab or stool sample analysis for at least 6 months post-IMT via opportunistic screening at clinic appointments.

#### 4.3.8 Statistical methods

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism version 9.3. Wilcoxon signed pairs rank test was used to assess statistical significance, for nonparametric data between the two time periods for each patient. Probabilities of survival were calculated using the Kaplan–Meier method, with the log-rank test utilized for comparison of groups; probabilities of NRM were calculated using the cumulative incidence procedure, with disease progression being the competing risk. Gray's test was used to compare groups. Days of fever were normalized for days of hospital admission, and compared by unpaired, non-parametric testing (Mann–Whitney U-test). Patient and transplant characteristics were compared using Fisher's exact test and the Mann-Whitney U-test as appropriate. P-values <0.05 were taken as statistically significant.

### 4.4 Results

# 4.4.1 Baseline characteristics of Group 1 and Group 2 IMT recipients:

# 4.4.1.1 Colonising MDRO of all IMT recipients (Group 1/Haematology and Group 2/Recurrent UTIs)

Table 10: All IMT patients' underlying condition and associated MDRO.

Patient Demographics		Underlying diagnosis	Colonising/invasive
			organism
Group	33M	Acute myeloid	<i>E. coli</i> ESBL (meropenem
1/Haematology		leukaemia	resistant)
	68F	Acute myeloid	E. coli NDM
		leukaemia	
	68M	Acute myeloid	E. coli GES5
		leukaemia	
	59M	Chronic myeloid	C. freundii OXA-48
		leukaemia	
	63M	Mycosis fungoides	K. pneumoniae OXA-48
	54M	Diffuse large B cell	C. freundii OXA-48
		lymphoma	Vancomycin resistant
			enterococci

	17F	Sickle cell disease and	Vancomycin resistant
		gut GVHD	enterococci
	70M	Acute myeloid	Vancomycin resistant
		leukaemia	enterococci
	63M	Acute lymphoblastic	<i>K. oxytoca</i> GES5
		leukaemia	
	55M	Chronic myeloid	E. coli IMP-1
		leukaemia	
	59M	Acute myeloid	K. pneumoniae OXA-48
		leukaemia	
Group	89F	Recurrent UTI/ CDI	<i>E. coli</i> ESBL
2/Recurrent UTIs			C. difficile
	90F	Recurrent UTI/CDI	<i>E. coli</i> ESBL
			C. difficile
	80F	Recurrent UTI/CDI	<i>E. coli</i> ESBL
			C. difficile
	90F	Recurrent UTI/CDI	E. coli ESBL

		C. difficile
59F	Recurrent UTI/Renal	K. pneumoniae ESBL
	transplant	
62M	Recurrent UTI/Renal	<i>E. coli</i> ESBL
	transplant	
60F	Recurrent UTI/Renal	<i>E. coli</i> ESBL
	transplant	
51F	Recurrent UTI/Renal	K. pneumoniae ESBL
	transplant	
78M	Recurrent UTI/Renal	<i>E. coli</i> ESBL
	transplant	C. freundii OXA-48

## 4.4.1.2 Group 1/ Haematology Group Baseline Characteristics

Of 11 patients with an underlying haematologic disorder, six had an MDRO BSI pre-IMT, and nine patients had prolonged admissions (range 6-20 weeks) complicated by septic episodes. Patients were colonised with CPE (8), VRE (3) or ESBL (2) as detected on rectal screening. None of these patients received antibiotic therapy between the IMT and hematopoietic cell infusion. In one patient, IMT was delayed until three days after the hematopoietic cell infusion due to pre-transplant infection requiring antibiotic therapy.

## 4.4.1.3 Group 2/ Recurrent UTIs Baseline Characteristics

Nine patients underwent IMT for recurrent ESBL UTIs (seven patients with *Escherichia coli* and two *Klebsiella pneumoniae*). This included four patients with rCDI co-infection and five

patients with renal transplantation. The renal transplant patients had each required inpatient stay of >2 months duration within the preceding year with infection-related graft dysfunction; three patients had received multiple prolonged courses of intravenous antibiotics administered via the outpatient parenteral antibiotic team.

# 4.4.1.3.1 Comparator arm Baseline Characteristics

Twenty patients were included for Group 1a/ haematology and 20 for Group 2a/Recurrent UTI analysis. 12 of the 20 comparator Group 1a/ haematology patients had further chemotherapy, including allogeneic (4) or autologous (1) hematopoietic cell transplantation during the 12 months of analysis after their first isolated MDRO. Eight patients were diagnosed with MDRO colonisation or infection during their admission for hematopoietic cell transplantation. Seven of the 20 comparator Group 1a/ haematology patients died within the 12-month study period from date of first MDRO, one of whom received an 11month course of outpatient parenteral tigecycline prior to death. Of the 20 comparator Group 2a/ recurrent UTI patients, all were under active follow-up with either renal or urology services and included 18 patients with previous renal transplantation. There were no significant differences seen over time in any of the clinical domains analysed in either of the comparator groups examined.

# 4.4.1.3.2 Comparison of Group 1b/HCT comparator group baseline characteristics.

A table was constructed to compare the differences in baseline characteristics of patients who underwent both IMT and HCT (Group1/HCT) and MDRO colonised patients who underwent an HCT only (Group 1b/HCT comparator group). The Karnofsky Performance Status (KPS) is a widely used method to assess the functional status of a patient. The European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation (EBMT) risk score provides a tool to assess instantly chances and risks of (HCT) for an individual patient pre-transplant.

		Group 1b/HCT	
		comparator group (n	
Characteristic	Group1/HCT (n = 8)	= 11)	Р

Patient age (years) (Median, range)	61.9 (33-70)	59.8 (31-66)	0.32
Diagnosis to HCT (years) (Median, range)	0.8 (0.3-9.6)	0.5 (0.3-13.3)	0.89
Disease			
CML	2 (25%)	2 (18%)	
AML/MDS	3 (38%)	7 (64%)	0.68
ALL	2 (25%)	1 (9%)	
T-cell lymphoma	1 (13%)	1 (9%)	
Disease Risk Index (EBMT)			
Low	4 (50%)	7 (64%)	
Intermediate	4 (50%)	2 (18%)	0.89
High	0	2 (18%)	
Karnofsky score at HCT.			
<=80%	3 (38%)	2 (18%)	
90%	3 (38%)	3 (27%)	0.27
100%	2 (25%)	6 (55%)	
Donor type			
Matched sibling	3 (38%)	4 (36%)	
Matched unrelated	4 (50%)	4 (36%)	0.71
Haploidentical	1 (12%)	3 (27%)	

Conditioning			
Reduced intensity	7 (88%)	7 (64%)	0.34
Myeloablative	1 (13%)	4 (36%)	
Patient - Donor sex match			
Female into male	1 (13%)	2 (18%)	1.00
Other	7 (88%)	9 (82%)	
CMV donor/recipient			
negative to negative	2 (25%)	2 (18%)	
positive to negative.	0	1 (9%)	0.62
negative to positive	3 (38%)	2 (18%)	
positive to positive	3 (38%)	6 (55%)	
HCT - comorbidity index			
0	1 (13%)	3 (27%)	
1 or 2	4 (50%)	4 (36%)	0.45
>=3	3 (37%)	4 (36%)	
Year of HCT			
<2018	3 (38%)	7 (64%)	0.37
>2017	5 (62%)	4 (36%)	

Table 11: Comparison of MDRO colonised patients who underwent an IMT followed by an HCT with MDRO colonised patients who underwent HCT only.

# 4.4.1.3.3 Comparison of baseline characteristics for the matched pair group analysis of HCT patients.

Table 12: Demographics and further clinical details of MDRO-colonised HCT recipients and controls who did not receive an IMT.

	Group 1b/HCT comparator	Group 1c/HCT	
Characteristic	group (n = 11)	(n = 21)	Р
Patient age (years)			
(Median, range)	59.8 (31-66)	51.4 (31-73)	0.24
Diagnosis to HCT (years)			
(Median, range)	0.5 (0.3-13.3)	0.7 (0.2-21)	0.82
Disease			
CML	2 (18%)	5 (24%)	
AML/MDS	7 (64%)	12 (57%)	0.91
ALL	1 (9%)	2 (10%)	
T-cell lymphoma	1 (9%)	2 (10%)	

Disease Risk Index (EBMT)			
Low	7 (64%)	10 (47%)	
Intermediate	2 (18%)	9 (43%)	0.62
High	2 (18%)	2 (9%)	
Karnofsky score at HCT.			
<=80%	2 (18%)	2 (10%)	
90%	3 (27%)	7 (35%)	0.89
100%	6 (55%)	11 (55%)	
Donor type			
Matched sibling	4 (36%)	9 (43%)	0.86
Matched unrelated	4 (36%)	8 (38%)	
Haploidentical	3 (27%)	4 (19%)	
Conditioning			

Reduced intensity	7 (64%)	13 (62%)	0.92
Myeloablative	4 (36%)	8 (38%)	
Patient - Donor sex match			
Female into male	2 (18%)	3 (14%)	0.77
Other	9 (82%)	18 (86%)	
CMV donor/recipient			
nogativo to nogativo	2 (18%)	4 (19%)	
positive to negative.	1 (9%)	4 (19%)	0.89
negative to positive	2 (18%)	3 (14%)	
positive to positive	6 (55%)	10 (48%)	
HCT - comorbidity index			
0	3 (27%)	6 (29%)	0.73
1 or 2	4 (36%)	10 (48%)	
>=3	4 (36%)	5 (24%)	
-------------	---------	----------	------
Year of HCT			
<2018	7 (64%)	15 (71%)	0.39
>2017	4 (36%)	6 (29%)	

Table 13. Demographics and further clinical details of IMT MDRO-colonised HCT recipients and controls

	Group1/HCT (n =		
Characteristic	8)	Group 1c/HCT (n = 16)	Р
Patient age (years)			
(Median, range)	61.9 (33-70)	59.2 (31-73)	0.65
Diagnosis to HCT (years)			
(Median, range)	0.8 (0.3-9.6)	0.6 (0.3-13)	0.82
Disease			
CML	2 (25%)	4 (25%)	
AML/MDS	3 (38%)	6 (38%)	1.00
ALL	2 (25%)	4 (25%)	
T-cell lymphoma	1 (13%)	2 (13%)	
Disease Risk Index (EBMT)			
Low	4 (50%)	8 (50%)	1.00
Intermediate	4 (50%)	8 (50%)	
High	0	0	
Karnofsky score at HCT.			
<=80%	3 (38%)	6 (40%)	

109

90%	3 (38%)	1 (7%)	0.15
100%	2 (25%)	8 (53%)	
Donor type			
Matched sibling	3 (38%)	3 (38%)	
Matched unrelated	4 (50%)	4 (50%)	1.00
Haploidentical	1 (12%)	1 (12%)	
Conditioning			
Reduced intensity	7 (88%)	12 (75%)	0.63
Myeloablative	1 (13%)	4 (25%)	
Patient - Donor sex match			
Female into male	1 (13%)	2 (13%)	0.96
Other	7 (88%)	13 (87%)	
CMV donor/recipient			
negative to negative	2 (25%)	2 (13%)	
positive to negative.	0	1 (7%)	0.81
negative to positive	3 (38%)	6 (40%)	
positive to positive	3 (38%)	6 (40%)	
HCT - comorbidity index			
0	1 (13%)	3 (19%)	
1 or 2	4 (50%)	6 (38%)	0.83
>=3	3 (37%)	7 (44%)	
Year of HCT			
<2018	3 (38%)	10 (63%)	0.39
>2017	5 (62%)	6 (37%)	

# 4.4.2 Clinical outcomes for Group 1/Haematology and Group 2/Recurrent UTIs (Both IMT groups)

All patients tolerated IMT well with no serious adverse events. Mild adverse effects included self-limiting constipation, bloating, and diarrhoea

# 4.4.2.1 Group1/Haematology Clinical Outcomes

Table 14: Baseline characteristics, clinical outcomes six months pre and post IMT for patients with an underlying haematological disorder

	Bac	ckground				Pre IMT						P	ost IMT			
Ag e /S	date of IMT	Underl ying diagnos is	Colonisi ng Organis m	Recent inpatient admission prior to IMT	Days of admiss ion	Invasive MDRO infection pre IMT	No of MD RO BSIs	No of BSI s tot al	Days of Merope nem	Inpatien t admissio n post IMT	Days of admiss ion	Invasive MDRO infectio n post IMT	Days of Merope nem	No. of MD RO BSIs	No of BSI s tot al	?Intestina I decolonis ation
33 M	04/10/2 018	Acute myeloi d leukae mia	ESBL <i>E</i> coli merope nem resistant	15 /52 during pre-stem cell transplant (HCT) chemothe rapy	105	ESBL meropen em resistant <i>Klebsiella</i> <i>pneumon</i> <i>ia</i> 6 /52 of Meropen em and Colistin	0	2	42	Six-week admissio n post Allo-HCT	42	VRE bacterae mia 2 /52 Linezolid only	10	1	1	No

68 F	20/03/2 017	Acute myeloi d leukae mia	<i>E coli</i> NDM	16 /52 during pre HCT chemothe rapy	112	Recurren t <i>E. coli</i> NDM bacterae mia. 2 courses of Meropen em and Colistin	0	0	17	Decease d 6 /52 post IMT (not related to sepsis)	42	No	D18	0	0	No
68 M	30/08/2 018	Acute myeloi d leukae mia	<i>E coli</i> GES 5	3 /52 during chemothe rapy	21	None	0	0	0	None	0	No	0	0	0	Yes
59 M	12/05/2 017	Chronic myeloi d leukae mia	Citrobac ter freundii OXA-48	10 /52 during pre HCT chemothe rapy	70	VRE bacterae mia 2 /52 of Colistin and Daptomy cin	1	2	19	4 /52 post Allo-HCT	28	No	14	0	1	No
63 M	07/02/2 018	Mycosi s fungoid es	<i>Klebsiell</i> <i>a</i> pneumo niae OXA-48	6 /52 during pre HCT chemothe rapy	42	2 /52 of Meropen em and Colistin	0	0	15	3 /52 post Allo-HCT	21	No	13	0	0	No

54 M	10/12/2 018	Diffuse large B cell lympho ma	Citrobac ter freundii OXA48 VRE	20 /52 during chemothe rapy	140	VRE bacterae mia Required Intensive Care support	2	3	61	4 /52 post radiothe rapy	28	No	2	0	1	No
17 F	02/04/2 019	Sickle Cell disease and Gut GvHD	Vancom ycin resistant <i>Enteroco cci</i>	14 /52	98	Eight courses of antibiotic s for non neutropa enic fevers		5	43	2 /52	14	No	0	0	0	yes
70 M	18/07/2 018	Acute myeloi d leukae mia	Vancom ycin resistant <i>Enteroco cci</i>	8 /52 during pre HCT chemothe rapy	56	VRE bacterae mia 2 /52 Meropen em and Linezolid	2	2	14	4 /52 post Allo-HCT	28	No	0	0	2	Yes
63 M	11/03/2 016	Acute lympho id leukae mia	Klebsiell a oxytoca GES 5	12 /52 during pre HCT chemothe rapy	84	Recurren t courses of Meropen em	0	0	n/a	4 /52 post Allo-HCT	28	No	n/a	0	1	Yes

55 M	26/06/2 019	Chronic myeloi d leukae mia	<i>E. coli</i> IMP-1	9 /52 during pre-HCT chemothe rapy	63	29 days of Meropen em (2 /52 at high dose)	0	0	29	4 /52 post allo-HCT	28	No	6	0	1	VRE (not isolated pre-IMT)
59 M	08/08/2 019	Acute myeloi d leukae mia	Klebsiell a pneumo niae OXA-48	4 /52	28	Klebsiella pneumo niae OXA-48 bacterae mia 2 /52 of Colistin 11 days of high dose Meropen em 9 days of Ceftazadi me- Avibacta m	1	2	11	4 /52 post allo-HCT	28	No	0	0	1	Yes

# 4.4.2.2 Group2/Recurrent UTI Clinical Outcome

Table 15: Baseline characteristics, clinical outcomes six months pre and post IMT for patients who experienced recurrent UTIs

	Вас	kground				Pre	-IMT							Post-IMT	-			
Ag e /S ex	Date of IMT	Underl ying diagno sis	Colonisi ng Organis m	Recen t inpati ent admis sion prior to IMT	Days of admis sion	Invasive MDRO infectio n pre IMT	No of MD RO BSIs	No of BS Is tot al	No of MD RO UTIs over 6 mon ths	Days of Merop enem	Inpatie nt admissi on post IMT	Days of admis sion	Invasiv e MDRO infectio n post IMT	Days of Merop enem	No. of MD RO BSIs	No of BS Is tot al	No of MD RO UTIs over 6 mon ths	?Intestin al decoloni sation
89 F	25/08/ 2017	Recurr ent UTI/ <i>C.diff</i>	ESBL E coli	n/a*	n/a	Recurre nt ESBL UTI	0	0	2	n/a	n/a*	0	No	0	0	0	0	Yes
90 F	20/04/ 2017	Recurr ent UTI/ <i>C.diff</i>	ESBL E. coli	n/a*	n/a	Recurre nt ESBL UTI	0	0	2	n/a	n/a*	0	No	0	0	0	0	Yes
80 F	20/05/ 2019	Recurr ent UTI/ <i>C.diff</i>	ESBL E. coli	n/a*	0	2x ESBL <i>E. coli</i> bactera emia)	2	2	2	n/a	n/a*	0	No	0	0	0	2	n/a

90 F	19/09/ 2019	Recurr ent UTI/ <i>C.diff</i>	ESBL <i>Ecoli</i>	n/a*	n/a	Recurre nt ESBL UTI	0	0	2	n/a	n/a*	0	No	0	0	0	0	n/a
59 F	16/08/ 2018	Renal transpl ant /Recur rent UTI	ESBL Klebsiel la pneum onia	16/52 inpati ent 6/52 OPAT	112	2 x ESBL Klebsiell a pneumo nia bactera emia	2	2	4	87	2/52 IP 6/52 OPAT	14	ESBL <i>E. coli</i> bactera emia 6/52 Ertapen em	45	1	1	3	No
62 M	08/03/ 2019	Renal transpl ant /Recur rent UTI	ESBL E. coli	10 /52	70	10 /12 ESBL <i>E.</i> <i>coli</i> UTIs Merope nem	1	2	6	51	None related to sepsis (dialysis depend ent post septica emia)	0	No	0	0	0	0	Yes

60 F	21/03/ 2019	Renal transpl ant /Recur rent UTI	ESBL <i>E.</i> coli	4 /52 as inpati ent 16 /52 on outpat ient parent al therap y	28	5 months of carbape nem therapy for recurre nt ESBL UTI over one year	1	2	5	92	2 /52	14	No	28	1	1	1	No
51 F	24/06/ 2019	Renal transpl ant /Recur rent UTI	ESBL <i>Klebsiel la</i> pneum oniae	13.5 /52	94.5	12 courses of treatme nt for ESBL UTI over a year	0	0	6	n/a	16 /52	112	Yes	n/a	0	0	5	No
78 M	25/09/ 2018	Renal transpl ant /Recur rent UTI	ESBL E coli <i>Citroba cter</i> OXA-48	4 /52 inpati ent 8/12 OPAT over one year	42	10 ESBL <i>E. coli</i> UTIs over one year	0	0	6	163	2 /52	14	No further ESBL detecte d in urine. followi ng second FMT	0	0	0	1	No

# 4.4.2.3 Bloodstream infections

Across both IMT groups, there was a significant reduction in the number of BSIs 6 months after IMT. This was the case for both MDRO BSIs (P = 0.047) and all BSIs (P = 0.03) (n = 20). The reduction in BSIs was not seen in the comparator group (BSI across all patients, P = .24; n = 40; MDRO BSI for group 1 comparator arm only, P = 0.28; n = 20).

## 4.4.2.4 Length of stay

There was a significant reduction in inpatient length of stay post-IMT in both IMT groups (pre-IMT median =  $70 \pm 35$  days, post-IMT median =  $28 \pm 26$  days; P = 0.0002; n = 16). This was also not seen in comparator patients (P = 0.16, n = 40). One patient was an overseas patient (outlier in Figure 14 C) so had a prolonged admission due to visa issues.

## 4.4.2.5 Antibiotic usage

Patients had significantly reduced carbapenem use post-IMT (pre-IMT median =  $36 \pm 44$  days, post-IMT median =  $4 \pm 13$  days; P = .0005; n = 14) which was again not seen in comparator patients (P = .61; n = 32).

## 4.4.2.6 MDRO decolonisation

Seven of 17 (41%) patients were no longer colonised with MDROs on rectal screening following IMT (follow-up range: 6 weeks–24 months).



Figure 14: Ladder plots demonstrating clinical outcomes for patients pre and post IMT.

Clinical outcomes. A, Number of MDRO BSIs 6 months pre- and post-IMT (\*P = 0.047; n = 20). B, Number of all BSIs 6 months pre- and post-IMT (\*P = 0.03; n = 20). C, Length of inpatient stay (days) 6 months pre- and post-IMT (pre-IMT = 70  $\pm$  35 days [median  $\pm$  SD], post-IMT = 28  $\pm$  26 days; \*\*\*P = 0.0002; n = 16; incomplete data available for 4 patients). D, Number of days of carbapenem use 6 months pre- and post-IMT (pre-IMT = 36  $\pm$  44 days [median  $\pm$  SD], post-IMT = 4  $\pm$  13 days; \*\*\*P = 0.0005; n = 14; incomplete data available for 6 patients). E, Number of MDRO UTIs 6 months pre- and post-IMT in group 2 (pre-IMT median = 4  $\pm$  2 episodes, post-IMT median = 1  $\pm$  2 episodes; \*\*P = 0.008; n = 9).

## 4.4.3 Clinical outcomes for IMT patients versus comparator arms

There was no significance difference seen in the first 6 months since first MDRO isolate (0-6) compared to the second 6 months (6-12) for:

- The number of MDRO BSI in comparator Group 1a/ haematology patients (P = 0.28, n=20).
- The total number of BSI, comparator Group 1a/ haematology and Group 2/ Recurrent UTI groups (P = 0.24 n=40)
- The length of stay, comparator Group 1a/ haematology and Group 2/ Recurrent UTI groups (P = 0.16, n=40).
- The number of days of carbapenem therapy, comparator Group 1a/ haematology and Group 2/ Recurrent UTI groups (P = 0.16, n=32; full data unavailable for 8 patients).
- The number of positive MDRO urine samples in comparator Group 2/ Recurrent UTI patients (P = 0.18, n=20).



*Figure 15: MDRO colonised comparator group (no IMT): outcomes compared between the first and second 6 months from the first identified MDRO.* 

A) the number of MDRO BSI in comparator Group 1/ haematology patients (P = 0.28, n=20); B) total number of BSI, comparator Group 1/ haematology and Group 2/ recurrent UTI groups (P = 0.24 n=40); C) length of stay, comparator Group 1/ haematology and Group 2/ recurrent UTI groups (P = 0.16, n=40); D) days of carbapenem therapy, comparator Group 1/ haematology and Group 2/ recurrent UTI groups (P = 0.16, n=32; full data unavailable for 8 patients); E) the number of positive MDRO urine samples in comparator Group 2/ recurrent UTI patients (P = 0.18, n=20). NS: non-significant.

# 4.4.4 Clinical outcomes for Group 1/Haematology patients versus comparator groups

# 4.4.4.1 Clinical outcomes for Group 1/Haematology patients compared with Group 1a/Haematology comparator group.

Post-IMT, 8 patients underwent an allogeneic HCT. All Group 1/ patients had shorter inpatient stays (P = 0.002) and fewer days on carbapenems compared with the preceding 6 months (P = 0.002). This reduction was not seen in Group 1a/ comparator patients (P = 0.48; n = 20). One patient undergoing HCT post-IMT developed an MDRO BSI caused by a different organism from their previous colonising organism. This BSI was treated with a shorter course of antibiotics relative to their pre-IMT infections (42 days pre-IMT, 10 days post-IMT).

# 4.4.4.2 Clinical outcomes for Group1/HCT compared with Group 1b/HCT comparator group.

The probability of survival of Group1/HCT was 70% at 12 months, compared to 36% in MDRO-patients who did not (P=0.044). Fewer Group1/HCT needed an admission to the intensive care unit for inotropic support or respiratory failure (0% versus 46%, P=0.045) than Group 1b/HCT comparator group. Group1/HCT patients had fewer days of fever when normalized for the number of admission days (i.e., number of days with fever divided by total number of admission days) (0.11 versus 0.29 days, P=0.027) than Group 1b comparator group.



Figure 16: Kaplan-Meier curve of overall survival in MDRO-colonised HCT patients who underwent IMT (n=8) and those who did not (n=11).



Figure 17: Comparison of days of fever in MDRO colonised HCT patients who underwent IMT (IMT/MDRO) vs those who did not (No IMT/MDRO).

Causes of death were classified as clinical infection in one Group1/HCT, and in five MDROpatients in the Group 1b/HCT comparator group. One additional patient in the Group 1b/HCT comparator group died of infection on a background of graft-versus-host disease, and one of veno-occlusive disease/sinusoidal obstruction syndrome. One patient in the Group1/HCT and two in the Group 1b/HCT comparator group died of relapse of their malignancy. The one MDRO-patient who died of clinical infection in the Group1/HCT had no positive blood cultures or other positive bacteriology findings during the two weeks prior to death. Of the five MDRO-patients who died of clinical infection in the Group 1b/HCT comparator group, three died with MDRO bloodstream infection, and one with MDRO pneumonia. One died with from a *Candida albicans* BSI (with no bacterial growth), and one MDRO-patient's blood cultures were sterile during the two weeks prior to death.

Within this subgroup, two of eight (25%) Group1/HCT achieved MDRO decolonisation; (in one patient, a new MDRO (different from the original isolate) became detectable). Two of eleven (11%) Group 1b/HCT comparator spontaneously decolonised.

#### 4.4.4.3 Matched Pair Analysis Studies of Group1/HCT patients

Patients who were not given an IMT but were colonised with an MDRO had significantly lower survival than their paired cohort not colonised with MDRO (36.4% versus 61.9% respectively, P=0.012) at 12 months. In contrast, there was no statistical difference in survival between the patients who were MDRO colonised and received an IMT, Group1/HCT, and their paired cohort not colonised with MDRO, Group 1c/HCT (70% versus 43.4%, P=0.14). Similarly, NRM at 12 months was higher in patients who were not given an IMT but were colonised with an MDRO (60.2%) than in their matched controls (16.7%, P=0.009), but there was no significant difference in NRM between MDRO colonised patients given an IMT group (Group1/HCT) (12.5%) and their matched controls (Group 1c/HCT) (31.2%, P=0.24).



Figure 18: Kaplan-Meier curve of overall survival in patients colonised with MDROs in comparison to matched controls who were not colonised.



Figure 19: Kaplan-Meier curve of overall survival in patients colonised with MDROs who underwent IMT in comparison to matched controls who were not MDRO colonised.

# 4.4.5 Group 2/ Recurrent UTI patient

There was a significant reduction in frequency of MDRO UTIs post-IMT (see Figure 20) (pre-IMT median =  $4 \pm 2$  episodes, post-IMT median =  $1 \pm 2$  episodes; P = 0.008; n = 9. This was not seen in the Group 2 comparator arm (P = 0.18; n = 20). Only 1 patient with recurrent CDI/UTI coinfection developed a further ESBL UTI 6 months post-IMT. Three renal transplant patients had a marked reduction in days of antibiotics and both inpatient and outpatient attendances post-IMT. Of note, two patients required inpatient antibiotic therapy immediately post-IMT for ESBL-driven infection (for both patients, urine collected at the time of IMT was culture-positive for ESBL organisms); this may have impacted the efficacy of the IMT. One patient underwent a second IMT after a 6-month interval, resulting in no further MDRO UTI during the study period.



Figure 20: Number of MDRO UTIS 6 months pre- and post-IMT in Group 2 patients

Number of MDRO UTIs 6 months pre- and post-IMT in group 2 (pre-IMT median =  $4 \pm 2$  episodes, post-IMT median =  $1 \pm 2$  episodes; \*\**P* = 0.008; n = 9)

#### 4.5 Discussion

#### 4.5.1 Main findings

The major novel finding of the study was the significant post-IMT reductions in inpatient bed days, bacteraemias and antibiotic use in both the haematology and recurrent UTI cohort despite modest rates of intestinal decolonisation. The low rate of decolonisation is in line with the existing literature and did not necessarily correlate with whether the incidence of clinical infection was reduced.

Particularly notable was the reduction in BSI in haematology patients, where no patients developed bacteraemia with their pre-IMT colonising bacteria, despite ongoing systemically active chemotherapy and/or immunosuppression, including allogeneic HCT. This observation starkly contrasts with the group 1a comparator arm (Comparator arm of patients with an underlying haematological condition who did not receive IMT and were MDRO colonised), where there was no reduction in BSI over time, and a marked number of deaths, findings that require further analysis. In patients with recurrent UTI, there was difficulty establishing an infection-free window in which to perform IMT for some patients. Nevertheless, there was a significant reduction in antibiotic use and use of oral antibiotics rather than intravenous. In 1 case, a second IMT was performed, with improved effectiveness.

In the closer look at the haematology patients who underwent an HCT and the matched-pair study, IMT mitigated the worse outcomes seen in MDRO-colonised post-HCT patients, including survival, their survival was similar to those not colonised with an MDRO unlike the cohort of patients colonised with an MDRO who did not undergo IMT who had worse survival. Part of this appears likely attributable to IMT-related impact on infective complications after HCT, although the benefits of IMT may be more broad-reaching then just the prevention of invasive MDRO disease. For instance, one interesting observation was that whilst most patients in both MDRO groups developed fevers that were treated with antimicrobials as per institutional protocol, there was a clear reduction in the number of days of fever in patients who had received IMT; one interpretation could be that these patients were more responsive to conventional anti-infective treatment. This observation is further supported by the lower requirement for intensive care support in the IMT group, and the lower rate of death from sepsis. Importantly, IMT was also well tolerated in this cohort of immunosuppressed patients, with no serious adverse events, confirming the applicability of its use in immunosuppressed patients.

The matched cohort analysis of those colonised with MDRO, also reflects previous findings from other groups that MDRO colonisation is associated with a poor outcome in the setting of HCT(249). The results from this study also suggest that although the findings that were accrued in patients with detectable MDRO in the intestinal microbiome, these benefits may be more broadly applicable. Due to their previous exposure to broad spectrum antibiotics, chemotherapy, and/or the underlying disease process itself, prospective HCT recipients are recognized to have a relative decrease in diversity of commensal bacteria which are recognized to play a role in immune recovery. IMT may provide comparable clinical benefits even in HCT patients who are not colonised with MDROs.

#### 4.5.2 Limitations

The sample size was non-randomised with certain discrepancies between clinical characteristics. One limitation of this study was the fact that as Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust was a tertiary centre for both haematology and renal care, therefore follow up for many patients including assessment of colonisation status could only be performed opportunistically at their preassigned follow up clinical appointments. Monitoring of

127

antibiotic use pre and post IMT was restricted as there was no access to antibiotics supplied in the community by General Practitioners (GPs). Infection was not fully prevented in the renal group, and factors such as structural abnormalities in renal transplant patients may have been contributed. However, delayed onset of efficacy of IMT seems to be apparent and requires further work to be fully understood. Pre-IMT antibiotic choices varied widely between patients, therefore may have had an impact on the pre-IMT microbiota composition. The broader impact of FMT on use of World Health Organization "Restrict" and "Watch" group antibiotics merits exploration in future studies.

# Chapter 5: Analysis of the metataxonomic and metagenomic profile of the gut microbiota pre and post Intestinal Microbiota Transplantation.

# 5.1 Introduction

Chapter Four demonstrates a clinical benefit to patients who received IMT in both prevention of invasive disease and decreasing the frequency of infections in patients who had previously experienced MDRO invasive disease from bacteria that commonly colonise the intestinal microbiota. The reasons for the effect of this are not clear, although it is accepted that IMT restores the gut microbiota of critically altered gut ecosystem back to a premorbid state, the underlying mechanisms for this are not clear. To explore this, we took a holistic view of the microbiome, considering both the commensal and pathogenic bacteria residing within the gut via metagenomics, and utilising metataxonomics to evaluate the overall diversity of these bacteria.

# 5.2 Sample collection.

In order to be able to extrapolate the findings to a more heterogeneous population, we liaised with groups in Poland and Israel who were also involved in IMT in MDRO colonised patients and were able to receive patient samples to increase the samples size for the mechanistic studies.

# 5.2.1.1 Initial data set (United Kingdom)

The initial data set was collected in the UK at Imperial College from MDRO colonised participants pre and post IMT and donors. The sample set was as follows.

- Ten patients with stool samples pre and post IMT.
- Five donor stool samples
- Seven unmatched MDRO colonised stool samples (grouped with the pre-IMT cohort)
  - These were patients who were assessed for an IMT but did not end up receiving one.

Samples were taken prior to IMT and collected for at least 6 months (range 15- 266 days) post-IMT via opportunistic screening at clinic appointments. Samples were collected using a

FECOTAINER<sup>®</sup> collection device. Within two hours of sample donation, faecal samples were separated into twelve equal aliquots and frozen at -80°C in an Ultra-Low temperature freezer until processing for analysis consistently with standard protocols.

# 5.2.1.2 Israeli data set

Further samples were sent from Haifa, Israel from a prospective, interventional, cohort study at a single tertiary centre (Rambam Health Care Campus [RHCC]) preformed between February 2018 and April 2019 (99). The sample set consisted of

- 13 IMT recipient stool samples were all colonised with CPE. The samples were collected before IMT and at 14 days post IMT.
- Six donor stool samples
- Six unmatched CPE colonised stool samples (grouped with the pre-IMT cohort)

Faeces were delivered from Israel to London, the transfer took less than 24 hours and samples were kept in dry ice. All samples were kept at -80 °C until sample preparation for further analysis was performed.

# 5.2.1.3 Polish data set

These were samples taken from primarily Haematology patients from Warsaw, Poland. The sample set consisted of thirteen patients colonised with an MDRO with stool samples pre and post IMT at several time points (7,14 or 28 days).

These samples were delivered from Poland to London, the transfer took less than 24 hours and samples were kept in dry ice. All samples were kept at -80 °C until sample preparation for further analysis was performed.

# 5.2.1.4 Clinical and demographic characteristics of entire sample cohort

							No of pos	No of
	Countr		Associate	Underlyi			t-	days
Type of	y of	Colonising MDR	d MDRO	ng		Ag	IM	post
patient	origin	bacteria	gene	condition	Sex	е	Т	IMT

*Table 16: Characteristics of entire patient cohort* 

							sa mp les	
IMT	Israel	Klebsiella pneumoniae	OXA-48	No data	м	27	1	14
IMT	Israel	Enterobacter cloacae & Citrobacter freundii	КРС	No data	M	70	1	14
IMT	Israel	Klebsiella pneumoniae	КРС	No data	М	75	1	14
IMT	Israel	Klebsiella pneumoniae	КРС	No data	F	60	1	14
IMT	Israel	Enterobacter hormechai	КРС	No data	М	49	1	14
IMT	Israel	Klebsiella pneumoniae	OXA-48	No data	М	48	1	14
IMT	Israel	Klebsiella pneumoniae	OXA-48	No data	М	68	1	14
IMT	Israel	Klebsiella oxytoca	КРС	No data	F	21	1	28
IMT	Israel	Serratia marcescens	КРС	No data	F	81	1	14
IMT	Israel	Serratia marcescens	КРС	Haematol ogy	М	59	1	14
IMT	Israel	Klebsiella pneumoniae	OXA-48	No data	М	23	1	14
IMT	Israel	Escherichia coli	NDM	No data	Μ	50	1	14
IMT	Israel	Klebsiella pneumoniae	КРС	No data	М	65	1	14
Donor	Israeli	N/A	N/A	N/A	No dat a	No dat a	N/ A	N/A
Donor	Israeli	N/A	N/A	N/A	No dat a	No dat a	N/ A	N/A
Donor	Israeli	N/A	N/A	N/A	No dat a	No dat a	N/ A	N/A
Donor	Israeli	N/A	N/A	N/A	No dat a	No dat a	N/ A	N/A
Donor	Israeli	N/A	N/A	N/A	No dat a	No dat a	N/ A	N/A
Donor	Israeli	N/A	N/A	N/A	No dat a	No dat a	N/ A	N/A

MDRO					No	No	N/	
colonised	Israeli	No data	No data	No data	dat a	dat a	A	N/A
MDRO	lorden		ite data	no data	No	No	NI /	
colonised					dat	dat	Ν/ Δ	N/A
No IMT	Israeli	No data	No data	No data	а	а	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	
MDRO					No	No	N/	NI / A
No IMT	Israeli	No data	No data	No data	uat a	a	А	N/A
MDRO	Israeli		No data	No data	No	No		
colonised					dat	dat	N/	N/A
No IMT	Israeli	No data	No data	No data	а	а	А	
MDRO					No	No	N/	
colonised	Icroali	No data	No data	No data	dat	dat	Â	N/A
	Israeli	NOUdla	NO Udla	NO UALA	d No	a No		
colonised					dat	dat	N/	N/A
No IMT	Israeli	No data	No data	No data	а	а	A	,
								28,86,
				- ·				247,4
IMT	British	E coli	ESBL	Renal	Μ	78	4	31
INAT	Britich	KIEDSIEIIO	FSRI	Ronal	F	51	1	1/
	DITUSI	pheumonide	LJDL	Haematol		51	4	40.15
IMT	British	E coli	IMP-1	ogy	М	55	2	9
		Klebsiella	010-48	Haematol				
IMT	British	pneumoniae		ogy	Μ	59	1	116
18.47	Dritich	Entorococci faccium	VRE	Haematol	5.4	70	h	41,15
	BIILISII	Enterococci juecium		Haematol	IVI	70	Z	9 
IMT	British	E coli	GES 5	ogy	М	68	2	197
								15,
								56,
IMT	British	E coli	ESBL	Renal	F	59	3	165
			meropene	Haamatal				04
IMT	British	E coli	resistant		М	33	2	04, 182
	British	Klebsiella		Haematol				102
IMT	British	pneumoniae	OXA-48	ogy	М	54	1	131
								266,
IMT	British	E coli	ESBL	Renal	F	61	2	466
Donor	Dritich		NI / A	NI / A	5.4	20	N/	N/A
DOHOF	BIILISH	IN/A	N/A	IN/A	IVI	28	A N/	
Donor	British	N/A	N/A	N/A	М	40	A	N/A
						-	N/	N1 / A
Donor	British	N/A	N/A	N/A	F	29	Α	N/A

Donor	British	N/A	N/A	N/A	F	24	N/ A	N/A
Donor	British	N/A	N/A	N/A	F	28	N/ A	N/A
MDRO colonised No IMT	British	E coli	ESBL	Renal	Μ	63	N/ A	N/A
MDRO colonised No IMT	British	Enterococci faecium	VRE	Haematol ogy	F	16	N/ A	N/A
MDRO colonised No IMT	British	E coli	OXA48 NDM	Haematol ogy	Μ	68	N/ A	N/A
MDRO colonised No IMT	British	E coli	ESBL	Renal	М	39	N/ A	N/A
MDRO colonised No IMT	British	E coli	ESBL	Renal	F	70	N/ A	N/A
MDRO colonised No IMT	British	Klebsiella pneumoniae	ESBL	Renal	F	42	N/ A	N/A
MDRO colonised No IMT	British	E coli Klebsiella pneumoniae	ESBL NDM	Renal	F	73	N/ A	N/A
IMT	Polish	, Klebsiella pneumoniae	NDM	Haematol ogy	М	63	3	7, 14, 30
IMT	Polish	Klebsiella pneumoniae	ESBL/MBL	Haematol ogy	Μ	43	3	7, 14, 31
IMT	Polish	Klebsiella pneumoniae	ESBL	Haematol ogy	F	61	1	7
IMT	Polish	Proteus mirabilis/Enterococc us faecium	ESBL/VRE	Haematol ogy	F	49	2	7, 14
IMT	Polish	Klebsiella pneumoniae	ESBL/MBL		М	88	2	7, 14
INAT	Polich	Enterococcus faecium/Klebsiella pneumoniae/Citroba ctar freundii	VRE/ESBL/	Haematol	N/	20	2	7 14
	POIISI	Klebsiella		Haematol		30	2	7, 14
	Polish	pneumoniae / E. coli Klebsiella	ESRE/IMBE	ogy Haematol	IVI	36	1	/
	Polish	pneumoniae Klebsiella		ogy Haematol	IVI	38	2	7, 14
IIVI I	Polish	prieumoniae	IVIBL	ogy	F	53	1	/

		Klebsiella						
IMT	Polish	pneumoniae	NDM		F	86	1	14
		Klebsiella		Haematol				7, 14,
IMT	Polish	pneumoniae	MBL	ogy	М	68	3	30
		Klebsiella						
		pneumoniae /						
		Enterococcus		Haematol				7, 14,
IMT	Polish	faecium	MBL/ VRE	ogy	М	58	3	30
		Klebsiella		Haematol				
IMT	Polish	pneumoniae	NDM	ogy	М	46	1	30
					No	No	NI /	
					dat	dat	IN/ 	N/A
Donor	Polish	N/A	N/A	N/A	а	а	A	
					No	No	NI /	
					dat	dat	IN/ A	N/A
Donor	Polish	N/A	N/A	N/A	а	а	А	
					No	No	NI/	
					dat	dat	ΓN/ Λ	N/A
Donor	Polish	N/A	N/A	N/A	а	а	A	
					No	No	N/	
					dat	dat	Λ	N/A
Donor	Polish	N/A	N/A	N/A	а	а	~	
					No	No	N/	
					dat	dat	Δ	N/A
Donor	Polish	N/A	N/A	N/A	а	а	~~~~~	
					No	No	N/	
					dat	dat	Α	N/A
Donor	Polish	N/A	N/A	N/A	а	а		
					No	No	N/	
_	-				dat	dat	Á	N/A
Donor	Polish	N/A	N/A	N/A	a	a		
					No	NO	N/	
D	Dulluk	N1 / A	<b>N</b> 1 / A	<b>N</b> 1/A	dat	dat	A	N/A
Donor	Polish	N/A	N/A	N/A	a	a		
					NO	NO	N/	N1 / A
Dener	Deliah	N1/A	NI / A		dat	dat	А	N/A
Donor	Polish	N/A	N/A	N/A	a	a		
					NO	NO	N/	NI / A
Donor	Dalich	NI/A	NI / A		uat	ual	Α	N/A
Donor	POIISII	N/A	N/A	N/A	d	d		
					dat	dat	N/	NI / A
Dopor	Polich	N/A	N/A	N/A	a	udi	А	N/A
DONO	FUIISII	N/A			a	a No		
					teh	teh	N/	NI/A
Donor	Polish	N/A	Ν/Δ	Ν/Δ	a	a	Α	
50101	1 011311	197	ישיה	11/7	u	u		

Dana	D. P. I		AL / A		No dat	No dat	N/ A	N/A
Donor	Polish	N/A	N/A	N/A	а	а		

# 5.2.2 Metataxonomics Methods

Metataxonomics uses the 16S RNA gene to assign taxonomy and bacterial diversity characterization. Metataxonomic analysis was performed on stool samples from the initial data set (UK sample) to enable identification of specific gut bacterial taxa changes associated with IMT.

# 5.2.2.1 Microbial DNA extraction and quantification

Stool was thawed at room temperature on ice and an aliquot of. ≈ 250 mg was used for microbial genomic DNA extraction using the PowerLyzer PowerSoil DNA Isolation Kit following the manufacturer's instructions with minor adjustments.

The faecal water (FW) was added to a 2 ml microcentrifuge tube containing 0.1 mm glass beads. Sixty  $\mu$ L of C1 and 750  $\mu$ L of bead solution were added and then vortexed. Briefly, solution C1 is a cell lysis solution including sodium dodecyl sulphate which lyses cell membrane fatty acids and lipids. Bead beating was carried out using the Bullet Blender Storm instrument for 3 min, while tubes were therefore centrifuged at 13,000 x g for 1 min. A 400-500  $\mu$ L volume of the supernatant was transferred to a sterile tube where 250  $\mu$ L of solution C2 was added. Tubes were vortexed, incubated 78 for 5 min at 4°C and centrifuged for 13,000 x g for 1 min. This step leads to the physical separation of the liquid phase (containing the DNA) from the solid phase (pellet). Six hundred  $\mu$ L of supernatant was transferred to a sterile collection tube and 200  $\mu$ L of solution C3 was added. At this stage, tubes were vortexed again, incubated for 5 min at 4°C and centrifuged for 1 minute at 13,000 x g. Adding the C3 causes the additional cellular debris to be broken down and proteins to precipitate. Similarly, a volume of 750  $\mu$ L supernatant was transferred to a sterile tube and added to a 1.2 mL of C4 solution. Six hundred and fifty  $\mu$ L of the supernatant mix was transferred onto a spin filter and centrifuged at 10,000 x g for 1 minute with the remaining flow through discarded. This process was repeated for several passages until all the supernatants had fully been filtered, so that DNA was bound to the membrane. To clean the DNA bound to the filter, 500  $\mu$ L of solution C5 was added to the spin filter and centrifuged for 1 min at 10,000 x g. The flow through was discarded and the spin filter centrifuged again for 1 min at 10,000 x g to remove all remaining ethanol. The spin filter was transferred to a sterile collection tube and 100  $\mu$ L of solution C6 was added to elute the DNA, followed by centrifuging for 1 min at 10,000 x g. The so-obtained DNA was aliquoted into Eppendorf-tube and stored at -80 °C, while the spin filter was discarded.

Eluted DNA concentration was quantified using the Qubit dsDNA Broad Range Assay Kit and. afterwards DNA was divided into 20  $\mu$ L aliquots and stored at – 80°C.

## 5.2.2.2 16S rRNA gene sequencing

Amplicon sequencing libraries were prepared using Illumina's 16S Metagenomic Sequencing Library Preparation Protocol(250). This protocol was adjusted as per previously published 16S rRNA gene sequencing standard operation procedure (SOP) from the Marchesi Lab (75). Firstly, microbial DNA was amplified using the V1-V2 hypervariable region of the 16S rRNA gene using a mixture of 28F forward primers 28F-YM, 28F-Borrellia, 28F-Chloroflex and 28F-Bifdo at a 4:1:1:1 ratio and 388R reverse primer (Table 17). Additionally, SequalPrep Normalization Plate Kits were used to clean and normalise the Illumina Index PCR product according to the manufactures protocol. Finally, amplicon libraries were quantified with the NEBNext Library Quant PCR Kit for Illumina. Sequencing libraries were loaded onto an Illumina MiSeq platform using the Illumina MiSeq Reagent kit v3 and paired end 300bp chemistry. Amplicon libraries also included 1 in-house mock community, 2 Zymo gut microbiome controls, 10 library preparation negative controls and, 2 extraction kit negative controls.

Table 17:: Primers used for 16S rRNA gene sequencing on the Illumina MiSeq.

The forward primer mix was composed of four different forward primers, mixed at a final ratio of 4: 1: 1: 1 (28F-YM: 28F-Borrellia: 28FChloroflex: 28F-Bifdo). Bases in bold are the MiSeq adapter sequences.

Primer name	Primer sequence
28F-YM (Forward primer)	TCGTCGGCAGCGTCAGATGTGTATAAGAGACAGGAGTTTGATYMTGGCTCAG
28F- <i>Borrellia</i> (Forward primer)	TCGTCGGCAGCGTCAGATGTGTATAAGAGACAGGAGTTTGATCCTGGCTTAG
28F- Chloroflex (Forward primer)	TCGTCGGCAGCGTCAGATGTGTATAAGAGACAGGAATTTGATCTTGGTTCAG
28F-Bifido (Forward primer)	TCGTCGGCAGCGTCAGATGTGTATAAGAGACAGGGGTTCGATTCTGGCTCAG
388R (Reverse primer)	GTCTCGTGGGCTCGGAGATGTGTATAAGAGACAGTGCTGCCTCCCGTAGGAGT

# 5.2.2.2.1 16S rRNA gene sequencing data processing

Data analysis was initially performed in Mothur package (v1.35.1) (http://www.mothur.org/wiki/MiSeq\_SOP#OTU-based\_analysis) following the MiSeq standard operating protocol pipeline(251,252). Sequence alignments were performed using the Silva bacterial database (www.arb-silva.de/), and the RDP database reference sequence files were used for sequence classification using the Wang method (253). Operational taxonomic unit (OTU) taxonomies (from phylum to genus level) were established using the RDP MultiClassifier Script. Data was resampled and normalised to the lowest read count in Mothur (11604 reads per sample), which resulted in >99.5% coverage within each sample. Where possible, species were identified from OTU data using a standard nucleotide BLAST

## of the 16S rRNA gene sequences (NCBI)

(https://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi?PAGE\_TYPE=BlastSearch&BLAST\_SPEC=MicrobialG enomes) with strict criteria (query cover 100% and ≥97% identity, with no other candidate species above ≥97% identity) (254). Genus-level annotation was made where query cover was 100% and ≥94% identity. Non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) plots and permutational multivariate ANOVA (PERMANOVA) p-values were generated using the UniFrac weighted distance matrix generated from Mothur and analysed using the Vegan library within the R statistical package. Extended error bar plots were generated at different taxonomic levels using the Statistical Analysis of Metagenomic Profiles (STAMP) software package, applying White's non-parametric t-test with Benjamini-Hochberg false discovery rate (FDR) correction (255).

 $\alpha$ -diversity was used as a metric to evaluate the mean diversity of species each cohort within a local scale. The indices used for this study were.

- Chao1: an estimator based on abundance of individual samples belonging to a certain class (richness).
- Shannon: an estimator for both species' richness and evenness. (Total number of bacterial taxa observed, S<sub>obs</sub>)
- Inverse Simpson: a measure of diversity which considers the number of species present, as well as the relative abundance of each species.
- Faith PD: measurement of phylogenetic diversity, in particular the sum of branch lengths between the observed species on a phylogenetic tree.
- Rao's quadratic entropy: the proportion of the abundance of species present in a community and some measure of dissimilarity among them.

To calculate phylogenetic diversity measurement, (FaithPD). BTools package was used. Rao's quadratic entropy was calculated using picante package (256).

β-diversity of samples was also measured to assess differences in microbial community differences in the three cohorts (Donor, Pre-IMT and Post IMT). To quantify the dissimilarities between samples, Bray-Curtis dissimilarity for UniFrac distances were used

using a non-metric multi-dimensional scaling (NMDS) model (146). A permutation test for homogeneity of multivariate dispersions was performed with the function permutest function (vegan package). A permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) was used to compare the difference in the observed community composition across groups of samples and between difference distance metrics, using the adonis function in vegan package. The number of permutations was set at 1000 in every test, The homogeneity condition of the data was assessed with PERMDISP2 (mia package).

Statistical tests were performed using GraphPad Prism version 9.3. A p-value of 0.05 and a q-value of 0.05 was considered significant. Changes in microbial composition were also assessed down to the OTU level. Differences in means of relative proportions >1% were measured between donor and pre-IMT samples, and between pre-IMT and post-IMT samples, using White's non-parametric test and Benjamini- 73 Hochberg FDR. From these data, OTUs were analysed that were enriched in donors in comparison to pre-IMT samples, and those enriched post-IMT in comparison to pre-IMT samples.

#### 5.2.3 Metagenomics Methods

Microbial DNA extraction and quantification for metagenomics Genomic DNA library preparation and metagenomic sequencing were performed at the Wellcome Sanger Institute [Cambridge, UK]. Genomic DNA was extracted and quantified (see 5.2.2.1). from the study stool samples. Following the Institute guidelines samples were aliquoted into an ABgene 0.2 ml full skirted 96-well plate. The plated volume was 50 µL to ensure the recommended amount of DNA for optimal quality control, library preparation, and sequencing pipeline of 200 ng.

Shotgun metagenomic sequencing Library preparation and sequencing were performed by the Core Sequencing facility at Wellcome Sanger Institute. DNA samples, including 3 extraction kits and 2 internal negative controls, were set for library preparation using TruSeq DNA PCR-Free from Illumina. A 150-bp paired-end read length library was produced with a total fragment length of 450-bp. The library was sequenced in an Illumina HiSeq 4000, 32 samples were multiplexed per flow cell. Relative abundances of metagenome sequence reads were determined using a Kraken 2 v2.1.2 and Bayesian Reestimation of Abundance with KrakEN software (Bracken) database based on 4543 genomes present in the Unified Human Gastrointestinal Genome database. ARG markers present in the metagenome data were quantified by mapping sequences against the Comprehensive Antibiotic Resistance Database (CARD, v.3.0.3) using the Resistance Gene Identifier software. Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 9.3.

#### 5.3 Results

#### 5.3.1.1 Metataxonomic gut ecosystem indices results





Figure 21: Box plots comparing the selected alpha diversity indices in donor, pre-IMT and post IMT stool. Welch's t-test, 2 sided. Donor: n=5; pre-IMT: n=16; post-IMT: n=9.

Metataxonomic analysis was performed on stool samples from donors (n=5), and patients pre- (n=16) and post IMT (n=9). The increase in number of pre-IMT samples was due to samples being donated from potential IMT patients who ultimately did not receive their IMT. Commonly used alpha diversity indices was compared. Donors had significantly increased richness in Chao1 (P=0.002), Shannon (P=0.0006), Inverse Simpson (P=0.002), and Faith PD (P=0.0034) metrics then pre-IMT patients who were colonised with MDROs. Post IMT there was a significant increase in the Chao1 (P=0.0091), Shannon (P=0.04), and Faith PD (P=0.03) metrics. There was no change between donors and pre-IMT or pre versus post in the Rao quadratic entropy metric, and no significant difference in Inverse Simpson between pre and post IMT patients. (Figure 21)



# 5.3.1.2 Alpha diversity in matched paired samples

Figure 22: Ladder plots comparing the effect of IMT on selected alpha diversity metric indices.

#### Paired t-test, 2 sided-FMT: n=9; post-FMT: n=9

Alpha diversity metrics in paired samples of patient stool pre-and post-IMT was compared using a paired t-test. There was significant increase in in Chao1 diversity (P=0.0067) and Faith PD (P=0.03) diversity measures. (Figure 22)





NMDS: Unweighted UniFrac - stress 0.122

Figure 23: Beta diversity across donors, pre and post IMT

To compare the community diversity and phylogenetic relatedness between donors and patients pre and post IMT, beta diversity was analysed using weighted Unifrac distances between samples (Figure 23). Plotting these distances using a non-metric multi-dimensional scaling (NMDS) model demonstrated that IMT did not appear to cause a uniform unidirectional shift in phylogenetic relatedness. Although the permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) was significant between donors and both pre-IMT (P=0.016) and post-IMT (P=0.03), there was not a significant change pre and post IMT.

# 5.3.1.4 Comparison of relative abundances of the stool metataxonomic profiles between donors, pre-IMT and post-IMT samples

16S rRNA gene sequencing data derived from the initial human dataset was analysed at multiple taxonomic levels. STAMP analysis did not demonstrate any statistical difference between the groups across family, genera, or phyla.



Figure 24: Bar chart showing the metataxonomic relative abundance by family comparing donors with pre- and post-IMT.


Figure 25: Bar chart showing the metataxonomic relative abundance by phyla comparing donors with pre- and post-IMT.



Figure 26: Bar chart showing the metataxonomic relative abundance by genera comparing donors with pre- and post-IMT.

### 5.3.2 Metagenomics Results

# 5.3.2.1 Metagenomic analysis of commensal bacteria

Table 18: Differences in commensal bacteria recognised to play a role in colonisation resistance pre and post IMT.

Commensal bacteria with reported effect on colonisation resistance					
Bacteria	Paired t-test		Bacteria	Paired t-test	
Akkermansia muciniphila	P=0.2500		Desulfovibrio spp	P=0.0926	
Bacillus thuringiensis	P=0.3624		Erysipelatoclostridium ramosum	P=0.026	$\checkmark$
Bacteroides fragilis	P=0.5429		Erysipelatoclostridium saccharogumia	P=0.8907	
Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron	P= 0.3624		Faecalibacterium prausnitzii	P=0.1827	
Barnesiella spp	P=0.8614		Lactobacillus spp	P=0.3613	
Bifidobacterium bifidum	P=0.1694		Lactobacillus crispatus	P=0.3782	
Blautia hansenii	P=0.6012		Lactobacillus paracasei	P=0.698	
Blautia producta	P=0.0180	$\uparrow$	Lactococcus lactis	P=0.0949	
Clostridium bolteae	P=0.0120	$\checkmark$	Odoribacter laneus	P=0.0949	

Coprococcus spp	P=0.0247	$\checkmark$	Parabacteroides spp	P=0.5919	
Coprococcus catus	P=0.0013	$\uparrow$	Pseudoflavonifractor capillosus	P=0.1718	
Coprococcus eucatus	P=0.3118		Roseburia hominis	P=0.2853	



Figure 27 Difference in level of the commensal bacteria, Coprococcus catus and Blautia producta between pre and post IMT

Twenty-three commensal bacteria recognised to have play a role in colonisation resistance were analysed (Table 18). *Blautia producta* (P=0.018) and *Coprococcus catus* (P=0.0013) both significantly increased post-IMT (Figure 27).

### 5.3.2.2 Metagenomic analysis of pathobionts

Pathobionts		
Bacteria	Paired t- test	
Acinetobacter baumannii	p=0.25	
Citrobacter freundii	p= 0.6753	
Enterobacter cloacae	p= 0.6753	
Enterococcus faecium	p=0.0461	$\downarrow$
Escherichia coli	p=0.5813	
Klebsiella pneumoniae	p=0.6623	
Morganella morganii	p=0.6564	
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	p=0.5000	
Serratia marcescens	p=0.0575	

Table 19: Paired t-test of known intestinal pathobionts pre and post IMT.

### Enterococcus faecium



Figure 28: Effect of IMT on the level of Enterococcus faecium in the stool.

The relative abundance of known pathobionts that colonise the intestinal microbiome were compared in pre- and post-IMT donor stool. There was a significant relative decrease in

*Enterococcus faecium* (P=0.0461) post-IMT (Figure 28), but no difference in any of the *Enterobacterales* or non-fermentative Gram-negative bacilli (Table 19).

### 5.3.2.3 Metagenomic analysis of Antimicrobial resistance genes.

ANTIMICROBIAL RESISTANCE GENES			
Glycopeptide resistance genes	Paired t-test		
vanY; glycopeptide resistance gene cluster			
vanS; glycopeptide resistance gene cluster			
vanH; glycopeptide resistance gene cluster			
glycopeptide resistance gene cluster; van ligase			
glycopeptide resistance gene cluster; vanR			
vanZ; glycopeptide resistance gene cluster	p=0.0051	$\downarrow$	
vanX; glycopeptide resistance gene cluster			
glycopeptide resistance gene cluster; vanT			
glycopeptide resistance gene cluster; vanXY			
vanW; glycopeptide resistance gene cluster			
glycopeptide resistance gene cluster; vanV			

Table 20: Paired t-test of resistance genes expressed by Enterococcus spp. pre and post IMT.

#### Table 21: Paired t-test of Beta-lactamase resistance genes expressed pre and post IMT.

	ANTIMICROBIAL RESISTANCE GENES	
	Beta-lactamase genes	Paired t-test
CfxA beta-lactamase	SCO beta-lactamase	
ampC-type beta-lactamase	CBP beta-lactamase	
OXA beta-lactamase	OXY beta-lactamase	
TEM beta-lactamase	VIM beta-lactamase	
CTX-M beta-lactamase	CARB beta-lactamase	
SHV beta-lactamase	ACC beta-lactamase	
CbIA beta-lactamase	DES beta-lactamase	
cepA beta-lactamase	MIR beta-lactamase	p=0.7158
CMY beta-lactamase	OKP beta-lactamase	
DHA beta-lactamase	YRC Beta-lactamase	
SRT beta-lactamase	BIL Beta-lactamase	
KPC beta-lactamase	BUT beta-lactamase	
ACI beta-lactamase	Sed beta-lactamase	
CcrA beta-lactamase	LEN beta-lactamase	
blaZ beta-lactamase	ADC beta-lactamase without carbapenemase activity	

NDM beta-lactamase	HERA beta-lactamase	
ACT beta-lactamase	CMH beta-lactamase	
LAP beta-lactamase	PDC beta-lactamase	
PER beta-lactamase	blaF family beta-lactamase	
	CphA beta-lactamase	



Figure 29: Comparison of shotgun metagenomic analysis of antimicrobial resistance genes in paired stool samples pre- and post-IMT

Relative abundances of ARG that cause transferrable resistance in *enterococci* and *Enterobacterales* were compared. There was a significant decrease in glycopeptide resistance genes (P=0.051); however, there was no difference in total ARGs overall or beta-lactamase genes.

#### 5.4 Discussion

#### 5.4.1 Metataxonomics

Consistent with previous studies looking at rCDI, IMT resulted in restoration of several measures of ecological diversity and richness of the microbiota back to a level comparable to that of healthy donor(178). Low alpha diversity has previously been reported as associated with increased risk of invasive disease in vulnerable populations, so could contribute to the effects seen in Chapter 4 in terms of reduction of invasive disease(69). Rao quadratic entropy diversity was not seen to have been significantly different in pre and post IMT, and interestingly this is closely related to beta diversity which was also not seen to be

significantly different. The reasons for this could be that this is not the correct measure for this cohort of patients, i.e., too broad, or could be related to sample size. Measures of "richness" such as Chao1 are likely to be more truly representative of the benefits of IMT versus the diversity in different microbial communities that Beta diversity (and Rao quadratic entropy) measure. Although Shannon and Inverse Simpson did not demonstrate significance, there appeared to be a distinct cohort of patients who appeared to have a positive change or no change. Further larger studies are needed to elucidate whether this could be due to patients who have and have not engrafted the IMT by this point. Further studies should likely use Chao1 as their baseline diversity indices as this appears to be the most sensitive in this context.

When comparing pre and post IMT patients, patients who did not have an IMT were excluded which meant the numbers were much smaller (n=9), so could explain the fact that there was a general trend in change post-IMT, but significance was only seen in Chao1 and Faith-PD diversity metrics.

#### 5.4.2 Metagenomics

Metagenomics allowed for detailed analysis at a species level. Commensal bacteria that were recognised to have a positive impact in MDRO colonised patients (see Table 1) were compared and *Blautia producta* and *Coprococcus catus* were seen to significantly increase post-IMT. In an ICU cohort, rectal colonization with VRE was inversely associated with *B. producta* (107). *Blautia producta* has been described in the literature in enabling inhibition of VRE colonisation in mouse studies(110). In another mouse model, Kim *et al.*, identified a lantibiotic secreted by *Blautia producta*, the high abundance of which was associated with reduced density of *E. faecium.* (116). In other mouse studies, *B. producta* was seen to prevent colonisation and had antimicrobial activity against *Listeria monocytogenes*. The mechanisms by which *Coprococcus catus* might operate has not been explored in MDRO colonisation for the second constant of the product of the pro

(butyrate from fructose and propionate from lactate (via the acrylate pathway)(257), therefore may provide a wide-reaching protective role in production of SCFA, such as inducing production of AMPs (74) and inhibiting growth and fitness of pathogens, both directly and via routes including intracellular acidification (75).

In our cohort, IMT conferred a relative reduction of *Enterococcus faecium* and associated ARGs. Dominance of *Enterococcus* species has been described and is associated with low bacterial diversity, which is linked to poorer outcomes (69). Previous IMT studies which used decolonisation as their end point, noted that VRE was more readily decolonised than CPE. One reason for this could be that in mouse studies, *K. pneumoniae* was seen to be more effective than VRE at invading the mucus layer and translocating to mesenteric lymph nodes (258), which may be reflected by the fact it was more difficult to eradicate. The ability of Gram-negative organisms to form biofilms within the intestine could also be a potential factor in its persistence(259).

This lack of significant decrease in the Gram-negative bacteria and corresponding betalactamase genes reinforces the clinical data which did not reveal any change in rectal colonisation (see Table 3). Chapter 4 demonstrated an improvement in several clinical outcomes post-IMT. When looking at the diversity, the increase in alpha diversity was more similar to donors and increase in commensal bacterial recognised to have an immunomodulatory effect further strengthens the case that the microbiome may play a role in development of infection, and manipulation of its composition may be a key in preventing infection in at risk groups.

#### 5.4.3 Limitations

A limitation of this study was the heterogeneity of the sample set. In the UK sample set, stool samples could only be collected opportunistically at their preassigned follow up clinical appointments, therefore there was a discrepancy in the post-IMT follow up dates. In the Polish sample set, samples were collected as early as seven days post procedure. Time to engraftment is variable in IMT, although by eight weeks around 71% of patients stabilise(260). The patient cohorts were also very different, the Israeli population were

152

mostly well outpatients who were noted to be colonised with an MDRO in the community, whereas the Polish patients (mostly haematology patients) and the UK patients (a mix of renal and haematology patients) likely had a different baseline microbiota composition.

# 6 Chapter 6 Analysis of the functionality of the gut microbiota via metabolomic studies and immunological assays

### 6.1 Introduction

The experiments in this chapter were to investigate the hypothesis that IMT provides restoration of gut barrier function. The samples used were from the same cohort as Chapter 5 but included serum samples donated from thirteen Polish recipients of IMT. Metabolomics allowed us to evaluate the dynamics of SCFA production pre and post IMT which are recognised to have a beneficial role in colonisation resistance. We also looked at the serum cytokine response which may reflect the function of the gut barrier. Multi-panel ELISA testing was performed on serum sample from eight patients for selected cytokines and proteins linked to gut barrier function and assess whether IMT was linked to restoration of gut barrier function by proxy of decreased markers of an inflammatory response such as selected cytokines and FABP-2,

#### 6.2 Aims

The aim of this part of the study was to perform metataxonomic and metagenomic analysis on stool samples pre and post IMT to gain insights into the dynamic composition of the intestinal microbiota and analyse whether there are changes in the genes or bacteria which reflects the clinical benefit seen.

#### 6.3 Ethics

The study was approved by a UK Research Ethics Committee (REC reference: 19/LO/0112). All patients, including patients used as controls, provided informed consent authorizing the use of their personal information for research purposes.

### 6.4 Methods

### 6.4.1 Sample collection.

See Table 16 for clinical and demographic characteristics of entire sample cohort.

### 6.4.1.1 Initial data set (United Kingdom)

The initial data set was collected in the UK at Imperial College from MDRO colonised participants pre and post IMT and donors. The sample set was as follows.

- Ten patients with stool samples pre and post IMT.
- Five donor stool samples
- Seven unmatched MDRO colonised stool samples (grouped with the pre-IMT cohort)

Samples were taken prior to IMT then collected for at least 6 months (range 15- 266 days) post-IMT via opportunistic screening at clinic appointments. Samples were collected using a FECOTAINER<sup>®</sup> collection device. Within two hours of sample donation, faecal samples were separated into twelve equal aliquots and frozen at -80°C in an Ultra-Low temperature freezer until processing for analysis consistently with standard protocols.

### 6.4.1.2 Israeli data set

Further samples were sent from Haifa, Israel from a prospective, interventional, cohort study at a single tertiary centre (Rambam Health Care Campus [RHCC]) preformed between February 2018 and April 2019 (99). The sample set consisted of

- 13 IMT recipient stool samples were all colonised with CPE. The samples were collected before IMT and at 14 days post IMT.
- Six donor stool samples
- Six unmatched CPE colonised stool samples (grouped with the pre-IMT cohort)

Faeces were delivered from Israel to London, the transfer took less than 24 hours and samples were kept in dry ice. All samples were kept at -80 °C until sample preparation for further analysis was performed.

### 6.4.1.3 Polish data set

These were samples taken from primarily Haematology patients from Warsaw, Poland. The sample set consisted of.

- Thirteen patients with stool samples pre and post IMT at several time points (7,14 or 28 days), eight of these patients also had EDTA blood sent.
- Thirteen donor serum samples

These samples were Faeces and plasma in EDTA tubes were delivered from Poland to London, the transfer took less than 24 hours and samples were kept in dry ice. All samples were kept at -80 °C until sample preparation for further analysis was performed.

### 6.4.2 Metabolomic studies

Short-chain fatty acids

### 6.4.2.1 Sample preparation for Metabolomic studies.

Faecal samples were prepared by mixing 250-300 mg of homogenised faecal samples with high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) - grade water at a ratio of 1 mg faeces to 2  $\mu$ L in 2 mL safe lock tubes. Once in the tube, samples were vortexed for 10 min and centrifuged at 20,000 x g for 10 min at 4°C. The supernatant (600  $\mu$ L) was mixed with 60  $\mu$ L of NMR buffer in a new 1.5 mL micro centrifuge tube. The samples were vortexed and spun for 10 s before an aliquot of 570  $\mu$ L was transferred into 5-mm-diameter NMR tubes.

### 6.4.2.2 <sup>1</sup>H-NMR spectroscopy

Solution <sup>1</sup>H-NMR spectra of all samples were acquired using a Bruker IVDr 600 MHz spectrometer (Bruker 19 BioSpin) operating at 14.1 T and equipped with a 5 mm BBI probe with 2 H decoupling probe including a z-axis gradient coil, an automatic tuning-matching (ATM), high level shimming and an automatic refrigerated sample handling robot (Sample-Jet). Temperature was regulated to 310 ± 0.1 K. The following standard one-dimensional (1D) pulse sequence was performed: RD– gz1– 90°– t190°– tm– gz2– 90°– ACQ54. The relaxation delay (RD) was set at 4 s, 90° represents the applied 90° radio frequency pulse,

interpulse delay (t1) was set to an interval of 4  $\mu$ s, mixing time (tm) was 10ms, magnetic field gradients (gz1 and gz2) were applied for 1 ms and the acquisition period (AQA) was 2.7s. Water suppression was achieved through irradiation of the water signal during RD and tm. A spectral width of 12,000 Hz was used for all the samples. Prior to Fourier transformation, the free induction decays (FIDs) were multiplied by an exponential function corresponding to a line broadening of 0.3 Hz. For each patient sample, two NMR experiments were acquired in automation: a general profile 1 H-NMR water pre-saturation experiment using a one-dimensional pulse sequence (where the mixing time of the 1D-NOESY experiment is used to introduce a second pre-saturation time), and a spin echo ediprotons from using the Carr–Purcell Meiboom–Gill (CPMG) pulse sequence (which filters out signals from fast T2 relaxing protons from molecules with slow rotational correlation times such as proteins and other macromolecules). The CPMG pulse sequence had the form  $RD-90^{\circ}-(t-180^{\circ}-t)$  n- ACQ. The acquisition parameters were set using the same settings as the standard 1D pulse sequence, with the spin-echo delay (t) set at 0.3 ms and 128 loops (n) performed. Continuous wave irradiation was applied at the water resonance frequency during the relaxation delay (RD). Relaxation time was set to 4 s. Spectral width was always set onto the water resonance and optimised for every dataset in order to optimise water signal depletion. 1 H-NMR spectra were automatically corrected for phase and baseline distortions and referenced to the TSP singlet at  $\delta$  0.0 using TopSpin 3.1 software. Spectra were then digitised into 20 K data points at a resolution of 0.0005 ppm using an in-house MATLAB (MathWorks, version R2019b) script. Spectral regions corresponding to the internal standard (-0.5 to 0.5 ppm) and water (4.6–5.0 ppm) peaks were removed. In addition, the region containing urea (5.4–6.3 ppm) was removed from the plasma spectra due to its tendency to cross-saturate with the suppressed water resonance. All <sup>1</sup>H-NMR plasma spectra were of high quality and resolution, and were quality controlled using the nPYc toolbox. SMolESY and SMolESY-select were employed to aid metabolite assignment and quantification respectively, via MATLAB programming suite (MathWorks, version R2019b). For absolute quantification reference, the ERETIC57 signal was employed. For statistical

analyses, features were mean-centred and univariance scaled. Prominent glycerol peaks were visualised and manually inspected to correct for this.

### 6.4.2.3 Statistical analysis

In this study, in-house developed linear mixed-effects models were used to examine the relationship between selected metabolites extracted from faecal water NMR data and the following clinical variables of interest. The metabolites selected were short-chain fatty acids previously reported in the literature as having a role in the prevention of MDRO colonisation (261). The main clinical variable was development of post-IMT "culture positive" infection, i.e., infection with the causative pathogens identified from the clinical samples. The following linear mixed-effects models were used to allow for adjustment for possible confounders in the data.

- Comparison of culture positive infection pre-IMT versus those who did not develop culture positive infection in post-IMT samples.
   Covariant selected: Sex, age, invasive infection pre-IMT, underlying condition, bowel cleansing and FMT dose.
- Comparison of culture positive infection post-IMT versus those who did not develop culture positive infection in pre-IMT samples.
   Covariant selected: Sex, age, invasive infection pre-IMT, underlying condition, bowel cleansing and FMT dose.
- Comparison of patients having a reduction in invasive infection with those who do not have this reduction in pre vs post-IMT samples.
   Covariant selected: Sex, age, underlying condition, timepoint, mode of IMT.

The models were fitted using the Ime4 R package and adjusted for multi-omics dataset specifics. The models incorporated random effects to account for the choice donor, participant measurements (for longitudinal data), differences in recruitment site location. The NMR data was modelled as an interaction with the clinical variables of interest, while considering age, sex, country of origin, mode of IMT (i.e., enema, naso-gastric or colonoscopy route), whether they had bowel cleansing before IMT, dose of IMT and underlying condition as covariates. Continuous covariates (age, sex, country of origin, and underlying condition etc) were scaled to mitigate extreme value effects and reduce result uncertainty. Nominal p-values were adjusted using the Benjamini-Hochberg method with a target FDR of 0.10.

### 6.4.3 Methods for Immunological analysis of serum

### 6.4.3.1 Sample collection.

A total of twenty-one serum samples were collected from Polish cohort and consisted of eight patients pre and one or more time points post IMT.

Patient	Time points pre and post IMT			
			Days post IM	Г
PL4	Pre	7	14	30
PL5	Pre	7	14	30
PL8	Pre			30
PL14	Pre	7	14	
PL19	Pre	7		
PL20	Pre	7		
PL23	Pre	7		
PL24	Pre	7		

Table 22: Timepoints of serum taken from eight patients pre and post IMT from Polish cohort.

#### 6.4.3.2 Measurement of serum FABP-2

The level of FABP-2 was measured in serum samples from the patients enrolled in the study, using a Human FABP2/I-FABP Quantikine Enzyme-Linked immunosorbent Assay (ELISA, R&D, USA) Kit, which is essentially a sandwich ELISA. All reagents were brought to RT as per manufacturer's instructions. The wash buffer, substrate solution and Human FABP-2 standard were constituted as per protocol. Firstly, 50 μL of Assay diluent RD1-63 were added to each well. Secondly, another 50 µL of standard, control or serum sample were added to each well. Sera were prepared using a 5-fold dilution and were added to the plate in duplicates, i.e., each sample was aliquot to two consecutive wells. The plate was covered with the adhesive strip provided and incubates at RT on a horizontal orbital microplate shaker set at 500 ± 50 rpm. After two hours of incubation, each well was washed with 400 µL of wash buffer for three times. After the last wash, wash buffer was completely aspirated, and the plate was inverted and blotted against clean paper towel so that any remaining buffer could be removed. At the following step, 200 µL of Human FABP-2 Conjugate was transferred to each well. The plate was then covered with a new adhesive strip and incubated at RT on the shaker. After two hours, another sequence of aspiration and wash was performed. A 200  $\mu$ L of the Substrate solution was aliquoted in each well, while the plate was left for incubation for 30 minutes at RT on the benchtop, carefully protected from light. Afterwards, 50 µL of the Stop Solution was also added to each well and a change of colour from blue to yellow was noted in the wells. Finally, the 96 well plate was read at 570 nm on a Thermoscientific Multiskan machine.

#### 6.4.3.3 Measurement of serum cytokines

The serum levels of IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-8 (CXCL8), IL-10, IL-12p70, IL-13, and TNF- $\alpha$  were measured using a sandwich immunoassay (V-plex Proinflammatory Panel 1 (MSD). All reagents were left at RT. Calibrator dilutions, controls, detection antibody solution, wash buffer and read buffer T were constituted as per protocol. The MSD plate was washed 3 times with 150  $\mu$ L of wash buffer to provide greater uniformity of the results of the assay. Fifty  $\mu$ L of samples, calibrators and controls were added in each well. Filtered FW samples

were loaded on the MSD after a 2-fold dilution with Diluent 2. Serial 4-fold dilutions of the standards were run to generate a 7-standard concentration set, and the diluent alone was used as a blank. The plate was then sealed with an adhesive plate seal and incubated at RT on a shaker for 2 hours. Afterwards, the plate was washed again for three times with 150  $\mu$ L of wash buffer. A volume of 25  $\mu$ L of detection antibody solution was transferred to each well. The plate was sealed with an adhesive seal and incubates at RO with shaking for 2 hours. Another sequence of three washes with 150  $\mu$ L of wash buffer was done with the MSD plate. As final step, 150  $\mu$ L of 2 X read buffer T was added to each well. The plate was then analysed on an MSD reader within 30 minutes. The standard curves for each cytokine were generated using the premixed lyophilized standards provided in the kits. Values of cytokines which were at or lower than the lower limit of detection (LLOD) were reported as LLOD for these analytes. Median LLOD were derived from the assay protocol.

#### 6.4.3.4 Statistical analysis

The distribution of variables was explored using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Continuous variables were reported as medians and IQR, while categorical variables were expressed as relative frequencies and percentages. Univariate analysis was carried out using Mann-Whitney for continuous, and chi-square test for categorical variables respectively. Kruskal-Wallis or ANOVA with post-hoc corrections was used for comparison between multiple groups. Spearman correlation and logistic regression carried out to explore the relationship between variables. All tests were two-sided and a P value 0.05 was considered significant. Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism version 9.3.

#### 6.5 Results

#### 6.5.1 Metabolomic studies

Acetate, Butyrate, Formate, Isovalerate, Propionate, Succinate and Valerate were the shortchain fatty acids chosen to apply statistical modelling to. 6.5.1.1 Comparison of selected faecal metabolites in post-IMT faecal samples between patients who developed culture positive infection versus those who did not.

Post IMT samples from patients who did and did not develop culture positive infection were compared. Higher stool valerate showed a strong negative correlation with culture positive infection pre-IMT (P=0.0094).



Figure 30: Linear mixed effect model for post-IMT samples comparing patients who did and did not develop culture positive infection post-IMT.

P values in the graph are adjusted with Benjamini-Hochberg with a target FDR of 0.10

6.5.1.2 Comparison of selected faecal metabolites in pre-IMT faecal samples between patients who developed culture positive infection versus those who did not.

Pre-IMT samples from patients who did and did not develop culture positive infection were compared. Valerate (P=0.0003), Propionate (P=0.095) and Isovalerate (P=0.095) all had a positive correlation with those who did not develop culture positive infection. Butyrate (Butyrate 1: P=0.062, Butyrate 2 P=0.059) and Formate both had a negative association with the same population.



Figure 31: Linear mixed effect model for stools pre- IMT samples comparing patients who did and did not develop culture positive infection post-IMT.

P values in the graph are adjusted with Benjamini-Hochberg with a target FDR of 0.10

### 6.5.1.3 Reduction in invasive infection

When looking at patients where there had been a change in infection (i.e., comparing those who had an increase or decrease in infections post-IMT), higher stool valerate (P=0.05), propionate (P=0.066) and isovalerate (P=0.066) levels were correlated with reduced invasive infection between pre vs post-IMT, whilst higher stool butyrate (P=0.02) and formate (P=0.002) correlated with increased infection.



Figure 32: Linear mixed effect model looking at change in number of infections pre and post IMT. P values in the graph are adjusted with Benjamini-Hochberg with a target FDR of 0.10

### 6.5.2 Immunological assay results

### 6.5.2.1 FABP-2 levels pre and post IMT

All samples, FABP-2:



Figure 33: Fatty acid binding protein 2 measurement in serum samples in eight patients pre and post Intestinal Microbiota Transplantation

Mean serum concentration for FABP-2 was 1242.57 (170.29-2133.49) pg/ml before IMT and 1089 (345.89 -2296.06) pg/ml post IMT. Overall, there was no difference in terms of levels of serum FABP-2 across study groups.

### 6.5.2.2 Serum cytokine levels pre and post IMT

Overall, there was a significant decrease in the levels of TNF- $\alpha$  (P=0.0057, Figure 34) and II-8 (P=0.0057, Figure 35) post IMT. There was no significant change in IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, IL-12p70 or IL-13.

Serum Immunological Markers		
Cytokine	Mann-Whitney	
IL-1beta	p=0.69	
IL-8	p=0.0057	$\checkmark$
TNF-alpha	p=0.0057	$\rightarrow$
IL-10	p=0.1801	
IL-6	p=0.3781	

IFN-gamma	p=0.4042	l
IL-2	p=0.9596	

TNF-a, pre vs post-IMT, <30 days, % of baseline sample



Figure 34: Change in levels of serum TNF-a levels measured pre and post IMT expressed as % change from baseline sample.



IL-8, pre vs post-IMT, < 30 days, % of baseline sample

Figure 35: Changes in serum IL-8 levels pre and post IMT expressed as % change from baseline sample.

Table 23: Concentrations of serum cytokines pre- and post-IMT.

This table shows median values and related IQR of levels of serum cytokines in the study groups. Abbreviations: IQR: interquartile range, IFN-γ: interferon gamma, IL-18: interleukin-1beta, IL-2: interleukin-2, IL-4: interleukin-4, IL-6: interleukin-6, IL-8: interleukin-8, IL-10: interleukin-10, IL-12p70: interleukin-12p70, IL13: interleukin-13, TNF-α: tumour necrosis factor alpha.

	PRE IMT MEDIAN (IQR)	POST IMT MEDIAN (IQR)
IFN-gamma pg/ml	13.25 (12.97-49.82)	11.11 (7.01-33.91)
IL-1 beta pg/ml	0.13 (0.06-1.25)	0.29 (0.11-0.71)
IL-10 pg/ml	1.09 (0.76-2.23)	1.11 (0.59-1.59)
IL-12p70 pg/ml	0.01 (0-0.64)	0.00 (0-0.35)
IL-13 pg/ml	0.00 (0-2.1)	0.00 (0-0.52)
IL-2 pg/ml	0.12 (0.12-0.29)	0.22 (0.07 -0.75)
IL-4 pg/ml	0.00 (0-0)	0.00 (0-0)
IL-6 pg/ml	4.03 (2.31-16.73)	4.75 (1.47 -11.01)
IL-8 pg/ml	91.94 (51.77-739.5)	48.92 (19.95 – 132.95)
TNF-alpha pg/ml	1.21 (1.11-5.61)	0.85 (0.71 -1.75)

#### 6.6 Discussion

#### 6.6.1 Metabolomic studies

In this study, <sup>1</sup>H-NMR spectroscopy was performed to evaluate the dynamic changes in SCFA expression pre- and post-IMT. SCFA are a source of fuel for colonocytes and is fundamental in maintaining epithelial hypoxia(262). Previous mouse studies have shown maintenance of an acidic environment plus with production of high concentrations of SCFA by the caecal and colonic microbiota is critical in preventing the expansion and promoting clearance of the antibiotic-resistant isolates of *K. pneumoniae*, *E. coli*, and *P. mirabilis*(263).

In pre-IMT samples, valerate was demonstrated to be a positive indicator that a patient would not develop a culture positive infection. Post IMT samples which had higher levels of valerate, propionate and isovalerate were seen in patients who did not develop a culture positive infection, and in the those who had a reduction in the frequency of culture positive infections. This may suggest that even in MDRO colonised patient, valerate may have a protective effect. Previous studies have demonstrated that valerate significantly inhibited

the growth of *C. difficile in vitro* (with minimal effect on other commensal gut bacteria) and was depleted in stool from patients with rCDI but was restored after successful IMT(75). Interestingly in other mouse studies, valerate was noted to decrease 66-fold after antibiotic treatment, suggesting a decrease in carbohydrate fermentation by members of the gut microbiota(159). One proposed mechanism of activity by valerate could be the anti-inflammatory effect on the host immune phenotype by inhibiting histones deacetylases (HDAC) (264). Exogenous valerate has been demonstrated in rodent models to reduce colitis via HDAC inhibition(265). In a recent study, mice treated with a metabolite mix which contained valerate and propionate had an average of 87% less *E. coli* CFU per gram of faeces compared to PBS-treated mice(266). Similarly in mouse models, *Bacteroides* production of propionate mediates colonization resistance to *S. typhii*(267).

Interestingly, butyrate and formate had a negative correlation with prevention of culture positive infection. Although butyrate has been cited as having a positive effect on invasive infection(264,268), Recent mice experiments have revealed that this may be dependent on the conditions (i.e., sugar concentrations) that the *Bacteroides* that produces the butyrate is exposed to (268). Interestingly formate which also fell post IMT is recognised as an energy source for bacteria, and associated with gut inflammation so a decrease in formate levels supports the decrease in invasive infection(269,270).

### 6.6.2 Makers of gut barrier function

In this study, FABP-2 levels did not differ among groups, suggesting the presence of an intact intestinal epithelium in the study groups. IL-8 and TNF-  $\alpha$  were significantly reduced post-IMT. IL-8 is a proinflammatory cytokine, reduction of which indicates reduced disruption to the gut barrier, and its secretion is induced by TNF-  $\alpha$ (271). Of note, TNF- $\alpha$  has been shown to disturb tight junctions and increase gut permeability, which may increase gut translocation of MDROs (272).

### 6.6.3 Limitations

Although faecal sampling to infer microbial SCFA production is a relatively easy and noninvasive technique in humans they may not be a reliable reflection of colonic fermentation in vivo. >95% of SCFAs are absorbed within the colon but are not quantifiable in the peripheral serum as SCFAs absorbed in the colon are transported to the liver via the portal vein. Ingestible intestinal sensors can sample from multiple regions of the intestinal tract, which may be a more representative but more costly and invasive measure(273). Serum samples were only taken pre- and post-IMT from selected patients in the Polish cohort which reduced the sample size.

### 6.6.4 Future Directions

To look at the expression of bile acid expression UPLC-MS bile acid profiling could also reveal changes relevant to MDRO colonisation and infection undetected by NMR based global profiling. There are many far reaching cytokines and small molecules that could are recognised to be related to gut barrier function that could be investigated with functional studies or immunohistochemistry experiments, including measuring faecal cytokines and other markers of gut barrier function such as anti-F-actin IgA antibodies and zonulin(274,275).

# **Chapter 7: Conclusion**

### 7.1 Summary and key findings

- Patients who have underlying health conditions are more likely to develop invasive disease from multidrug-resistant organisms colonising the intestine with a worse outcome profile.
- Intestinal Microbiota Transplantation for patient who are colonised MDROs requires careful consideration in terms of administration and donor stool preparation.
- Patients who undergo Intestinal Microbiota Transplantation are less likely to have invasive infection from their colonising MDRO post-IMT and in certain cohort have improved survival outcomes.
- Intestinal Microbiota Transplantation increases intestinal microbiota alpha diversity and reduces the burden of enterococci but not Gram-negative pathobiont.
- *Blautia producta* and *Coprococcus catus* are commensal bacteria that are seen to increase post IMT.
- Valerate, a short-chain fatty acid, is higher in patients who do not develop invasive infection.
- IMT is seen to reduce serum levels of TNF-α and IL-8, proinflammatory cytokines associated with gut barrier permeability.

### 7.2 Clinical implications of this project and future directions.

This project was a novel bench to bedside look at the impact of restoration of the intestinal microbiota and the effect on MDRO colonised patients. From a clinical epidemiological perspective point of view, it confirmed that focus of AMR and rectal colonisation should be the prevention of invasive infection in at risk groups, for whom there is the most impact. The results of the study also developed a framework for future IMT procedures for MDRO colonised patients, which had not to date been published in the literature.

The clinical outcomes indicated that IMT could be utilised as a modality for reducing invasive infection, not only could this improve morbidity and mortality in these groups, but

the reduction in inpatient stay and reduction in use of antibiotics means that there is an economic benefit to the use of IMT.

Administration of IMT via NG, capsules or colonoscopically, are not created from fixed quantities and are time consuming in terms of preparation and not without risk of transmission of pathogens(181). Positive clinical outcomes were correlated with an increase in alpha diversity of the intestinal microbiota and reduction in cytokines associated with gut inflammation. On a more granular level, commensal bacteria, and selected metabolites such as valerate were seen to increase preventing development of invasive disease without necessarily "decolonising" the intestine from the MDRO. This opens the door to further work looking at whether a refined consortium of metabolites or commensal bacteria have the same impact. Finally, the initial group of 20 patients although showed promising results, opens itself up to a randomised control trial, delineating haematology and renal transplant patients and assessing clinical and economic outcomes on a wider scale. From the results in Chapter 4 and 5, a multicentre phase IIa trial, the Microbiota Transplant Prior to Allogeneic Stem Cell Transplantation (MAST) study, which has been funded by the Medical Research Council's Developmental Pathway Funding Scheme is about to commence (ISRCTN13241761 https://doi.org/10.1186/ISRCTN13241761). This study will focus in on haematology patients and samples will be collected for further large scale microbiome analysis.

Plans are also underway for a similar study looking at recurrent UTIs based on the results found in this study, collecting urine, stool and blood from patients to see if we can replicate the findings in this study in recurrent UTIs and further explore the urobiome and intestinal microbiome. The data set of pre-and post-IMT in MDRO colonised patients is one of the largest of its kind so from a mechanistic perspective, the metagenomic and metabolomic analysis is planned to be exploited further with more complex modelling, to stratify if there are any other signals which can help correlate the relationship between the clinical outcomes and the microbiome dynamics. Examples of other mechanistic studies could be the trajectory of bile acids pre- and post-IM, as well as a larger range of SCFA. Faecal cytokines and other serological markers of gut inflammation could also be further explored

171

in future studies, as gut barrier function, appears in part to play a role in preventing pathobionts colonising the intestinal microbiome from crossing the gut barrier and resulting in invasive disease.

## Abstracts and Publications Arising from this Thesis.

### Journal articles

Yip, A.Y.G., King, O.G., Omelchenko, O. et al. Antibiotics promote intestinal growth of carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae by enriching nutrients and depleting microbial metabolites. Nat Commun 14, 5094 (2023). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-023-40872-z Ghani R, Mullish BH, Davies FJ, Marchesi JR et al., 2022, How to adapt an intestinal microbiota transplantation program to reduce the risk of invasive multidrug-resistant infection, Clinical Microbiology and Infection, Vol: 28, Pages: 502-512, ISSN: 1198-743X

Ghani R, Mullish BH, Roberts L, Davies FJ, Marchesi JR et al., 2022, The potential utility of fecal (or intestinal) microbiota transplantation in controlling infectious diseases, Gut Microbes, Vol: 14, Pages: 1-22, ISSN: 1949-0976

Ghani R, Mullish BH, McDonald JAK, Ghazy A, Williams HRT, Brannigan ET, Mookerjee S, Satta G, Gilchrist M, Duncan N, Corbett R, Innes AJ, Pavlu J, Thursz MR, Davies F, Marchesi JR et al., 2021, Disease prevention not decolonisation – a model for fecal microbiota transplantation in patients colonized with multidrug-resistant organisms, Clinical Infectious Diseases, Vol: 72, Pages: 1444-1447, ISSN: 1058-4838

Lythgoe MP, Ghani R, Mullish BH, Marchesi JR, Krell Jet al., 2021, The Potential of Faecal Microbiota Transplantation in Oncology, Trends in Microbiology, ISSN: 0966-842X

Innes AJ, Mullish BH, Ghani R, Szydlo RM, Apperley JF, Olavarria E, Palanicawandar R, Kanfer EJ, Milojkovic D, McDonald JAK, Brannigan ET, Thursz MR, Williams HRT, Davies FJ, Marchesi JR, Pavlu J et al., 2021, Fecal microbiota transplant mitigates adverse outcomes in patients colonized with multidrug-resistant organisms undergoing allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation, Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology, Vol: 11, Pages: 1-8, ISSN: 2235-2988

Mullish BH, Ghani R, McDonald JAK, Davies F, Marchesi JR et al., 2021, Reply to Woodworth, et al, Clinical Infectious Diseases, Vol: 72, Pages: e924-e925, ISSN: 1058-4838

Ming DK, Otter JA, Ghani R, Brannigan ET, Boonyasiri A, Mookerjee S, Gilchrist M, Holmes AH, Davies F et al., 2019, Clinical risk stratification and antibiotic management of NDM and OXA-48 carbapenemase-producing Enterobacteriaceae bloodstream infections in the UK, Journal of Hospital Infection, Vol: 102, Pages: 95-97, ISSN: 0195-6701

Mullish BH, Ghani R, McDonald J, Marchesi JR et al., 2019, Faecal microbiota transplant for eradication of multidrug-resistant Enterobacteriaceae: a lesson in applying best practice? Re: 'A five-day course of oral antibiotics followed by faecal transplantation to eradicate carriage of multidrug-resistant Enterobacteriaceae: A Randomized Clinical Trial', Clinical Microbiology and Infection, Vol: 25, Pages: 912-913, ISSN: 1198-743X

#### **Conference** Papers

Ghani R, Blanco JM, Forlano R, Triantafyllou E, Bilinski J, Geva-Zatorsky N, Bar-Yoseph H, Thursz MR, Davies F, Mullish BH, Marchesi JR et al., 2022, Relative change of Enterococcus faecium, selected commensal bacteria and cytokines are seen in patients colonized with multidrug-resistant organisms who undergo Intestinal Microbiota Transplantation, Publisher: W B SAUNDERS CO-ELSEVIER INC, Pages: S218-S219, ISSN: 0016-5085

Mullish BH, Innes AJ, Ghani R, Szydlo R, Williams HR, Thursz MR, Marchesi J, Davies F, Pavlu J et al.,2021, Fecal Microbiota Transplant prior to Allogeneic haematopoetic cell transplant in patients colonized with multidrug-resistant organisms is associated with improved survival, Society-forSurgery-of-the-Alimentary-Tract Annual Meeting at Digestive Disease Week (DDW), Publisher: W B SAUNDERS CO-ELSEVIER INC, Pages: S168-S169, ISSN: 0016-5085

Ghani R, Mullish BH, Mcdonald J, Williams H, Gilchrist M, Brannigan E, Satta G, Taube D, Duncan N, Pavlu J, Ghazy A, Thursz M, Davies F, Marchesi Jet al., 2020, Cohort study of Faecal Microbiota Transplantation for patient's colonised with MDROs - successful prevention of invasive disease despite low decolonisation rates, Access Microbiology, Vol: 2

Ghani R, Mullish BH, Thursz M, Marchesi J, Ghazy A, Davies Fet al., 2020, Case-control study of recurrent Extended-Spectrum Beta Lactamase Enterobacteriaceae Urinary Tract Infections (ESBL UTIs): the management challenges, Access Microbiology, Vol: 2

Ghani R, Gan C, Mullish BH, Ferizoli V, Davies F, Thursz MR, Marchesi JR, Dasgupta R, Minhas Set al., 2019, P13-2 Prevalence of recurrent Extended Spectrum Beta-Lactamase (ESBL) urinary tract infections (UTIs) in patients within a Urology service and introducing the concept of Faecal Microbiota Transplantation (FMT) as a treatment modality, British Association of Urological Surgeons Annual Scientific Meeting, Publisher: SAGE Publications, Pages: 83-85, ISSN: 2051-4158

Ghani R, Gan C, Mullish B, Ferizoli V, Thursz M, Marchesi J, Davies F, Dasgupta R, Minhas Set al., 2019, MP71-15 Prevalence of recurrent extended-spectrum beta-lactamase (ESBL) urinary tract infections (UTIs) in patients within a urology service. Introducing the concept of Faecal Microbiota transplantation (FMT) as a treatment modality., AUA 2019, Publisher: Elsevier, ISSN: 0022-534

Ghani R, Mookerjee S, Mullish BH, Thursz M, Marchesi J, Pavlu J, Davies Fet al., 2018, Impact on Length of Stay and Antibiotic Use in Allogenic and Autologous Stem Cell Transplant Patients Colonized with Carbapenemase-producing Enterobacteriaceae, IDWeek, Publisher: Oxford University Press, ISSN: 2328-8957

Conference Presentations

Poster Presentation at ECCMID 2021

Ghani R, Mullish B, Innes A, Szydlo RM, Apperley JF, Olavarria E, Palanicawandar R, Kanfer E, Milojkovic D, McDonald JAK, Brannigan E, Thursz MR, Williams HRT, Davies FJ, Pavlu J, Marchesi Jet al., 2021, Faecal microbiota transplant (FMT) prior to allogeneic haematopoietic cell transplantation (HCT) in patients colonised with multidrug-resistant organisms (MDRO) results in improved survival, ECCMID

#### Poster Presentation at ECCMID 2020

Ghani R, Mullish BH, McDonald J, Ghazy A, Williams H, Satta G, Eimear B, Gilchrist M, Duncan N, Corbett R, Pavlu J, Innes A, Thursz M, Marchesi J, Davies Fet al., 2020, Disease prevention not decolonisation: a cohort study for faecal microbiota transplantation for patients colonised with multidrug-resistant organisms,

Poster Presentation at IDWeek 2018, San Francisco

R Ghani, S Mookerjee, B Mullish, M Thursz, J Marchesi, J Pavlu, F Davies, Impact on Mortality, Length of Stay, and Antibiotic Use in Allogenic and Autologous Stem Cell Transplant Patients Colonized With Carbapenemase-Producing Enterobacteriaceae.

#### Book Chapter

Ghani R, Mullish BH, 2020, Decision: Considerations for Use of Fecal Microbiota Transplantation in Special Patient Populations, The 6 Ds of Fecal Microbiota Transplantation: A Primer from Decision to Discharge and Beyond, Editors: Allegretti, Kassam, Publisher: Slack Incorporated, ISBN: 9781630917500

# Bibliography

- World Health Organization. Global antimicrobial resistance surveillance system (GLASS) report: early implementation 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/332081
- Magiorakos AP, Srinivasan A, Carey RB, Carmeli Y, Falagas ME, Giske CG, et al. Multidrug-resistant, extensively drug-resistant and pandrug-resistant bacteria: An international expert proposal for interim standard definitions for acquired resistance. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*. 2012;18(3): 268–281. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-0691.2011.03570.x.
- Tacconelli E, Magrini N. WHO (2017) Global priority list of antibiotic-resistant bacteria to guide research, discovery, and development of new antibiotics. Cadernos de Pesquisa. p. 348–365. http://www.cdc.gov/drugresistance/threat-report-2013/
- Murray CJL, Ikuta KS, Sharara F, Swetschinski L, Robles Aguilar G, Gray A, et al. Global burden of bacterial antimicrobial resistance in 2019: a systematic analysis. *The Lancet*. 2022;399(10325): 629–655. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(21)02724-0.
- Cassini A, Högberg LD, Plachouras D, Quattrocchi A, Hoxha A, Simonsen GS, et al. Attributable deaths and disability-adjusted life-years caused by infections with antibiotic-resistant bacteria in the EU and the European Economic Area in 2015: a population-level modelling analysis. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*. 2019;19(1): 56– 66. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(18)30605-4.
- Dunachie SJ, Day NPJ, Dolecek C. The challenges of estimating the human global burden of disease of antimicrobial resistant bacteria. *Current Opinion in Microbiology*. 2020;57: 95–101. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mib.2020.09.013.
- CDC. Antibiotic Resistance Threats in The United States 2019. CDC. 2019. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13756-020-00872-w.

- P DODM, M FB, J KT, A HPN, A SM, A BS, et al. Antimicrobial Resistance in ESKAPE Pathogens. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*. 2020;33(3): e00181-19. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00181-19.
- Otter JA, Burgess P, Davies F, Mookerjee S, Singleton J, Gilchrist M, et al. Counting the cost of an outbreak of carbapenemase-producing Enterobacteriaceae: an economic evaluation from a hospital perspective. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*. 2017;23(3): 188–196. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2016.10.005.
- 10. O'Neill J. *Review on antimicrobial resistance: tackling drug-resistant infections globally: final report and recommendations.* 2016. p. 80 pp.
- Pérez-Galera S, Bravo-Ferrer JM, Paniagua M, Kostyanev T, de Kraker MEA, Feifel J, et al. Risk factors for infections caused by carbapenem-resistant Enterobacterales: an international matched case-control-control study (EURECA). *eClinicalMedicine*. 2023;57: 101871. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2023.101871.
- Bonten MJM, Weinstein RA. The Role of Colonization in the Pathogenesis of Nosocomial Infections. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology*. 2015/01/02. 1996;17(3): 193–200. https://doi.org/DOI: 10.1017/S0195941700006603.
- Tamburini FB, Andermann TM, Tkachenko E, Senchyna F, Banaei N, Bhatt AS.
  Precision identification of diverse bloodstream pathogens in the gut microbiome.
  *Nature Medicine*. 2018;24(12): 1809–1814. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-018-0202-8.
- Gutiérrez-Gutiérrez B, Salamanca E, de Cueto M, Hsueh PR, Viale P, Paño-Pardo JR, et al. Effect of appropriate combination therapy on mortality of patients with bloodstream infections due to carbapenemase-producing Enterobacteriaceae (INCREMENT): a retrospective cohort study. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*. 2017;17(7): 726–734. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(17)30228-1.
- 15. Righi E, Peri AM, Harris PNA, Wailan AM, Liborio M, Lane SW, et al. Global prevalence of carbapenem resistance in neutropenic patients and association with mortality and

carbapenem use: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*. 2017;72(3): 668–677. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkw459.

- Tumbarello M, Viale P, Viscoli C, Trecarichi EM, Tumietto F, Marchese A, et al. Predictors of Mortality in Bloodstream Infections Caused by Klebsiella pneumoniae Carbapenemase–Producing K. pneumoniae: Importance of Combination Therapy. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*. 2012;55(7): 943–950. https://doi.org/10.1093/CID/CIS588.
- Tacconelli E, De Angelis G, Cataldo MA, Mantengoli E, Spanu T, Pan A, et al. Antibiotic Usage and Risk of Colonization and Infection with Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria: a Hospital Population-Based Study. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*.
   2009;53(10): 4264 LP – 4269. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00431-09.
- Hussein K, Sprecher H, Mashiach T, Oren I, Kassis I, Finkelstein R. Carbapenem Resistance Among Klebsiella pneumoniae Isolates Risk Factors, Molecular Characteristics, and Susceptibility Patterns. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology*. 2009;30(7): 666–671. https://doi.org/10.1086/598244.
- Wang Y, Lin Q, Chen Z, Hou H, Shen N, Wang Z, et al. Construction of a risk prediction model for subsequent bloodstream infection in intestinal carriers of carbapenemresistant enterobacteriaceae: A retrospective study in hematology department and intensive care unit. *Infection and Drug Resistance*. 2021;14: 815–824. https://doi.org/10.2147/IDR.S286401.
- Wu Q, Qian C, Yin H, Liu F, Wu Y, Li W, et al. A Novel Risk Predictive Scoring Model for Predicting Subsequent Infection After Carbapenem-Resistant Gram-Negative Bacteria Colonization in Hematological Malignancy Patients. *Frontiers in Oncology*. 2022;12: 1. https://doi.org/10.3389/FONC.2022.897479.
- 21. Giannella M, Trecarichi EM, De Rosa FG, Del Bono V, Bassetti M, Lewis RE, et al. Risk factors for carbapenem-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae bloodstream infection among rectal carriers: a prospective observational multicentre study. *Clinical*

*Microbiology and Infection*. 2014;20(12): 1357–1362. https://doi.org/10.1111/1469-0691.12747.

- McConville TH, Sullivan SB, Gomez-Simmonds A, Whittier S, Uhlemann AC.
  Carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae colonization (CRE) and subsequent risk of infection and 90-day mortality in critically ill patients, an observational study. *PLOS ONE*. 2017;12(10): e0186195. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0186195.
- Zhang P, Wang J, Hu H, Zhang S, Wei J, Yang Q, et al. Clinical characteristics and risk factors for bloodstream infection due to carbapenem-resistant klebsiella pneumoniae in patients with hematologic malignancies. *Infection and Drug Resistance*. 2020;13: 3233–3242. https://doi.org/10.2147/IDR.S272217.
- Herrera F, Torres D, Laborde A, Berruezo L, Jordán R, Rossi IR, et al. Development of a Clinical Score to Stratify the Risk for Carbapenem-Resistant Enterobacterales Bacteremia in Patients with Cancer and Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation. *Antibiotics 2023, Vol. 12, Page 226.* 2023;12(2): 226. https://doi.org/10.3390/ANTIBIOTICS12020226.
- Amit S, Mishali H, Kotlovsky T, Schwaber MJ, Carmeli Y. Bloodstream infections among carriers of carbapenem-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae: etiology, incidence and predictors. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*. 2015;21(1): 30–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CMI.2014.08.001.
- 26. Cag Y, Caskurlu H, Fan Y, Cao B, Vahaboglu H. *Resistance mechanisms*. Annals of Translational Medicine. 2016. https://doi.org/10.21037/atm.2016.09.14.
- Blair JMA, Webber MA, Baylay AJ, Ogbolu DO, Piddock LJ V. Molecular mechanisms of antibiotic resistance. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*. 2015;13(1): 42–51. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro3380.
- Tosh PK, McDonald LC. Infection Control in the Multidrug-Resistant Era: Tending the Human Microbiome. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*. 2012;54(5): 707–713. https://doi.org/10.1093/CID/CIR899.

- Liu P, Li X, Luo M, Xu X, Su K, Chen S, et al. Risk Factors for Carbapenem-Resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae Infection: A Meta-Analysis. *Microbial Drug Resistance*.
   2018;24(2): 190–198. https://doi.org/10.1089/MDR.2017.0061/ASSET/IMAGES/LARGE/FIGURE2.JPEG.
- Gjonbalaj M, Keith JW, Do MH, Hohl TM, Pamer EG, Becattini S. Antibiotic degradation by commensal microbes shields pathogens. *Infection and Immunity*. 2020;88(4). https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00012-20/SUPPL\_FILE/IAI.00012-20-S0001.PDF.
- 31. van Schaik W. The human gut resistome. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*. 2015;370(1670): 20140087. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2014.0087.
- de Oliveira Santos JV, da Costa Júnior SD, de Fátima Ramos dos Santos Medeiros SM, Cavalcanti IDL, de Souza JB, Coriolano DL, et al. Panorama of Bacterial Infections Caused by Epidemic Resistant Strains. *Current Microbiology*. 2022;79(6): 175. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00284-022-02875-9.
- Aurilio C, Sansone P, Barbarisi M, Pota V, Giaccari LG, Coppolino F, et al. Mechanisms of Action of Carbapenem Resistance. *Antibiotics*. 2022;11(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/ANTIBIOTICS11030421.
- Bush K, Fisher JF. Epidemiological Expansion, Structural Studies, and Clinical Challenges of New β-Lactamases from Gram-Negative Bacteria. *Annual Review of Microbiology*. 2011;65(1): 455–478. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-micro-090110-102911.
- Lee YL, Chen HM, Hii IM, Hsueh PR. Carbapenemase-producing Enterobacterales infections: recent advances in diagnosis and treatment. *International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents*. 2022;59(2): 106528. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2022.106528.
- Wilson H, Török ME. Extended-spectrum β-lactamase-producing and carbapenemaseproducing Enterobacteriaceae. *Microbial Genomics*. 2018;4(7): e000197–e000197. https://doi.org/10.1099/mgen.0.000197.
- Gorrie C, Higgs C, Carter G, Stinear TP, Howden B. Genomics of vancomycin-resistant Enterococcus faecium. *Microbial Genomics*. 2019;5(7). https://doi.org/10.1099/MGEN.0.000283.
- Tacconelli E, Carrara E, Savoldi A, Harbarth S, Mendelson M, Monnet DL, et al. Discovery, research, and development of new antibiotics: the WHO priority list of antibiotic-resistant bacteria and tuberculosis. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*. 2018;18(3): 318–327. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(17)30753-3.
- 39. Not enough new antibiotics in the pipeline, c | EurekAlert!.
   https://www.eurekalert.org/news-releases/982758 [Accessed 6th April 2023].
- Tacconelli E, Cataldo MA, Dancer SJ, De Angelis G, Falcone M, Frank U, et al. ESCMID guidelines for the management of the infection control measures to reduce transmission of multidrug-resistant Gram-negative bacteria in hospitalized patients. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*. 2014;20(S1): 1–55. https://doi.org/10.1111/1469-0691.12427.
- Bell BG, Schellevis F, Stobberingh E, Goossens H, Pringle M. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the effects of antibiotic consumption on antibiotic resistance. *BMC Infectious Diseases*. 2014;14(1): 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2334-14-13/TABLES/2.
- Septimus EJ. Antimicrobial Resistance: An Antimicrobial/Diagnostic Stewardship and Infection Prevention Approach. *Medical Clinics of North America*. 2018;102(5): 819– 829. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcna.2018.04.005.
- Barlam TF, Cosgrove SE, Abbo LM, Macdougall C, Schuetz AN, Septimus EJ, et al.
   Implementing an Antibiotic Stewardship Program: Guidelines by the Infectious
   Diseases Society of America and the Society for Healthcare Epidemiology of America.

Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2016;62(10): e51–e77. https://doi.org/10.1093/CID/CIW118.

- Charani E, Cooke J, Holmes A. Antibiotic stewardship programmes—what's missing? Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. 2010;65(11): 2275–2277. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkq357.
- 45. Elvers KT, Wilson VJ, Hammond A, Duncan L, Huntley AL, Hay AD, et al. Antibioticinduced changes in the human gut microbiota for the most commonly prescribed antibiotics in primary care in the UK: a systematic review. *BMJ open*. 2020;10(9): e035677. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2019-035677.
- 46. Campos-Madueno EI, Moradi M, Eddoubaji Y, Shahi F, Moradi S, Bernasconi OJ, et al. Intestinal colonization with multidrug-resistant Enterobacterales: screening, epidemiology, clinical impact, and strategies to decolonize carriers. *European Journal* of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases 2023 42:3. 2023;42(3): 229–254. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10096-023-04548-2.
- Bar-Yoseph H, Hussein K, Braun E, Paul M. Natural history and decolonization strategies for ESBL/carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae carriage: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*. 2016;71(10): 2729–2739. https://doi.org/10.1093/JAC/DKW221.
- Mo Y, Hernandez-Koutoucheva A, Musicha P, Bertrand D, Lye D, Ng O, et al. Duration of Carbapenemase-Producing Enterobacteriaceae Carriage in Hospital Patients. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*. 2020;26(9): 2182. https://doi.org/10.3201/EID2609.190592.
- 49. Vink JP, Otter JA, Edgeworth JD. Carbapenemase-producing Enterobacteriaceae Once positive always positive? *Current Opinion in Gastroenterology*. 2020;36(1): 9–
  16. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOG.00000000000596.
- 50. de Smet AMGA, Kluytmans JAJW, Cooper BS, Mascini EM, Benus RFJ, van der Werf TS, et al. Decontamination of the Digestive Tract and Oropharynx in ICU Patients. *New*

*England Journal of Medicine*. 2009;360(1): 20–31. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0800394.

- Tacconelli E, Mazzaferri F, de Smet AM, Bragantini D, Eggimann P, Huttner BD, et al. ESCMID-EUCIC clinical guidelines on decolonization of multidrug-resistant Gramnegative bacteria carriers. Clinical Microbiology and Infection. 2019. p. 807–817. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2019.01.005.
- Karbalaei M, Keikha M. Probiotics and intestinal decolonization of antibiotic-resistant microorganisms; A reality or fantasy? *Annals of Medicine and Surgery*. 2022;80: 104269. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AMSU.2022.104269.
- Manley KJ, Fraenkel MB, Mayall BC, Power DA. Probiotic treatment of vancomycinresistant enterococci: a randomised controlled trial. *Medical Journal of Australia*. 2007;186(9): 454–457. https://doi.org/10.5694/J.1326-5377.2007.TB00995.X.
- Feehan A, Garcia-Diaz J. Bacterial, Gut Microbiome-Modifying Therapies to Defend against Multidrug Resistant Organisms. *Microorganisms 2020, Vol. 8, Page 166*.
   2020;8(2): 166. https://doi.org/10.3390/MICROORGANISMS8020166.
- 55. Ramos-Ramos JC, Lázaro-Perona F, Arribas JR, García-Rodríguez J, Mingorance J, Ruiz-Carrascoso G, et al. Proof-of-concept trial of the combination of lactitol with Bifidobacterium bifidum and Lactobacillus acidophilus for the eradication of intestinal OXA-48-producing Enterobacteriaceae. *Gut Pathogens*. 2020;12(1): 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/S13099-020-00354-9/FIGURES/3.
- 56. Wieërs G, Verbelen V, Van Den Driessche M, Melnik E, Vanheule G, Marot JC, et al. Do Probiotics During In-Hospital Antibiotic Treatment Prevent Colonization of Gut Microbiota With Multi-Drug-Resistant Bacteria? A Randomized Placebo-Controlled Trial Comparing Saccharomyces to a Mixture of Lactobacillus, Bifidobacterium, and Saccharomyces. *Frontiers in Public Health*. 2021;8: 1039. https://doi.org/10.3389/FPUBH.2020.578089/BIBTEX.

- 57. Salomão MCC, Heluany-Filho MA, Menegueti MG, de Kraker MEA, Martinez R, Bellissimo-Rodrigues F. A randomized clinical trial on the effectiveness of a symbiotic product to decolonize patients harboring multidrug-resistant Gram-negative bacilli. *Revista da Sociedade Brasileira de Medicina Tropical*. 2016;49(5): 559–566. https://doi.org/10.1590/0037-8682-0233-2016.
- Yelin I, Flett KB, Merakou C, Mehrotra P, Stam J, Snesrud E, et al. Genomic and epidemiological evidence of bacterial transmission from probiotic capsule to blood in ICU patients. *Nature Medicine 2019 25:11*. 2019;25(11): 1728–1732. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-019-0626-9.
- Gilliam CH, De Cardenas JB, Carias D, Alfaro GM, Hayden RT, Hakim H. Lactobacillus bloodstream infections genetically related to probiotic use in pediatric hematopoietic cell transplant patients. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology*. 2023;44(3): 484– 487. https://doi.org/10.1017/ICE.2021.515.
- Maciejewska B, Olszak T, Drulis-Kawa Z. Applications of bacteriophages versus phage enzymes to combat and cure bacterial infections: an ambitious and also a realistic application? *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 2018 102:6*. 2018;102(6): 2563– 2581. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00253-018-8811-1.
- Patil A, Banerji R, Kanojiya P, Koratkar S, Saroj S. Bacteriophages for ESKAPE: role in pathogenicity and measures of control. https://doi.org/10.1080/14787210.2021.1858800. 2021;19(7): 845–865. https://doi.org/10.1080/14787210.2021.1858800.
- Kuipers S, Ruth MM, Mientjes M, de Sévaux RGL, van Ingen J. A Dutch case report of successful treatment of chronic relapsing urinary tract infection with bacteriophages in a renal transplant patient. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*. 2020;64(1). https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.01281-19/ASSET/7604ABDC-202C-4931-B08B-5B0FD5D0ADB9/ASSETS/GRAPHIC/AAC.01281-19-F0002.JPEG.

- Corbellino M, Kieffer N, Kutateladze M, Balarjishvili N, Leshkasheli L, Askilashvili L, et al. Eradication of a Multidrug-Resistant, Carbapenemase-Producing Klebsiella pneumoniae Isolate Following Oral and Intra-rectal Therapy With a Custom Made, Lytic Bacteriophage Preparation. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*. 2020;70(9): 1998–2001. https://doi.org/10.1093/CID/CIZ782.
- Brives C, Pourraz J. Phage therapy as a potential solution in the fight against AMR: obstacles and possible futures. *Palgrave Communications*. 2020;6(1): 100. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41599-020-0478-4.
- Labrie SJ, Samson JE, Moineau S. Bacteriophage resistance mechanisms. *Nature Reviews Microbiology 2010 8:5*. 2010;8(5): 317–327. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2315.
- Qin J, Li R, Raes J, Arumugam M, Burgdorf KS, Manichanh C, et al. A human gut microbial gene catalogue established by metagenomic sequencing. *Nature 2010* 464:7285. 2010;464(7285): 59–65. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08821.
- Isles NS, Mu A, Kwong JC, Howden BP, Stinear TP. Gut microbiome signatures and host colonization with multidrug-resistant bacteria. *Trends in Microbiology*. 2022;30(9): 853–865. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TIM.2022.01.013.
- Casals-Pascual C, Vergara A, Vila J. Intestinal microbiota and antibiotic resistance: Perspectives and solutions. *Human Microbiome Journal*. 2018;9: 11–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.HUMIC.2018.05.002.
- Taur Y, Xavier JB, Lipuma L, Ubeda C, Goldberg J, Gobourne A, et al. Intestinal domination and the risk of bacteremia in patients undergoing allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*. 2012;55(7): 905– 914. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/cis580.
- Sullivan A, Edlund C, Nord CE. Effect of antimicrobial agents on the ecological balance of human microflora. *The Lancet. Infectious diseases*. 2001;1(2): 101–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(01)00066-4.

- 71. Keith JW, Pamer EG. Enlisting commensal microbes to resist antibiotic-resistant pathogens. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*. 2019;216(1): 10–19. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20180399.
- Caballero-Flores G, Pickard JM, Núñez G. Microbiota-mediated colonization resistance: mechanisms and regulation. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*. 2023;21(6): 347–360. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-022-00833-7.
- 73. Cook, Sellin. Review article: short chain fatty acids in health and disease. *Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics*. 1998;12(6): 499–507.
   https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2036.1998.00337.x.
- 74. Zhao Y, Chen F, Wu W, Sun M, Bilotta AJ, Yao S, et al. GPR43 mediates microbiota metabolite SCFA regulation of antimicrobial peptide expression in intestinal epithelial cells via activation of mTOR and STAT3. *Mucosal Immunology*. 2018;11(3): 752–762. https://doi.org/10.1038/mi.2017.118.
- McDonald JAK, Mullish BH, Pechlivanis A, Liu Z, Brignardello J, Kao D, et al. Inhibiting Growth of Clostridioides difficile by Restoring Valerate, Produced by the Intestinal Microbiota. *Gastroenterology*. 2018;155(5): 1495-1507.e15. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2018.07.014.
- McKenney PT, Pamer EG. From Hype to Hope: The Gut Microbiota in Enteric Infectious Disease. *Cell*. 2015;163(6): 1326–1332. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2015.11.032.
- Iacob S, Iacob DG, Luminos LM. Intestinal microbiota as a host defense mechanism to infectious threats. *Frontiers in Microbiology*. 2019;10(JAN): 3328. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2018.03328/BIBTEX.
- Jones B V, Begley M, Hill C, Gahan CGM, Marchesi JR. Functional and comparative metagenomic analysis of bile salt hydrolase activity in the human gut microbiome. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 2008;105(36): 13580–13585. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0804437105.

- Kim S, Covington A, Pamer EG. The intestinal microbiota: Antibiotics, colonization resistance, and enteric pathogens. *Immunological Reviews*. 2017;279(1): 90–105. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/imr.12563.
- Pickard JM, Zeng MY, Caruso R, Núñez G. Gut microbiota: Role in pathogen colonization, immune responses, and inflammatory disease. *Immunological Reviews*. 2017;279(1): 70–89. https://doi.org/10.1111/imr.12567.
- Wuethrich I, W. Pelzer B, Khodamoradi Y, Vehreschild MJGT. The role of the human gut microbiota in colonization and infection with multidrug-resistant bacteria. *Gut Microbes*. 2021;13(1): 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1080/19490976.2021.1911279.
- Le Guern R, Stabler S, Gosset P, Pichavant M, Grandjean T, Faure E, et al. Colonization resistance against multi-drug-resistant bacteria: a narrative review. *Journal of Hospital Infection*. 2021;118: 48–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2021.09.001.
- Rakoff-Nahoum S, Paglino J, Eslami-Varzaneh F, Edberg S, Medzhitov R. Recognition of Commensal Microflora by Toll-Like Receptors Is Required for Intestinal Homeostasis. *Cell*. 2004;118(2): 229–241. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2004.07.002.
- 84. Donohoe DR, Garge N, Zhang X, Sun W, O'Connell TM, Bunger MK, et al. The microbiome and butyrate regulate energy metabolism and autophagy in the mammalian colon. *Cell metabolism*. 2011;13(5): 517–526. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2011.02.018.
- Macpherson AJ, Uhr T. Induction of protective IgA by intestinal dendritic cells carrying commensal bacteria. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*. 2004;303(5664): 1662–1665. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1091334.
- Winter SE, Bäumler AJ. A breathtaking feat. *Gut Microbes*. 2011;2(1): 58–60.
   https://doi.org/10.4161/gmic.2.1.14911.
- 87. Rivera-Chávez F, Zhang LF, Faber F, Lopez CA, Byndloss MX, Olsan EE, et al. Depletion of Butyrate-Producing Clostridia from the Gut Microbiota Drives an Aerobic Luminal

Expansion of Salmonella. *Cell Host & Microbe*. 2016;19(4): 443–454. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CHOM.2016.03.004.

- Engevik MA, Yacyshyn MB, Engevik KA, Wang J, Darien B, Hassett DJ, et al. Human Clostridium difficile infection: altered mucus production and composition. *American journal of physiology. Gastrointestinal and liver physiology*. 2015;308(6): G510-24. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpgi.00091.2014.
- Ghosh S, Whitley CS, Haribabu B, Jala VR. Regulation of Intestinal Barrier Function by Microbial Metabolites. *Cellular and Molecular Gastroenterology and Hepatology*. 2021;11(5): 1463–1482. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCMGH.2021.02.007.
- 90. Mukherjee S, Hooper LV. Antimicrobial Defense of the Intestine. *Immunity*.
  2015;42(1): 28–39. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2014.12.028.
- 91. Russell AB, Wexler AG, Harding BN, Whitney JC, Bohn AJ, Goo YA, et al. A type VI secretion-related pathway in Bacteroidetes mediates interbacterial antagonism. *Cell host & microbe*. 2014;16(2): 227–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2014.07.007.
- 92. Momose Y, Hirayama K, Itoh K. Competition for proline between indigenous Escherichia coli and E. coli O157:H7 in gnotobiotic mice associated with infant intestinal microbiota and its contribution to the colonization resistance against E. coli O157:H7. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek. 2008;94(2): 165–171. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10482-008-9222-6.
- Maltby R, Leatham-Jensen MP, Gibson T, Cohen PS, Conway T. Nutritional Basis for Colonization Resistance by Human Commensal Escherichia coli Strains HS and Nissle 1917 against E. coli O157:H7 in the Mouse Intestine. *PLOS ONE*. 2013;8(1): e53957. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0053957.
- Schroeder BO, Birchenough GMH, Ståhlman M, Arike L, Johansson ME V, Hansson GC, et al. Bifidobacteria or Fiber Protects against Diet-Induced Microbiota-Mediated Colonic Mucus Deterioration. *Cell host & microbe*. 2018;23(1): 27-40.e7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2017.11.004.

- 95. Annavajhala MK, Gomez-Simmonds A, Macesic N, Sullivan SB, Kress A, Khan SD, et al. Colonizing multidrug-resistant bacteria and the longitudinal evolution of the intestinal microbiome after liver transplantation. *Nature communications*. 2019;10(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/S41467-019-12633-4.
- Araos R, Montgomery V, Ugalde JA, Snyder GM, D'Agata EMC. Microbial Disruption Indices to Detect Colonization With Multidrug-Resistant Organisms. *Infection Control* & Hospital Epidemiology. 2017;38(11): 1312–1318. https://doi.org/10.1017/ICE.2017.190.
- Araos R, Battaglia T, Ugalde JA, Rojas-Herrera M, Blaser MJ, D'agata EMC. Fecal microbiome characteristics and the resistome associated with acquisition of multidrug-resistant organisms among elderly subjects. *Frontiers in Microbiology*. 2019;10(SEP): 2260. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2019.02260/BIBTEX.
- 98. Baek MS, Kim S, Kim WY, Kweon MN, Huh JW. Gut microbiota alterations in critically Ill patients with carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae colonization: A clinical analysis. *Frontiers in Microbiology*. 2023;14: 1075. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2023.1140402.
- 99. Bar-Yoseph H, Carasso S, Shklar S, Korytny A, Even Dar R, Daoud H, et al. Oral Capsulized Fecal Microbiota Transplantation for Eradication of Carbapenemaseproducing Enterobacteriaceae Colonization with a Metagenomic Perspective. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*. 2021;73(1): E166–E175. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa737.
- 100. Bilinski J, Grzesiowski P, Sorensen N, Madry K, Muszynski J, Robak K, et al. Fecal Microbiota Transplantation in Patients With Blood Disorders Inhibits Gut Colonization With Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria: Results of a Prospective, Single-Center Study. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*. 2017;65(3): 364–370. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/cix252.
- 101. Ducarmon QR, Terveer EM, Nooij S, Bloem MN, Vendrik KEW, Caljouw MAA, et al. Microbiota-associated risk factors for asymptomatic gut colonisation with multi-drug-

resistant organisms in a Dutch nursing home. *Genome Medicine*. 2021;13(1): 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1186/S13073-021-00869-Z/FIGURES/7.

- 102. Garcia ER, Vergara A, Aziz F, Narváez S, Cuesta G, Hernández M, et al. Changes in the gut microbiota and risk of colonization by multidrug-resistant bacteria, infection, and death in critical care patients. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*. 2022;28(7): 975– 982. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CMI.2022.01.004.
- 103. Gosalbes MJ, Vázquez-Castellanos JF, Angebault C, Woerther PL, Ruppé E, Ferrús ML, et al. Carriage of enterobacteria producing extended-spectrum β-lactamases and composition of the gut microbiota in an Amerindian community. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*. 2016;60(1): 507–514. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.01528-15/SUPPL\_FILE/ZAC001164759SO1.PDF.
- 104. Huang YS, Lai LC, Chen YA, Lin KY, Chou YH, Chen HC, et al. Colonization With Multidrug-Resistant Organisms Among Healthy Adults in the Community Setting: Prevalence, Risk Factors, and Composition of Gut Microbiome. *Frontiers in Microbiology*. 2020;11. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2020.01402/FULL.
- 105. Kang JTL, Teo JJY, Bertrand D, Ng A, Ravikrishnan A, Yong M, et al. Long-term ecological and evolutionary dynamics in the gut microbiomes of carbapenemaseproducing Enterobacteriaceae colonized subjects. *Nature Microbiology*. 2022;7(10): 1516–1524. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41564-022-01221-w.
- 106. Stoma I, Littmann ER, Peled JU, Giralt S, van den Brink MRM, Pamer EG, et al. Compositional Flux Within the Intestinal Microbiota and Risk for Bloodstream Infection With Gram-negative Bacteria. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*. 2021;73(11): e4627–e4635. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa068.
- 107. Wolf DJ. S66• OFID 2018: 5 (Suppl 1)• Oral Abstracts.
- 108. Araos R, Tai AK, Snyder GM, Blaser MJ, D'Agata EMC. Predominance of Lactobacillus spp. Among Patients Who Do Not Acquire Multidrug-Resistant Organisms. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*. 2016;63(7): 937–943. https://doi.org/10.1093/CID/CIW426.

- 109. Becattini S, Littmann ER, Carter RA, Kim SG, Morjaria SM, Ling L, et al. Commensal microbes provide first line defense against Listeria monocytogenes infection. *Journal* of Experimental Medicine. 2017;214(7): 1973–1989. https://doi.org/10.1084/JEM.20170495.
- Caballero S, Kim S, Carter RA, Leiner IM, Sušac B, Miller L, et al. Cooperating Commensals Restore Colonization Resistance to Vancomycin-Resistant Enterococcus faecium. *Cell Host and Microbe*. 2017;21(5): 592-602.e4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2017.04.002.
- Crost EH, Pujol A, Ladiré M, Dabard J, Raibaud P, Carlier JP, et al. Production of an antibacterial substance in the digestive tract involved in colonization-resistance against Clostridium perfringens. *Anaerobe*. 2010;16(6): 597–603. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ANAEROBE.2010.06.009.
- 112. Crouzet L, Derrien M, Cherbuy C, Plancade S, Foulon M, Chalin B, et al. Lactobacillus paracasei CNCM I-3689 reduces vancomycin-resistant Enterococcus persistence and promotes Bacteroidetes resilience in the gut following antibiotic challenge. *Scientific Reports 2018 8:1*. 2018;8(1): 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-23437-9.
- De Sablet T, Chassard C, Bernalier-Donadille A, Vareille M, Gobert AP, Martin C. Human microbiota-secreted factors inhibit shiga toxin synthesis by enterohemorrhagic escherichia coli O157:H7. *Infection and Immunity*. 2009;77(2): 783–790. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.01048-08/ASSET/F13CD057-CDB5-4AED-9B4F-7EAF5EC669B4/ASSETS/GRAPHIC/ZII0020978030007.JPEG.
- Hsiao A, Ahmed AMS, Subramanian S, Griffin NW, Drewry LL, Petri WA, et al.
  Members of the human gut microbiota involved in recovery from Vibrio cholerae infection. *Nature 2014 515:7527*. 2014;515(7527): 423–426. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13738.
- 115. Itoh K, Freter R. Control of Escherichia coli populations by a combination of indigenous clostridia and lactobacilli in gnotobiotic mice and continuous-flow

cultures. *Infection and Immunity*. 1989;57(2): 559–565. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.57.2.559-565.1989.

- 116. Kim SG, Becattini S, Moody TU, Shliaha P V., Littmann ER, Seok R, et al. Microbiotaderived lantibiotic restores resistance against vancomycin-resistant Enterococcus. *Nature*. 2019;572(7771): 665–669. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1501-z.
- 117. Li X, Song L, Zhu S, Xiao Y, Huang Y, Hua Y, et al. Two strains of lactobacilli effectively decrease the colonization of VRE in a mouse model. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*. 2019;9(JAN): 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/FCIMB.2019.00006/BIBTEX.
- 118. Martins AKS, Martins FS, Gomes DA, Elian SDA, Vieira AT, Teixeira MM, et al. Evaluation of in vitro antagonism and of in vivo immune modulation and protection against pathogenic experimental challenge of two probiotic strains of Bifidobacterium animalis var. lactis. Archives of Microbiology. 2010;192(12): 995–1003. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00203-010-0626-0/FIGURES/5.
- 119. Osbelt L, Wende M, Va E´, Si A, Fischer T, Schl€ D, et al. Klebsiella oxytoca causes colonization resistance against multidrug-resistant K. pneumoniae in the gut via cooperative carbohydrate competition. *Cell Host and Microbe*. 2021;29: 1663-1679.e7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2021.09.003.
- 120. Stiefel U, Nerandzic MM, Pultz MJ, Donskeya CJ. Gastrointestinal colonization with a cephalosporinase-producing Bacteroides species preserves colonization resistance against vancomycin-resistant Enterococcus and Clostridium difficile in cephalosporintreated mice. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. 2014;58(8): 4535–4542. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.02782-14/ASSET/3DAC7E84-12D3-4DC0-8C8E-95488368E3B6/ASSETS/GRAPHIC/ZAC0081431080004.JPEG.
- 121. Ubeda C, Bucci V, Caballero S, Djukovic A, Toussaint NC, Equinda M, et al. Intestinal microbiota containing Barnesiella species cures vancomycin-resistant Enterococcus faecium colonization. *Infection and Immunity*. 2013;81(3): 965–973. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.01197-12.

- 122. De Oliveira CP, Da Silva JA, De Siqueira JP. Nature of the antimicrobial activity of Lactobacillus casei Bifidobacterium bifidum and Bifidobacterium animalis against foodborne pathogenic and spoilage microorganisms. *Natural Product Research*.
  2015;29(22): 2133–2136. https://doi.org/10.1080/14786419.2014.989844/SUPPL\_FILE/GNPL\_A\_989844\_SM01 44.DOCX.
- Urtis C, Onskey JD, Howdhry AKC, Ecker TH, Laudia C, Oyen KH, et al. Effect of Antibiotic Therapy on the Density of Vancomycin-Resistant Enterococci in the Stool of Colonized Patients. *https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM200012283432604*. 2000;343(26): 1925–1932. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM200012283432604.
- 124. Zimmermann P, Curtis N. The effect of antibiotics on the composition of the intestinal microbiota a systematic review. *Journal of Infection*. 2019;79(6): 471–489. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jinf.2019.10.008.
- 125. Jernberg C, Löfmark S, Edlund C, Jansson JK. Long-term ecological impacts of antibiotic administration on the human intestinal microbiota. *The ISME Journal 2007* 1:1. 2007;1(1): 56–66. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2007.3.
- 126. Ubeda C, Pamer EG. Antibiotics, microbiota, and immune defense. *Trends in Immunology*. 2012;33(9): 459–466. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IT.2012.05.003.
- Wlodarska M, Willing B, Keeney KM, Menendez A, Bergstrom KS, Gill N, et al. Antibiotic treatment alters the colonic mucus layer and predisposes the host to exacerbated Citrobacter rodentium-induced colitis. *Infection and Immunity*. 2011;79(4): 1536–1545. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.01104-10/ASSET/FF3F94D9-618E-4197-8518-39D17676040F/ASSETS/GRAPHIC/ZII9990991040005.JPEG.
- 128. Freedberg DE, Zhou MJ, Cohen ME, Annavajhala MK, Khan S, Moscoso DI, et al. Pathogen colonization of the gastrointestinal microbiome at intensive care unit admission and risk for subsequent death or infection. *Intensive Care Medicine*. 2018;44(8): 1203–1211. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00134-018-5268-8/TABLES/2.

- 129. Ubeda C, Taur Y, Jenq RR, Equinda MJ, Son T, Samstein M, et al. Vancomycin-resistant Enterococcus domination of intestinal microbiota is enabled by antibiotic treatment in mice and precedes bloodstream invasion in humans. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 2010;120(12): 4332–4341. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI43918.
- Tourret J, Willing BP, Dion S, MacPherson J, Denamur E, Finlay BB.
   Immunosuppressive treatment alters secretion of ileal antimicrobial peptides and gut microbiota, and favors subsequent colonization by uropathogenic Escherichia coli.
   *Transplantation*. 2017;101(1): 74–82.
   https://doi.org/10.1097/TP.00000000001492.
- Ren Z, Fan Y, Li A, Shen Q, Wu J, Ren L, et al. Alterations of the Human Gut Microbiome in Chronic Kidney Disease. *Advanced Science*. 2020;7(20): 2001936. https://doi.org/10.1002/ADVS.202001936.
- 132. Lee JR, Muthukumar T, Dadhania D, Toussaint NC, Ling L, Pamer E, et al. Gut microbial community structure and complications after kidney transplantation: A pilot study. *Transplantation*. 2014;98(7): 697–705. https://doi.org/10.1097/TP.00000000000370.
- 133. Swarte JC, Douwes RM, Hu S, Vila AV, Eisenga MF, van Londen M, et al. Characteristics and Dysbiosis of the Gut Microbiome in Renal Transplant Recipients. *Journal of Clinical Medicine 2020, Vol. 9, Page 386*. 2020;9(2): 386. https://doi.org/10.3390/JCM9020386.
- 134. Magruder M, Sholi AN, Gong C, Zhang L, Edusei E, Huang J, et al. Gut uropathogen abundance is a risk factor for development of bacteriuria and urinary tract infection. *Nature Communications*. 2019;10(1): 5521. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-13467-w.
- 135. Britt NS, Hagopian JC, Brennan DC, Pottebaum AA, Santos CAQ, Gharabagi A, et al.Effects of recurrent urinary tract infections on graft and patient outcomes after

kidney transplantation. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation*. 2017;32(10): 1758–1766. https://doi.org/10.1093/ndt/gfx237.

- Al-Hasan MN, Razonable RR, Kremers WK, Baddour LM. Impact of gram-negative bloodstream infection on long-term allograft survival after kidney transplantation. *Transplantation*. 2011;91(11): 1206–1210. https://doi.org/10.1097/TP.0B013E3182180535.
- 137. Copelan EA. Hematopoietic Stem-Cell Transplantation.
   https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra052638. 2006;354(17): 1813–1826.
   https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMRA052638.
- Kim S, Covington A, Pamer EG. The intestinal microbiota: Antibiotics, colonization resistance, and enteric pathogens. *Immunological Reviews*. 2017;279(1): 90–105. https://doi.org/10.1111/IMR.12563.
- 139. Taur Y, Jenq RR, Ubeda C, Van Den Brink M, Pamer EG. Role of intestinal microbiota in transplantation outcomes. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Haematology*. 2015;28(2–3): 155–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BEHA.2015.10.013.
- 140. Taur Y, Jenq RR, Ubeda C, Van Den Brink M, Pamer EG. Role of intestinal microbiota in transplantation outcomes. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Haematology*. 2015;28(2–3): 155–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BEHA.2015.10.013.
- 141. Peled JU, Gomes ALC, Devlin SM, Littmann ER, Taur Y, Sung AD, et al. Microbiota as Predictor of Mortality in Allogeneic Hematopoietic-Cell Transplantation. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 2020;382(9): 822–834. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa1900623.
- 142. Bilinski J, Robak K, Peric Z, Marchel H, Karakulska-Prystupiuk E, Halaburda K, et al. Impact of Gut Colonization by Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria on the Outcomes of Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation: A Retrospective, Single-Center Study. *Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation*. 2016;22(6): 1087–1093. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBMT.2016.02.009.

- 143. Browne HP, Forster SC, Anonye BO, Kumar N, Neville BA, Stares MD, et al. Culturing of 'unculturable' human microbiota reveals novel taxa and extensive sporulation. *Nature*. 2016;533(7604): 543–546. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature17645.
- 144. Whon TW, Shin NR, Kim JY, Roh SW. Omics in gut microbiome analysis. *Journal of Microbiology*. 2021;59(3): 292–297. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12275-021-1004-0.
- Mullish BH, Osborne LS, Marchesi JR, Mcdonald JA. The implementation of omics technologies in cancer microbiome research. 2018; https://doi.org/10.3332/ecancer.2018.864.
- 146. Chao A, Chiu CH, Jost L. Phylogenetic diversity measures based on Hill numbers.
   Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences. 2010;365(1558):
   3599–3609. https://doi.org/10.1098/RSTB.2010.0272.
- 147. Hilton SK, Castro-Nallar E, Pérez-Losada M, Toma I, McCaffrey TA, Hoffman EP, et al. Metataxonomic and Metagenomic Approaches vs. Culture-Based Techniques for Clinical Pathology. *Frontiers in Microbiology*. 2016;7. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmicb.2016.00484
- Nicholson JK. Global systems biology, personalized medicine and molecular epidemiology. *Molecular Systems Biology*. 2006;2(1): 52. https://doi.org/10.1038/MSB4100095.
- 149. Marchesi JR, Ravel J. The vocabulary of microbiome research: a proposal. *Microbiome*. 2015;3(1): 31. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-015-0094-5.
- 150. Váradi L, Luo JL, Hibbs DE, Perry JD, Anderson RJ, Orenga S, et al. Methods for the detection and identification of pathogenic bacteria: past, present, and future. *Chemical Society Reviews*. 2017;46(16): 4818–4832. https://doi.org/10.1039/C6CS00693K.
- 151. Odenwald MA, Turner JR. Intestinal Permeability Defects: Is It Time to Treat? *Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology*. 2013;11(9): 1075–1083. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cgh.2013.07.001.

- 152. Carlet J. *The gut is the epicentre of antibiotic resistance*. Antimicrobial Resistance and Infection Control. 2012. https://doi.org/10.1186/2047-2994-1-39.
- Kanda T, Fujii H, Tani T, Murakami H, Suda T, Sakai Y, et al. Intestinal Fatty Acid-Binding Protein Is a Useful Diagnostic Marker for Mesenteric Infarction in Humans. *GASTROENTEROLOGY*. 1996;110: 339–343.
- 154. Thiennimitr P, Winter SE, Winter MG, Xavier MN, Tolstikov V, Huseby DL, et al. Intestinal inflammation allows Salmonella to use ethanolamine to compete with the microbiota. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 2011;108(42): 17480–17485. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1107857108/SUPPL\_FILE/PNAS.201107857SI.PDF.
- Lessa FC, Mu Y, Bamberg WM, Beldavs ZG, Dumyati GK, Dunn JR, et al. Burden of Clostridium difficile Infection in the United States . *New England Journal of Medicine*. 2015;372(9): 825–834. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA1408913/SUPPL\_FILE/NEJMOA1408913\_DISCLOSUR ES.PDF.
- 156. Olsen MA, Yan Y, Reske KA, Zilberberg MD, Dubberke ER. Recurrent Clostridium difficile infection is associated with increased mortality. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*. 2015;21(2): 164–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CMI.2014.08.017.
- 157. Ju YC, Antonopoulos DA, Kalra A, Tonelli A, Khalife WT, Schmidt TM, et al. Decreased Diversity of the Fecal Microbiome in Recurrent Clostridium difficile—Associated Diarrhea. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*. 2008;197(3): 435–438. https://doi.org/10.1086/525047.
- Mullish BH, Williams HRT. Clostridium difficile infection and antibiotic-associated diarrhoea. *Clinical Medicine*. 2018;18(3): 237. https://doi.org/10.7861/CLINMEDICINE.18-3-237.
- 159. Theriot CM, Koenigsknecht MJ, Carlson PE, Hatton GE, Nelson AM, Li B, et al. Antibiotic-induced shifts in the mouse gut microbiome and metabolome increase

susceptibility to Clostridium difficile infection. *Nature Communications 2014 5:1*. 2014;5(1): 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms4114.

- van Nood E, Vrieze A, Nieuwdorp M, Fuentes S, Zoetendal EG, de Vos WM, et al. Duodenal Infusion of Donor Feces for Recurrent Clostridium difficile . *New England Journal of Medicine*. 2013;368(5): 407–415. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA1205037/SUPPL\_FILE/NEJMOA1205037\_DISCLOSUR ES.PDF.
- 161. Cammarota G, Masucci L, Ianiro G, Bibbò S, Dinoi G, Costamagna G, et al. Randomised clinical trial: faecal microbiota transplantation by colonoscopy vs. vancomycin for the treatment of recurrent Clostridium difficile infection. *Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics*. 2015;41(9): 835–843. https://doi.org/10.1111/APT.13144.
- 162. Hvas CL, Dahl Jørgensen SM, Jørgensen SP, Storgaard M, Lemming L, Hansen MM, et al. Fecal Microbiota Transplantation Is Superior to Fidaxomicin for Treatment of Recurrent Clostridium difficile Infection. *Gastroenterology*. 2019;156(5): 1324-1332.e3. https://doi.org/10.1053/J.GASTRO.2018.12.019.
- 163. Mullish BH, McDonald JAK, Pechlivanis A, Allegretti JR, Kao D, Barker GF, et al. Microbial bile salt hydrolases mediate the efficacy of faecal microbiota transplant in the treatment of recurrent Clostridioides difficile infection. *Gut*. 2019;68(10): 1791– 1800. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2018-317842.
- 164. Lee YJ, Arguello ES, Jenq RR, Littmann E, Kim GJ, Miller LC, et al. Protective Factors in the Intestinal Microbiome Against Clostridium difficile Infection in Recipients of Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*. 2017;215(7): 1117–1123. https://doi.org/10.1093/INFDIS/JIX011.
- 165. Danne C, Rolhion N, Sokol H. Recipient factors in faecal microbiota transplantation: one stool does not fit all. *Nature Reviews Gastroenterology & Hepatology 2021 18:7*. 2021;18(7): 503–513. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41575-021-00441-5.

- 166. Mullish BH, Quraishi MN, Segal JP, McCune VL, Baxter M, Marsden GL, et al. The use of faecal microbiota transplant as treatment for recurrent or refractory Clostridium difficile infection and other potential indications: Joint British Society of Gastroenterology (BSG) and Healthcare Infection Society (HIS) guidelines. *Gut*. 2018;67(11): 1920–1941. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2018-316818.
- 167. Youngster I, Sauk J, Pindar C, Wilson RG, Kaplan JL, Smith MB, et al. Fecal Microbiota Transplant for Relapsing Clostridium difficile Infection Using a Frozen Inoculum From Unrelated Donors: A Randomized, Open-Label, Controlled Pilot Study. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*. 2014;58(11): 1515–1522. https://doi.org/10.1093/CID/CIU135.
- 168. Cammarota G, Ianiro G, Kelly CR, Mullish BH, Allegretti JR, Kassam Z, et al. International consensus conference on stool banking for faecal microbiota transplantation in clinical practice. *Gut*. 2019;68(12): 2111–2121. https://doi.org/10.1136/GUTJNL-2019-319548.
- 169. Edelstein C, Daw JR, Kassam Z. Seeking safe stool: Canada needs a universal donor model. CMAJ. 2016;188(17–18): E431–E432. https://doi.org/10.1503/CMAJ.150672/-/DC1.
- 170. Lee CH, Steiner T, Petrof EO, Smieja M, Roscoe D, Nematallah A, et al. Frozen vs Fresh Fecal Microbiota Transplantation and Clinical Resolution of Diarrhea in Patients With Recurrent Clostridium difficile Infection: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA. 2016;315(2): 142–149. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMA.2015.18098.
- 171. Costello SP, Conlon MA, Vuaran MS, Roberts-Thomson IC, Andrews JM. Faecal microbiota transplant for recurrent Clostridium difficile infection using long-term frozen stool is effective: clinical efficacy and bacterial viability data. *Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics*. 2015;42(8): 1011–1018. https://doi.org/10.1111/APT.13366.
- 172. Ooijevaar RE, van Nood E, Goorhuis A, Terveer EM, van Prehn J, Verspaget HW, et al. Ten-Year Follow-Up of Patients Treated with Fecal Microbiota Transplantation

for Recurrent Clostridioides difficile Infection from a Randomized Controlled Trial and Review of the Literature. *Microorganisms*. 2021;9(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms9030548.

- 173. Kallus SJ, Brandt LJ. The intestinal microbiota and obesity. *Journal of Clinical Gastroenterology*. 2012;46(1): 16–24. https://doi.org/10.1097/MCG.0B013E31823711FD.
- 174. Mullish BH, Quraishi MN, Segal JP, McCune VL, Baxter M, Marsden GL, et al. The use of faecal microbiota transplant as treatment for recurrent or refractory Clostridium difficile infection and other potential indications: Joint British Society of Gastroenterology (BSG) and Healthcare Infection Society (HIS) guidelines. *Gut*. 2018;67(11): 1920–1941. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2018-316818.
- 175. Baunwall SMD, Terveer EM, Dahlerup JF, Erikstrup C, Arkkila P, Vehreschild MJ, et al. The use of Faecal Microbiota Transplantation (FMT) in Europe: A Europe-wide survey. *The Lancet Regional Health - Europe*. 2021; https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lanepe.2021.100181.
- 176. Lee CH, Belanger JE, Kassam Z, Smieja M, Higgins D, Broukhanski G, et al. The outcome and long-term follow-up of 94 patients with recurrent and refractory Clostridium difficile infection using single to multiple fecal microbiota transplantation via retention enema. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases*. 2014;33(8): 1425–1428. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10096-014-2088-9/TABLES/2.
- 177. Cheng YW, Phelps E, Ganapini V, Khan N, Ouyang F, Xu H, et al. Fecal microbiota transplantation for the treatment of recurrent and severe Clostridium difficile infection in solid organ transplant recipients: A multicenter experience. *American Journal of Transplantation*. 2019;19(2): 501–511. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.15058.
- 178. Kao D, Roach B, Silva M, Beck P, Rioux K, Kaplan GG, et al. Effect of Oral Capsule– vs Colonoscopy-Delivered Fecal Microbiota Transplantation on Recurrent Clostridium

difficile Infection: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA*. 2017;318(20): 1985–1993. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMA.2017.17077.

- 179. Staley C, Hamilton MJ, Vaughn BP, Graiziger CT, Newman KM, Kabage AJ, et al. Successful Resolution of Recurrent Clostridium difficile Infection using Freeze-Dried, Encapsulated Fecal Microbiota; Pragmatic Cohort Study. *The American journal of gastroenterology*. 2017;112(6): 940. https://doi.org/10.1038/AJG.2017.6.
- 180. Gulati AS, Nicholson MR, Khoruts A, Kahn SA. Fecal Microbiota Transplantation Across the Lifespan: Balancing Efficacy, Safety, and Innovation. *American Journal of Gastroenterology*. 2023;118(3): 435–439. https://doi.org/10.14309/AJG.00000000002167.
- 181. FDA. Fecal Microbiota for Transplantation: Safety Alert Risk of Serious Adverse Events Likely Due to Transmission of Pathogenic Organisms. Usfda. p. 1. https://www.fda.gov/safety/medical-product-safety-information/fecal-microbiotatransplantation-safety-alert-risk-serious-adverse-events-likely-due-transmission
- Zellmer C, Sater MRA, Huntley MH, Osman M, Olesen SW, Ramakrishna B. Shiga Toxin–Producing Escherichia coli Transmission via Fecal Microbiota Transplant. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*. 2021;72(11): e876–e880. https://doi.org/10.1093/CID/CIAA1486.
- 183. Hohmann EL, Ananthakrishnan AN, Deshpande V. Case 25-2014. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 2014;371(7): 668–675. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmcpc1400842.
- 184. Cheng YW, Phelps E, Ganapini V, Khan N, Ouyang F, Xu H, et al. Fecal microbiota transplantation for the treatment of recurrent and severe Clostridium difficile infection in solid organ transplant recipients: A multicenter experience. *American Journal of Transplantation*. 2019;19(2): 501–511. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.15058.
- 185. Mehta N, Wang T, Friedman-Moraco RJ, Carpentieri C, Mehta AK, Rouphael N, et al. Fecal Microbiota Transplantation Donor Screening Updates and Research Gaps for

Solid Organ Transplant Recipients. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*. 2021; JCM0016121. https://doi.org/10.1128/jcm.00161-21.

- 186. Khoruts A, Bajaj JS. Reply to: "You know my name, but not my story' Deciding on an accurate nomenclature for faecal microbiota transplantation": Intestinal microbiota transplantation: Naming a new paradigm. *Journal of Hepatology*. 2020;72(6): 1213–1214. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2020.02.014.
- 187. Craven LJ, McIlroy JR, Mullish BH, Marchesi JR. Letter: intestinal microbiota transfer updating the nomenclature to increase acceptability. Alimentary Pharmacology and Therapeutics. 2020. p. 1622–1623. https://doi.org/10.1111/apt.16109.
- 188. Khoruts A, Brandt LJ. Fecal Microbiota Transplant: A Rose by Any Other Name. Official journal of the American College of Gastroenterology | ACG. 2019;114(7). https://journals.lww.com/ajg/Fulltext/2019/07000/Fecal\_Microbiota\_Transplant\_\_A \_Rose\_by\_Any\_Other.28.aspx
- 189. Jouhten H, Mattila E, Arkkila P, Satokari R. Reduction of Antibiotic Resistance Genes in Intestinal Microbiota of Patients With Recurrent Clostridium difficile Infection After Fecal Microbiota Transplantation. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*. 2016;63(5): 710–711. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciw390.
- 190. Leung V, Vincent C, Edens TJ, Miller M, Manges AR. Antimicrobial Resistance Gene Acquisition and Depletion Following Fecal Microbiota Transplantation for Recurrent Clostridium difficile Infection. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*. 2018;66(3): 456–459. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/cix821.
- 191. Millan B, Park H, Hotte N, Mathieu O, Burguiere P, Tompkins TA, et al. Fecal Microbial Transplants Reduce Antibiotic-resistant Genes in Patients with Recurrent Clostridium difficile Infection. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*. 2016;62(12): 1479–1486. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciw185.
- 192. Moss EL, Falconer SB, Tkachenko E, Wang M, Systrom H, Mahabamunuge J, et al. Long-term taxonomic and functional divergence from donor bacterial strains

following fecal microbiota transplantation in immunocompromised patients. *PLoS ONE*. 2017;12(8): e0182585. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0182585.

- 193. Bajaj JS, Shamsaddini A, Fagan A, Sterling RK, Gavis E, Khoruts A, et al. Fecal Microbiota Transplant in Cirrhosis Reduces Gut Microbial Antibiotic Resistance Genes: Analysis of Two Trials. *Hepatology Communications*. 2021;5(2): 258–271. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep4.1639.
- 194. Saïdani N, Lagier JC, Cassir N, Million M, Baron S, Dubourg G, et al. Faecal microbiota transplantation shortens the colonisation period and allows re-entry of patients carrying carbapenamase-producing bacteria into medical care facilities. *International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents*. 2019;53(4): 355–361. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2018.11.014.
- 195. Davido B, Batista R, Michelon H, Lepainteur M, Bouchand F, Lepeule R, et al. Is faecal microbiota transplantation an option to eradicate highly drug-resistant enteric bacteria carriage? *Journal of Hospital Infection*. 2017;95(4): 433–437. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2017.02.001.
- 196. Huttner BD, de Lastours V, Wassenberg M, Maharshak N, Mauris A, Galperine T, et al. A 5-day course of oral antibiotics followed by faecal transplantation to eradicate carriage of multidrug-resistant Enterobacteriaceae: a randomized clinical trial. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*. 2019;25(7): 830–838. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2018.12.009.
- Aira A, Rubio E, Vergara Gómez A, Fehér C, Casals-Pascual C, González B, et al. rUTI Resolution After FMT for Clostridioides difficile Infection: A Case Report. *Infectious Diseases and Therapy*. 2021;10(2): 1065–1071. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40121-020-00365-8.
- 198. Baron SA, Cassir N, Mékidèche T, Mlaga KD, Brouqui P, Rolain JM. Successful treatment and digestive decolonisation of a patient with osteitis caused by a carbapenemase-producing Klebsiella pneumoniae isolate harbouring both NDM-1

and OXA-48 enzymes. *Journal of Global Antimicrobial Resistance*. 2019;18: 225–229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jgar.2019.06.001.

- 199. Battipaglia G, Malard F, Rubio MT, Ruggeri A, Mamez AC, Brissot E, et al. Fecal microbiota transplantation before or after allogeneic hematopoietic transplantation in patients with hematologic malignancies carrying multidrug-resistance bacteria. *Haematologica*. 2019;104(8): 1682–1688. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2018.198549.
- 200. Biliński J, Grzesiowski P, Muszyński J, Wróblewska M, Mądry K, Robak K, et al. Fecal Microbiota Transplantation Inhibits Multidrug-Resistant Gut Pathogens: Preliminary Report Performed in an Immunocompromised Host. *Archivum Immunologiae et Therapiae Experimentalis*. 2016;64(3): 255–258. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00005-016-0387-9.
- Crum-Cianflone NF, Sullivan E, Ballon-Landa G. Fecal microbiota transplantation and successful resolution of multidrug-resistant-organism colonization. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*. 2015;53(6): 1986–1989. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.00820-15.
- 202. Davido B, Batista R, Michelon H, Lepainteur M, Bouchand F, Lepeule R, et al. Is faecal microbiota transplantation an option to eradicate highly drug-resistant enteric bacteria carriage? *Journal of Hospital Infection*. 2017;95(4): 433–437. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2017.02.001.
- 203. Davido B, Batista R, Fessi H, Michelon H, Escaut L, Lawrence C, et al. Fecal microbiota transplantation to eradicate vancomycin-resistant enterococci colonization in case of an outbreak. *Medecine et Maladies Infectieuses*. 2019;49(3): 214–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.medmal.2018.11.002.
- 204. Dias C, Pipa S, Duarte-Ribeiro F, Mota M. Fecal microbiota transplantation as a potential way to eradicate multiresistant microorganisms. *IDCases*.
   2018;13(Complete). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.idcr.2018.e00432.

- 205. Dinh A, Fessi H, Duran C, Batista R, Michelon H, Bouchand F, et al. Clearance of carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae vs vancomycin-resistant enterococci carriage after faecal microbiota transplant: a prospective comparative study. *Journal* of Hospital Infection. 2018.: 481–486. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2018.02.018.
- 206. Eysenbach L, Allegretti JR, Aroniadis O, Brandt L, Donovan D, Fischer M, et al. Clearance of Vancomycin-Resistant Enterococcus Colonization With Fecal Microbiota Transplantation Among Patients With Recurrent Clostridium difficile Infection. *Open Forum Infectious Diseases*. 2016;3(suppl\_1). https://doi.org/10.1093/ofid/ofw172.1667.
- 207. Freedman A, Eppes S. 1805Use of Stool Transplant to Clear Fecal Colonization with Carbapenem-Resistant Enterobacteraciae (CRE): Proof of Concept. Open Forum Infectious Diseases. 2014;1(suppl\_1): S65–S65. https://doi.org/10.1093/ofid/ofu051.177.
- 208. García-Fernández S, Morosini MI, Cobo M, Foruny JR, López-Sanromán A, Cobo J, et al. Gut eradication of VIM-1 producing ST9 Klebsiella oxytoca after fecal microbiota transplantation for diarrhea caused by a Clostridium difficile hypervirulent R027 strain. *Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease*. 2016;86(4): 470–471. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diagmicrobio.2016.09.004.
- 209. Grosen AK, Povlsen JV, Lemming LE, Jørgensen SMD, Dahlerup JF, Hvas CL. Faecal Microbiota Transplantation Eradicated Extended-Spectrum Beta-Lactamase-Producing Klebsiella pneumoniae from a Renal Transplant Recipient with Recurrent Urinary Tract Infections. Case Reports in Nephrology and Dialysis. 2019. p. 102–107. https://doi.org/10.1159/000502336.
- 210. Innes AJ, Mullish BH, Fernando F, Adams G, Marchesi JR, Apperley JF, et al. Faecal microbiota transplant: A novel biological approach to extensively drug-resistant organism-related non-relapse mortality. *Bone Marrow Transplantation*. 2017;52(10): 1452–1454. https://doi.org/10.1038/bmt.2017.151.

- 211. Jang MO, An JH, Jung SI, Park KH. Refractory Clostridium difficile Infection Cured With Fecal Microbiota Transplantation in Vancomycin-Resistant Enterococcus Colonized Patient . *Intestinal Research*. 2015;13(1): 80. https://doi.org/10.5217/ir.2015.13.1.80.
- Lagier JC, Million M, Fournier PE, Brouqui P, Raoult D. Faecal microbiota transplantation for stool decolonization of OXA-48 carbapenemase-producing Klebsiella pneumoniae. *Journal of Hospital Infection*. 2015;90(2): 173–174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2015.02.013.
- 213. Lahtinen P, Mattila E, Anttila VJ, Tillonen J, Teittinen M, Nevalainen P, et al. Faecal microbiota transplantation in patients with Clostridium difficile and significant comorbidities as well as in patients with new indications: A case series. *World Journal of Gastroenterology*. 2017;23(39): 7174–7184. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v23.i39.7174.
- 214. Merli P, Putignani L, Ruggeri A, Del Chierico F, Gargiullo L, Galaverna F, et al. Decolonization of multi-drug resistant bacteria by fecal microbiota transplantation in five pediatric patients before allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: Gut microbiota profiling, infectious and clinical outcomes. *Haematologica*. 2020;105(11): 2686–2690. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2019.244210.
- Ponte A, Pinho R, Mota M. Fecal microbiota transplantation: Is there a role in the eradication of carbapenem-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae intestinal carriage?.
  Revista Espanola de Enfermedades Digestivas. 2017. p. 392–393. https://doi.org/10.17235/reed.2017.4425/2016.
- 216. Singh R, van Nood E, Nieuwdorp M, van Dam B, ten Berge IJM, Geerlings SE, et al. Donor feces infusion for eradication of Extended Spectrum beta-Lactamase producing Escherichia coli in a patient with end stage renal disease. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*. 2014;20(11): O977–O978. https://doi.org/10.1111/1469-0691.12683.
- 217. Singh R, De Groot PF, Geerlings SE, Hodiamont CJ, Belzer C, Berge IJMT, et al. Fecal microbiota transplantation against intestinal colonization by extended spectrum

beta-lactamase producing Enterobacteriaceae: A proof of principle study ISRCTN48328635 ISRCTN. *BMC Research Notes*. 2018;11(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13104-018-3293-x.

- Sohn KM, Cheon S, Kim YS. Can Fecal Microbiota Transplantation (FMT) Eradicate Fecal Colonization with Vancomycin-Resistant Enterococci (VRE)?. Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology. 2016. p. 1519–1521. https://doi.org/10.1017/ice.2016.229.
- 219. Stalenhoef JE, Terveer EM, Knetsch CW, van't Hof PJ, Vlasveld IN, Keller JJ, et al. Fecal microbiota transfer for multidrug-resistant gram-negatives: A clinical success combined with microbiological failure. *Open Forum Infectious Diseases*. 2017;4(2): ofx047. https://doi.org/10.1093/ofid/ofx047.
- 220. Stripling J, Kumar R, Baddley JW, Nellore A, Dixon P, Howard D, et al. Loss of vancomycin-resistant enterococcus fecal dominance in an organ transplant patient with Clostridium difficile colitis after fecal microbiota transplant. *Open Forum Infectious Diseases*. 2015;2(2): ofv078–ofv078. https://doi.org/10.1093/ofid/ofv078.
- 221. Wei Y, Gong J, Zhu W, Guo D, Gu L, Li N, et al. *Fecal microbiota transplantation restores dysbiosis in patients with methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus enterocolitis*. BMC Infectious Diseases. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-015-0973-1.
- 222. Ianiro G, Murri R, Sciumè GD, Impagnatiello M, Masucci L, Ford AC, et al. Incidence of bloodstream infections, length of hospital stay, and survival in patients with recurrent clostridioides difficile infection treated with fecal microbiota transplantation or antibiotics a prospective cohort study. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. 2019;171(10): 695–702. https://doi.org/10.7326/M18-3635.
- 223. Su F, Luo Y, Yu J, Shi J, Zhao Y, Yan M, et al. Tandem fecal microbiota transplantation cycles in an allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplant recipient targeting carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae colonization: a case report and literature

review. *European Journal of Medical Research*. 2021;26(1): 37. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40001-021-00508-8.

- 224. Biehl LM, Cruz Aguilar R, Farowski F, Hahn W, Nowag A, Wisplinghoff H, et al. Fecal microbiota transplantation in a kidney transplant recipient with recurrent urinary tract infection. *Infection*. 2018;46(6): 871–874. https://doi.org/10.1007/s15010-018-1190-9.
- 225. Hocquart M, Pham T, Kuete E, Tomei E, Lagier JC, Raoult D. Successful Fecal Microbiota Transplantation in a Patient Suffering from Irritable Bowel Syndrome and Recurrent Urinary Tract Infections. *Open Forum Infectious Diseases*. 2019;6(10). https://doi.org/10.1093/ofid/ofz398.
- 226. Ramos-Martínez A, Martínez-Ruiz R, Múñez-Rubio E, Valencia-Alijo A, Ferre-Aracil C, Vera-Mendoza MI. Effect of faecal microbiota transplantation on recurrent urinary tract infection in a patient with long-term suprapubic urinary catheter. *Journal of Hospital Infection*. 2020;105(2): 332–333. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2020.01.016.
- 227. Steed DB, Wang T, Raheja D, Waldman AD, Babiker A, Dhere T, et al. Gram-Negative Taxa and Antimicrobial Susceptibility after Fecal Microbiota Transplantation for Recurrent Clostridioides difficile Infection. *mSphere*. 2020;5(5). https://doi.org/10.1128/mSphere.00853-20.
- 228. Tariq R, Tosh PK, Pardi DS, Khanna S. Reduction in urinary tract infections in patients treated with fecal microbiota transplantation for recurrent Clostridioides difficile infection. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases*. 2023; https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-023-04635-4.
- 229. Wang T, Kraft CS, Woodworth MH, Dhere T, Eaton ME. Fecal microbiota transplant for refractory Clostridium difficile infection interrupts 25-year history of recurrent urinary tract infections. *Open Forum Infectious Diseases*. 2018;5(2). https://doi.org/10.1093/ofid/ofy016.

- 230. eucast: Clinical breakpoints and dosing of antibiotics.
   https://www.eucast.org/clinical\_breakpoints [Accessed 28th May 2023].
- 231. Boldt AC, Schwab F, Rohde AM, Kola A, Bui MT, Märtin N, et al. Admission prevalence of colonization with third-generation cephalosporin-resistant Enterobacteriaceae and subsequent infection rates in a German university hospital. *PLOS ONE*. 2018;13(8): e0201548-. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0201548
- 232. Baunwall SMD, Lee MM, Eriksen MK, Mullish BH, Marchesi JR, Dahlerup JF, et al. Faecal microbiota transplantation for recurrent <em>Clostridioides difficile</em> infection: An updated systematic review and meta-analysis. *eClinicalMedicine*. 2020;29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100642.
- 233. Keller JJ, Ooijevaar RE, Hvas CL, Terveer EM, Lieberknecht SC, Högenauer C, et al. A standardised model for stool banking for faecal microbiota transplantation: a consensus report from a multidisciplinary UEG working group. United European Gastroenterology Journal. 2021;9(2): 229–247. https://doi.org/10.1177/2050640620967898.
- 234. Terveer EM, van Beurden YH, Goorhuis A, Seegers JFML, Bauer MP, van Nood E, et al. How to: Establish and run a stool bank. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*.
  2017;23(12): 924–930. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2017.05.015.
- 235. Hohmann EL, Ananthakrishnan AN, Deshpande V. Case 25-2014. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 2014;371(7): 668–675. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmcpc1400842.
- 236. DeFilipp Z, Bloom PP, Torres Soto M, Mansour MK, Sater MRA, Huntley MH, et al. Drug-Resistant E. coli Bacteremia Transmitted by Fecal Microbiota Transplant . New England Journal of Medicine. 2019;381(21): 2043–2050. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa1910437.
- Zellmer C, Sater MRA, Huntley MH, Osman M, Olesen SW, Ramakrishna B. Shiga Toxin-Producing Escherichia coli Transmission via Fecal Microbiota Transplant. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*. 2021;72(11): E876–E880. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa1486.

- 238. Vendrik KEW, Terveer EM, Kuijper EJ, Nooij S, Boeije-Koppenol E, Sanders IMJG, et al. Periodic screening of donor faeces with a quarantine period to prevent transmission of multidrug-resistant organisms during faecal microbiota transplantation: a retrospective cohort study. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*. 2021;21(5): 711–721. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30473-4.
- 239. Zheng S, Fan J, Yu F, Feng B, Lou B, Zou Q, et al. Viral load dynamics and disease severity in patients infected with SARS-CoV-2 in Zhejiang province, China, January-March 2020: Retrospective cohort study. *The BMJ*. 2020;369: m1443. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m1443.
- 240. Ianiro G, Mullish BH, Kelly CR, Sokol H, Kassam Z, Ng SC, et al. Screening of faecal microbiota transplant donors during the COVID-19 outbreak: suggestions for urgent updates from an international expert panel. *The Lancet Gastroenterology & Hepatology*. 2020;5(5): 430–432. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-1253(20)30082-0.
- 241. Allegretti JR, Kao D, Sitko J, Fischer M, Kassam Z. Early Antibiotic Use after Fecal Microbiota Transplantation Increases Risk of Treatment Failure. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*. 2018;66(1): 134–135. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/cix684.
- 242. Taur Y, Jenq RR, Perales MA, Littmann ER, Morjaria S, Ling L, et al. The effects of intestinal tract bacterial diversity on mortality following allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Blood*. 2014;124(7): 1174–1182. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2014-02-554725.
- Tacconelli E, De Angelis G, Cataldo MA, Mantengoli E, Spanu T, Pan A, et al. Antibiotic usage and risk of colonization and infection with antibiotic-resistant bacteria: A hospital population-based study. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*.
   2009;53(10): 4264–4269. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00431-09.
- Tan GSE, Tay HL, Tan SH, Lee TH, Ng TM, Lye DC. Gut Microbiota Modulation: Implications for Infection Control and Antimicrobial Stewardship. *Advances in Therapy*. 2020;37(10): 4054–4067. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12325-020-01458-z.

- Baunwall SMD, Lee MM, Eriksen MK, Mullish BH, Marchesi JR, Dahlerup JF, et al. Faecal microbiota transplantation for recurrent Clostridioides difficile infection: An updated systematic review and meta-analysis. *EClinicalMedicine*. 2020;29–30: 100642. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECLINM.2020.100642.
- 246. Samet A, Śledzińska A, Krawczyk B, Hellmann A, Nowicki S, Kur J, et al. Leukemia and risk of recurrent Escherichia coli bacteremia: Genotyping implicates E. Coli translocation from the colon to the bloodstream. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases*. 2013;32(11): 1393–1400. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-013-1886-9.
- 247. Cattaneo C, Di Blasi R, Skert C, Candoni A, Martino B, Di Renzo N, et al. Bloodstream infections in haematological cancer patients colonized by multidrug-resistant bacteria. *Annals of Hematology*. 2018;97(9): 1717–1726. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00277-018-3341-6.
- 248. Tischendorf J, De Avila RA, Safdar N. Risk of infection following colonization with carbapenem-resistant Enterobactericeae: A systematic review. *American Journal of Infection Control*. 2016;44(5): 539–543. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AJIC.2015.12.005.
- 249. Taur Y, Pamer EG. The intestinal microbiota and susceptibility to infection in immunocompromised patients. *Current Opinion in Infectious Diseases*. 2013;26(4): 332–337. https://doi.org/10.1097/QCO.0b013e3283630dd3.
- 250. 16S Metagenomic Sequencing Library Preparation. https://support.illumina.com/documents/documentation/chemistry\_documentation/ 16s/16s-metagenomic-library-prep-guide-15044223-b.pdf
- 251. J KJ, L WS, T BN, K HS, D SP. Development of a Dual-Index Sequencing Strategy and Curation Pipeline for Analyzing Amplicon Sequence Data on the MiSeq Illumina Sequencing Platform. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. 2013;79(17): 5112– 5120. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01043-13.

- D SP, L WS, Thomas R, R HJ, Martin H, B HE, et al. Introducing mothur: Open-Source, Platform-Independent, Community-Supported Software for Describing and Comparing Microbial Communities. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*.
   2009;75(23): 7537–7541. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01541-09.
- 253. Qiong W, M GG, M TJ, R CJ. Naïve Bayesian Classifier for Rapid Assignment of rRNA Sequences into the New Bacterial Taxonomy. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. 2007;73(16): 5261–5267. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00062-07.
- 254. Stackebrandt E, Goebel BM. Taxonomic note: A place for DNA:DNA reassociation and 16s rRNA sequence analysis in the present spec. In: 1994. https://api.semanticscholar.org/CorpusID:6722686
- 255. Parks DH, Tyson GW, Hugenholtz P, Beiko RG. STAMP: statistical analysis of taxonomic and functional profiles. *Bioinformatics*. 2014;30(21): 3123–3124. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btu494.
- 256. Kembel SW, Cowan PD, Helmus MR, Cornwell WK, Morlon H, Ackerly DD, et al.
  Picante: R tools for integrating phylogenies and ecology. *Bioinformatics*. 2010;26(11): 1463–1464. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btq166.
- 257. Reichardt N, Duncan SH, Young P, Belenguer A, McWilliam Leitch C, Scott KP, et al. Phylogenetic distribution of three pathways for propionate production within the human gut microbiota. *The ISME Journal*. 2014;8(6): 1323–1335. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2014.14.
- 258. Caballero S, Carter R, Ke X, Sušac B, Leiner IM, Kim GJ, et al. Distinct but Spatially Overlapping Intestinal Niches for Vancomycin-Resistant Enterococcus faecium and Carbapenem-Resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae. *PLOS Pathogens*. 2015;11(9): e1005132-. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1005132
- 259. Ramos-Vivas J, Chapartegui-González I, Fernández-Martínez M, González-Rico C, Fortún J, Escudero R, et al. Biofilm formation by multidrug resistant

Enterobacteriaceae strains isolated from solid organ transplant recipients. *Scientific Reports*. 2019;9(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-45060-y.

- Aggarwala V, Mogno I, Li Z, Yang C, Britton GJ, Chen-Liaw A, et al. Precise quantification of bacterial strains after fecal microbiota transplantation delineates long-term engraftment and explains outcomes. *Nature Microbiology*. 2021;6(10): 1309–1318. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41564-021-00966-0.
- 261. Yip AYG, King OG, Omelchenko O, Kurkimat S, Horrocks V, Mostyn P, et al. Antibiotics promote intestinal growth of carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae by enriching nutrients and depleting microbial metabolites. *Nature Communications*. 2023;14(1): 5094. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-023-40872-z.
- 262. Byndloss MX, Olsan EE, Rivera-Chávez F, Tiffany CR, Cevallos SA, Lokken KL, et al. Microbiota-activated PPAR-γ signaling inhibits dysbiotic Enterobacteriaceae expansion. *Science*. 2017;357(6351): 570–575. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aam9949.
- 263. Sorbara MT, Dubin K, Littmann ER, Moody TU, Fontana E, Seok R, et al. Inhibiting antibiotic-resistant Enterobacteriaceae by microbiota-mediated intracellular acidification. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*. 2018;216(1): 84–98. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20181639.
- 264. Tan J, McKenzie C, Potamitis M, Thorburn AN, Mackay CR, Macia L. Chapter Three -The Role of Short-Chain Fatty Acids in Health and Disease. In: Alt FW (ed.) Advances in Immunology. Academic Press; 2014. p. 91–119. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-800100-4.00003-9.
- 265. Glauben R, Batra A, Fedke I, Zeitz M, Lehr HA, Leoni F, et al. Histone Hyperacetylation Is Associated with Amelioration of Experimental Colitis in Mice1. *The Journal of Immunology*. 2006;176(8): 5015–5022. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.176.8.5015.

- 266. Yip AYG, King OG, Omelchenko O, Kurkimat S, Horrocks V, Mostyn P, et al. Antibiotics promote intestinal growth of carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae by enriching nutrients and depleting microbial metabolites. *Nature Communications*. 2023;14(1): 5094. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-023-40872-z.
- 267. Jacobson A, Lam L, Rajendram M, Tamburini F, Honeycutt J, Pham T, et al. A Gut Commensal-Produced Metabolite Mediates Colonization Resistance to Salmonella Infection. *Cell Host & Microbe*. 2018;24(2): 296-307.e7. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2018.07.002.
- Park SY, Rao C, Coyte KZ, Kuziel GA, Zhang Y, Huang W, et al. Strain-level fitness in the gut microbiome is an emergent property of glycans and a single metabolite. *Cell*. 2022;185(3): 513-529.e21. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2022.01.002.
- 269. Hughes ER, Winter MG, Duerkop BA, Spiga L, Furtado de Carvalho T, Zhu W, et al. Microbial Respiration and Formate Oxidation as Metabolic Signatures of Inflammation-Associated Dysbiosis. *Cell Host and Microbe*. 2017;21(2): 208–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2017.01.005.
- 270. G WM, R HE, K MM, G JA, B CR, Luisella S, et al. Formate oxidation in the intestinal mucus layer enhances fitness of Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium. *mBio*. 2023;14(4): e00921-23. https://doi.org/10.1128/mbio.00921-23.
- 271. Sonnier DI, Bailey SR, Schuster RM, Lentsch AB, Pritts TA. TNF-α Induces Vectorial Secretion of IL-8 in Caco-2 Cells. *Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery*. 2010;14(10): 1592–1599. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11605-010-1321-9.
- 272. Wigg AJ, Roberts-Thomson IC, Dymock RB, McCarthy PJ, Grose RH, Cummins AG. The role of small intestinal bacterial overgrowth, intestinal permeability, endotoxaemia, and tumour necrosis factor α in the pathogenesis of non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. *Gut.* 2001;48(2): 206. https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.48.2.206.

- 273. Shalon D, Culver RN, Grembi JA, Folz J, Treit P V, Shi H, et al. Profiling the human intestinal environment under physiological conditions. *Nature*. 2023;617(7961): 581–591. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-023-05989-7.
- 274. Riva A, Gray EH, Azarian S, Zamalloa A, McPhail MJW, Vincent RP, et al. Faecal cytokine profiling as a marker of intestinal inflammation in acutely decompensated cirrhosis. JHEP reports : innovation in hepatology. 2020;2(6): 100151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhepr.2020.100151.
- 275. Fasano A. Zonulin and Its Regulation of Intestinal Barrier Function: The Biological Door to Inflammation, Autoimmunity, and Cancer. *Physiological Reviews*. 2011;91(1): 151–175. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00003.2008.

## Appendices

## Appendix 1: Permissions Table

Pa ge No.	Typ e of wor k:	Name of work	Source of work	Copyright holder and contact	permiss ion request ed on	I have permissi on. yes /no	Permission note
53	figu re	Figure. 1. A schemati c model for omics approach es to study the gut microbio me	Whon, T.W., Shin, NR., Kim, J.Y. et al. Omics in gut microbiome analysis. J Microbiol. 59, 292–297 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007 /s12275-021-1004-0	© 2023 Springer Nature Switzerland AG. Part of Springer Nature. journalpermissions@springer nature.com	14.05.2 023	yes	License Number 554762061 4761
35	Tabl e	Table 1. Classifica tion of b- lactamas es	Wilson H, Török ME. Extended-spectrum β- lactamase-producing and carbapenemase- producing Enterobacteriaceae. Microbial Genomics. 2018;4(7): e000197– e000197.	© 2023 Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. support@copyright.com	18.10.2 023	yes	Order number 1408044-1.

## Appendix 2: IMT stool donor selection for rCDI

## Donors:

. Family, friends, or close contacts

-Absolute contraindications:

- $\leq 18$  years or  $\geq 50$  years.
- BMI ≥ 30 kg/m2.
- Receipt of antimicrobials within the past three months.

• Known prior exposure to HIV and/ or viral hepatitis and known previous or latent tuberculosis.

• Risk factors for blood-borne viruses - including high risk sexual behaviours, use of illicit drugs, any tattoo/ body piercing/ needlestick injury/ blood transfusion/ acupuncture, all within the previous six months.

• Receipt of a live attenuated virus within the past six months.

• Underlying gastrointestinal conditions/ symptoms (e.g., history of IBD, IBS, chronic diarrhoea, chronic constipation, coeliac disease, bowel resection or bariatric surgery) - also including acute diarrhoea/ gastrointestinal symptoms within the past two weeks.

• Family history of any significant gastrointestinal conditions (e.g., family history of IBD, or colorectal cancer).

- History of atopy (e.g., asthma, eosinophilic disorders).
- Any systemic autoimmune conditions.
- Any metabolic conditions, including diabetes and obesity.
- Any neurological or psychiatric conditions or known risk of prion disease.
• History of chronic pain syndromes, including chronic fatigue syndrome and fibromyalgia.

• History of any malignancy.

• Taking particular regular medications, or such medications within the past three months, i.e., antimicrobials, proton pump inhibitors, immunosuppression, chemotherapy

• History of receiving growth hormone, insulin from cows, or clotting factor concentrates.

- History of receiving an experimental medicine or vaccine within the past six months.
- History of travel to tropical countries within the past six months.

### **Relative contraindications:**

• Donors will be asked for allergies, including food allergies. Donors with food allergies will be asked to strictly avoid any trigger foods for five days prior to donation of faecal material.

• Potential donors with food allergies will still be consented to undergo blood/ stool assays to fully assess their eligibility as donors and will be allowed to join the donor register if there are no further exclusion criteria. However, at the time of transplantation, their faecal material from donors with no relative contraindications will be used in preference to those who have food allergies.

# Appendix 3: Preparation and administration of IMT

#### Preparation of donor faecal material

Faecal material will be in the first instance passed into a clean closed plastic container. Only samples between 3 and 5 on the Bristol stool chart scale will be accepted as suitable potential transplant material. From here, faecal material will be immediately transported on ice into the laboratory.

• Staff involved in preparing the transplant will use universal precautions as appropriate throughout, e.g., a fluid-resistant gown, gloves, and a mask with goggles or eye shield.

• Material will first be weighed.

• 50g aliquots of faeces will be mixed with 250ml of sterile, non-bacteriostatic phosphate-buffered saline (PBS)/ normal saline. Material will then be homogenised and strained.

• The strained material will be centrifuged at 6000xg for 20 minutes in a rotor and washed in PBS/ normal saline.

• The resulting concentrated faecal bacteria suspension will be amended with sterile pharmacological grade glycerol to a final concentration of 10% and will then be stored frozen at -80°C until used.

• The material will be prepared with only a code number on and there will be no information (e.g., name) from which the donor may be identifiable.

# Preparation of the IMT

• The frozen material that is chosen for the IMT will be selected by a clinician preparing the IMT and involved with the clinical team caring for the patient.

• The frozen material for the IMT will be thawed on the day of the procedure over 2-4 hours in an ice bath, starting from approximately 2-4 hours prior to the expected time of administration of the IMT.

• The preparation will be put into enteral syringes and transported to the ward for administration to the patient.

# Administration of IMT

• Relevant antibiotics will be stopped at least 24 hours prior to IMT.

• The day before the transplant, patients will have prescribed bowel lavage with four litres of macrogol electrolyte solution (Klean-Prep), either orally or via nasogastric (NG) tube.

• If the patient does not have one already, they will have a NG tube inserted on the day before the transplant (or other enteric tube as appropriate, e.g., NJ tube). Placement will be checked by conventional means, in keeping with Trust protocol. Patients with functional PEG/PEG-J tubes may receive IMT via these.

• Patients will be fasted for six hours prior to the administration of the IMT (medications will be allowed with sips of water).

• Patients will be given 30mg lansoprazole fast-tabs po/ng daily (or equivalent PPI) from two days prior to the IMT, with the final dose on the morning of the treatment. They will also be given 10mg metoclopromide approximately two hours prior to the procedure.

• The IMT will be infused via enteric syringes attached to the NG tube (or other route of administration as appropriate) using universal precautions. The rate will be slowed, and antiemetics will be administered if patients describe nausea. Patients will be allowed sips of fluid during the procedure for comfort.

• The tube will be flushed with at least 50ml of water after infusing the IMT. Recipients will stay nil by mouth for twenty minutes, and the NG tube (or other enteric tube) will then be removed if appropriate (assuming no other indication for NG tube, such as feeding). If there are no concerns from the clinician administering IMT, recipients will be allowed water only for forty minutes more and will be allowed to eat and drink as normal.